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Corporate Profile

The Company was incorporated on 2 November 
1999. It listed on SESDAQ on 8 August 2000 and was 
transferred from the SGX Catalist to Mainboard on 26 
February 2013.

The Company changed its name from China 
Entertainment Sports Ltd to Chasen Holdings Limited 
on 17 May 2007 following the completion of the reverse 
takeover exercise on 12 February 2007 whereby the 
Company acquired the entire issued and paid up capital 
of Chasen Logistics Services Limited. As a result of 
the reverse takeover, the Company acquired a new 
core business in specialist relocation solutions for the 
manufacturing industries that utilize sophisticated 
machineries and equipment.

Chasen is an investment holding company. Its Group 
businesses now extend further up the supply chain to 
include third party logistics, technical and engineering 
services in Singapore, Malaysia, People’s Republic 
of China, Vietnam and Timor-Leste. The Group 
diversified revenue sources cover industries such 
as wafer fabrication, TFT display panel production, 
semi-conductor, chip testing & assembly, solar panel 
assembly, consumer electronics, telecommunications, 
marine, ordnance and construction sectors in the 
following business segments:

•	 Specialist Relocation Solutions - providing specialist 
manpower equipped with specialized material 
handling tools, equipment and vehicles to relocate 
the machinery and equipment of our customers 
within their premises, from one location to another 
location within a country, or from one country to 
another. The Chasen Group acts as a strategic 

partner to its customers in the management of 
their global relocation needs through projects or 
maintenance contracts. The Group is equipped to 
handle very sensitive machinery and equipment in 
cleanroom and “raised floor” environment.

•	 Third Party Logistics – including packing, 
packaging, trucking, distribution, freight forwarding, 
warehousing and related services. We pack 
machinery and equipment to OEM (Original 
Equipment Manufacturer) specifications utilizing 
specialized packaging material before they are 
transported to their new locations. Our warehouses 
are air conditioned and humidity-controlled, with 
floor level space for heavy equipment/machinery or 
racked for palletized goods storage.

•	 Technical & Engineering – covering design, 
fabrication and installation of steel structures, 
mechanical and electrical installations including 
hook-up for production facilities, parts 
refurbishment, engineering and spares support, 
facilities management, scaffolding equipment and 
services, contract manufacturing, water treatment 
and process engineering services. 

The Group’s diversified revenue base and long-standing 
customer relationship provide a strong fundamental that 
would enable the Group to weather business cycles 
in specific industry. Its business model and growth 
strategy have positioned the Group to benefit from 
growth opportunities in the region and to increase the 
proportion of recurring income in Group revenue.

SpecialiSt 
Relocation 
SolutionS

thiRd paRty 
logiSticS 
SeRviceS

technical & 
engineeRing 
SeRviceS

What We do
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LOW WENG FATT
Managing Director and CEO

Report to Shareholders

“The Group continues its 
transition from a turnkey 
relocation specialist into an 
integrated service provider 
in the establishment of new 
manufacturing facilities outside 
the home country of our 
customers. ”

Dear Shareholders,

FY2013 has truly been a year of ups and downs. Chasen 
celebrated the most significant event of the year when we 
were transferred from Catalist to the Mainboard of SGX. The 
Group further extended our service capability with our maiden 
purified water and waste water treatment project in China. 

The Group’s solid track record of winning contracts and 
steady approach to grow our various business segments have 
helped us come through relatively unscathed in  a challenging 
global environment, even though this was ultimately tempered 
by the Group’s first full year bottomline loss resulting from 
an arbitration settlement with a customer. This was further 
aggravated by the change in accounting treatment to 
expensing off marketing costs prior to receipt of revenue from 
projects secured through those marketing expenses and 
certain provision in assets value.  

The experience of the past year would serve the Group well 
and we are confident that our fortunes would be revived as 
seen from the success in projects secured as announced by 
the Group since the last quarter of FY2013. We are committed 
to enhancing our foothold in the region by capitalizing on the 
growth opportunities especially in newly emerging economies 
of Timor-Leste and Myanmar and we look forward to 
your continued support in our journey as we advance with 
optimism! 

Our growth strategy and evolving business model
 
The Group continues its transition from a turnkey relocation 
specialist into an integrated service provider in the 
establishment of new manufacturing facilities outside the 
home country of our customers. 

In 2007, Chasen was listed as a provider of Specialist 
Relocation Solutions with annual revenue of $16 million. Our 
business growth strategy was to move up the supply chain 
by acquiring capability in Third Party Logistics Services and 
Technical & Engineering capabilities to complement our 
Specialist Relocation business. It had resulted in the annual 
Group revenue grossing nearly $100 million in FY2012 and the 
cumulative profit growth in excess of 30% annually since our 
listing, derived from diversified revenue sources that enabled 
the Group to successfully weather cyclical industry downturns.

The evolution into an integrated service provider business 
model is spearheaded by the Specialist Relocation business 
segment with its global service capability and regional market 
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Report to Shareholders

would ultimately impact the company’s performance positively 
as well as enable management succession.

Through a generous SPRING grant, Chasen appointed Hay 
Group as the consultant in helping us to execute this HR 
Harmonization Project.  In compliance with the terms and 
conditions of the SPRING grant, the project covered only 
the eight Singapore operating subsidiaries across the three 
business segments of the Group.

The project aims to achieve the following objectives for the 
Singapore operations: 

•	 Leadership team aligned and engaged to bring Chasen 
Group in the desired direction.

•	 Clear articulation of the Group’s human capital strategy 
to support its business strategy in order to achieve its 
corporate vision.

•	 Designing robust human capital structures to provide 
alignment to strategy and alignment within the Group’s 
Singapore strategic business units (SBU).

•	 Putting in place the right performance management 
systems to enable and reward higher performance at the 
Group’s Singapore operations.

•	 Putting in place the appropriate training and HR tools 
to help standardize activities for greater efficiency in 
management and harmonization across the various 
Singapore-based operating subsidiaries or SBUs.

The project kicked-off in mid-November 2012 and is expected 
to be completed by end August 2013.  Among the key 
deliverables would be a standardized employee handbook, 
which would serve as the basis and guide or SOP (Standard 
Operating Procedures) in the implementation of the Group HR 
policies and practices. 

Another component is the harmonization of the different jobs/
positions across all subsidiaries through a job grading system 
that is benchmarked across the different industries. This 
would provide Management with a clearer view on how and 
where to emplace the right people in critical jobs with the right 
compensation and benefits. At the same time, Management 
would be better equipped with a macro view in the talent 
management of our human capital.  As part of the project, 
all HR personnel and heads of subsidiaries would be trained 
and sufficiently equipped with the necessary skills so as to 
assist them to understand the complexity of HR functions 
and how to manage their respective human capital, the key to 
enhancing their operational productivity.

Upon completion of the Singapore project, a similar exercise 
would be undertaken at the overseas subsidiaries replicating 
the appropriate HR policies and practices subject to local 
employment regulations and market competition to achieve 
similar objectives in recruiting and retaining the desired human 
talent in each country where the Group operates.

Financial Performance

The Group achieved revenue of S$79.4 million in FY2013, 
a decline of 20% compared to FY2012 due mainly to a 
58% reduction in revenue contribution from the Relocation 
business segment as compared to the last financial year. The 

leadership. We have strong track records with leading 
multinational product manufacturers and Original Equipment 
Manufacturers (OEM) with our ability to relocate their equipment 
to as far away as Puerto Rico and the Czech Republic from our 
Asian base as well as from the US to Malaysia. Each operating 
subsidiary in the other business segments would aim to be 
substantial players in their respective industry in order to 
position themselves as preferred vendors in a combined 
Group turnkey project capability.

Two subsidiaries in the Technical & Engineering business 
segment established themselves as regional players during 
the financial year reported on when Hup Lian Engineering 
secured two residential construction projects in Malaysia 
worth a total of RM54.6 million (SGD21.9 million). Global 
Technology Synergy, our waste-water treatment specialist 
secured its maiden water treatment project in Jilin province, 
China. Jilin province is a water catchment area situated along 
the Songhua River Basin, the third largest river basin in China 
and one of the best possible locales for Chasen to embark on 
this new service offering. It would result in substantial increase 
in recurring revenue to the Group in the new financial year 
achieving one of our goals to enlarge the share of recurring 
revenue to total revenue of the Group.

This new service capability further extend our well diversified 
revenue source to include local government and industrial 
estate occupants to our current customer base of clients in the 
electronics sectors of thin-film transistor liquid crystal display 
(“TFT LCD”), wafer fabrication, semi-conductor and consumer 
electronics, telecommunications, renewable energy, oil & gas, 
facility maintenance, marine and construction industries.

As Chasen continues to expand its scope of business, it 
would derive greater operational efficiencies by consolidating 
our operations into one large facility. To this end, we are still 
looking for the opportunity to realize our plans to secure a 
facility which will allow us to house the bulk of our operations 
under one roof. 

Human Capital

Since our listing in 2007, Chasen has grown rapidly and is on 
track to achieve even greater success. To sustain our growth 
momentum, we will need to strengthen our Group Human 
Resource framework.  A strong HR framework will allow us 
to compete for quality talent in the economies we operate in 
to be able to better compete on the global stage. Chasen’s 
rapid growth was fueled by acquisitions, joint ventures as well 
as startups. As a result we inherited a variety of HR practices 
prevalent in different industries that these companies operate 
in. 

To harmonize and strengthen the HR framework within the 
Group, the Company appointed a leading multinational HR 
consultancy to undertake this challenging HR project, which 
would provide us with the opportunity to align ourselves with 
sound, effective and competitive HR policies and practices 
Group-wide that is consistent with our status as a publicly 
listed local SME. The harmonizing of HR policies and applying 
best practices across all subsidiaries will enable the Group to 
manage and deploy our human resources more efficiently. A 
more engaged workforce that is cohesive and highly motivated 
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decline in gross profit was in line with the decline in revenue 
but the Group’s net loss was mainly due to other operating 
expenses being significantly higher than the previous year. 
These were mainly due to the write-off of trade debts of $1.0 
million and a further $5.1 million following the settlement of 
a trade dispute through arbitration as well as a provision 
for write-off of other debts of $2.0 million. However, after 
recording its first bottomline loss as a Group this financial year, 
we are pleased to report that several major relocation projects 
in the People’s Republic of China (PRC) would be coming on 
line in FY2014. Since early 2013, the Group has made several 
announcements of contracts awarded or Purchase Orders 
received for such projects by its subsidiaries in this business 
segment. The Group expects that the remaining projects for 
which commencement was held back in 2012 would also 
come on stream this year.  

Prospects and Outlook

Chasen continues to be affected by uncertainties in the 
global macroeconomic environment and these have 
resulted in some project delays on the customers’ end for 
our Relocation services business. The prospects for the 
Technical & Engineering business in Singapore and PRC are 
also bright with a few million dollar deals expected.  However, 
we expect most of these projects to come on stream in latter 
part of FY2014. The challenging business conditions will also 
continue to add pressure on pricing and margins but as a 
Group, we constantly look for ways to grow the business and 
increase shareholders’ value. Notwithstanding the challenging 
economic conditions, there are still growth opportunities in 
each business segment to enable us to grow and diversify 
our revenue base further, in particular the newly emerging 
economies such as Timor-Leste and Myanmar. 

There are also acquisition opportunities within the supply 
chain to achieve our corporate growth objective to provide an 
integrated service to our multinational customer base.

Investor Relations

The Group remains dedicated to improving communications 
with stakeholders through a series of investor friendly 
measures, with the aim of achieving greater corporate 
transparency, better awareness and enhanced brand equity.

We have announced our financial results well within 45 days 
and 60 days for our quarterly and annual results respectively. 
Results briefings were arranged on a regular basis where the 
Group’s key management shared with investors and market 
analysts the Group’s corporate updates, financial review and 
their views on market outlook. 

Chasen also participates actively in media interviews and 
supplements by mainstream media like Straits Times, Lianhe 
Zaobao, Business Times and The Edge, as well as online 
media portals like NextInsight.

Chasen’s Board of Directors engage and update shareholders 
at the Annual General Meeting by encouraging robust 
discussions during the meeting.

Dividend

Despite our first bottomline loss, the Board intends to 
continue its dividend payment as a reward to shareholders for 
their loyalty and support. The proposed dividend is subject to 
the approval of our shareholders during the upcoming Annual 
General Meeting and shareholders would be informed in the 
Notice of Meeting.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Group, I would also like to take this opportunity 
to thank our clients, advisors, suppliers and business 
associates who have contributed to the Group in FY2013 and 
I look forward to many more years of working alongside you. 

To our valued shareholders, I would like to convey my 
sincerest appreciation for your continued support in our 
Group, especially in FY2013 when we suffered our first 
bottomline loss. We will work even harder to ensure that your 
patience and support is reflected in our upcoming financial 
performance. 

I am also grateful to the dedication of our staff and Board of 
Directors without which the Group would not have come this 
far is such a short time.

Low Weng Fatt
Managing Director and CEO
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Milestones

1995
•	 Chasen Logistics Services began business as a partnership 

operating from its office in Wallich Street

1996
•	 Moved to 18 Jalan Besut @ Jurong as a result of business 

expansion
•	 Awarded first machinery and equipment relocation project

1998
•	 Awarded first wafer fabrication in-house machinery mover 

contract

1999
•	 Incorporated as Chasen Logistics Services Pte Ltd (“CLSPL”)

2000
•	 CLSPL awarded first complete new wafer fabrication facility 

inbound project

2001
•	 CLSPL awarded relocation project for the first TFT LCD display 

panel manufacturing plant in Singapore
•	 CLSPL awarded first turnkey project consolidating several 

manufacturing facilities of customer to one location in Singapore.
•	 CLSPL certified ISO 9001 for Quality Management System

2002
•	 CLSPL awarded first chip testing assembly in-house machinery 

mover and packing contract

2003
•	 CLSPL business operations expanded to include the provision 

of specialized packing and crating services

2004
•	 Set-up overseas operations in PRC through Chasen (Shanghai) 

Hi-Tech Machinery Services Pte Ltd (“Chasen Hi-Tech”)
•	 Chasen Hi-Tech awarded first turnkey relocation project from 

Singapore to PRC
•	 CLSPL certified ISO 14001 for Environmental Management and 

OHSAS 18001 for Occupational Health and Safety Management 
System

•	 Chasen Hi-Tech awarded equipment move-in project for  first 
and second TFT LCD panel manufacturing plants in Beijing and 
Shanghai, PRC

 
2005
•	 Chasen Hi-Tech awarded equipment move-in project for the 

third TFT LCD panel manufacturing plant in Kunshan, PRC 

2006
•	 CLSPL certified ISO 14001 for Environmental Management and 

OHSAS 18001 for Occupational Health and Safety Management 
System

•	 Chasen Hi-Tech awarded equipment move-in project for  first 
and second TFT LCD panel manufacturing plants in Beijing and 
Shanghai, PRC

2007
•	 Chasen Holdings Limited (“CHL”) listed on SGX-SESDAQ 

(now known as Catalist) via a reverse acquisition of China 
Entertainment Sports Ltd

2008
•	 Business operations expanded to include services to the 

high growth marine and construction industries through the 
acquisition of the Goh Kwang Heng Group (“GKH”) and Hup 
Lian Engineering Pte Ltd (“HLE”)

•	 Chasen Logistics Services Limited (“CLSL”) completed a major 
equipment conversion project for a wafer fabrication facility in 
Singapore

•	 CLSG expanded air-conditioned  warehouse facility  in Jurong 
Logistics Hub

•	 Extended 3PL operations in Malaysia through acquisition of 
City Zone Express Sdn Bhd “(CZE”) and incorporation of DNKH 
Logistics Pte Ltd in Singapore 

•	 CHL completed share consolidation of every 100 ordinary 
shares into one consolidated share 

2009
•	 Chasen Hi-Tech awarded first project to move-in a solar 

manufacturing facility in PRC and completed Phase 2 of move-
in project TFT LCD plant in Kunshan 

•	 HLE secured contracts to provide  design and fabrication of 
steel works for the Sentosa Integrated Resort and Norway’s 
Renewable Energy Corporation’s (“REC”) largest solar panel 
manufacturing complex in Tuas

•	 GKH Scaffolding Pte Ltd was awarded contract to erect 
scaffolding at REC plant in Singapore

•	 Extended specialist relocation business to the cultural relics 
industry in the PRC through the incorporation of Chasen 
Sinology (Beijing) Logistics Co., Ltd (“Chasen Sinology”)

•	 CLSL was awarded rigging job for REC hook-up project
•	 Group established footprint in Vietnam with setting-up of 

Chasen Transport Logistics Co., Ltd (“CTL”) in Ho Chi Minh City
•	 CTL awarded a move-in project with an American IT 

manufacturing plant
•	 CLSL awarded bizSAFE STAR by WHSC

2010
•	 Chasen Hi-Tech secured relocation projects in PRC with value 

estimated at RMB27.1m (S$5.5mil)
•	 CLSL/CLSB awarded relocation project of a printer 

manufacturing plant from Boise, USA to Johor, Malaysia
•	 Established HLE International for foreign venture in PRC 
•	 Acquisition of “green” companies, Global Technology Synergy 

Pte Ltd  (“GTS”) and Towards Green Sdn Bhd (“TG”)

2011
•	 GTS was awarded engineering project management contract 

by an international oil major company in Port Dickson, Malaysia
•	 Chasen Hi-Tech awarded first major Korean project to relocate a 

OLED (organic light-emitting diode) production line from Busan, 
South Korea to Shanwei, Guangdong Province, PRC 

•	 GTS secured first S$5 million contract to design and build Class 
100K and Class 10K cleanrooms 

•	 CHL was awarded the Certificate of Excellence in “Best Investor 
Relations by a SGX-Catalist Company” at the IR Magazine 
South East Asia Awards 2011

2012
•	 Chasen Group achieves record historical high revenue of 

SGD99 million since listing (in 2007)
•	 CHL recognized as one of the World’s Top 1000 Fastest Growing 

Public Companies in 2011 by the International Business Times 
(announced in January 2012)

•	 KL-based engineering subsidiary, HLE Construction & 
Engineering Sdn Bhd (“HLEC&E) was awarded first government 
co-operative housing project to build 90 units of two-storey 
terrace houses in Shah Alam, Selangor 

•	 Group’s Technical & Engineering company, Eons Global Water 
(JL) Co., Ltd (EGW-JL)  secured an operating concession for a 
Transfer-Operate-Transfer project to manage a city government-
owned purified water treatment plant and a waste water 
treatment plant for a 30-year period in Jilin, PRC  

2013
•	 CHL transferred from Catalist to the Main Board of the SGX-ST 

on 26 February 
•	 Chasen Sinology secured first major digital documentation of 

precious ornaments/artifacts project worth RMB16.5 million 
(SGD3.3 mil) for Ordos and Hubei museums 

•	 CTL was awarded first major move-in cum installation project 
valued at USD880,000 (SGD1.1 mil) for a Japanese tyre 
manufacturer in Hai Phong, Vietnam

•	 Chasen Hi-Tech secured four relocation projects with total value 
at RMB62.6 million (SGD12.7 mil) for TFT LCD manufacturers in 
Beijing, Hefei, Shenzhen and Xiamen

•	 HLEC&E secured its first private developer construction project 
valued at RM31 million (SGD12.5 mil) to build 82 three-storey 
terrace and semi-detached houses in Klang, Selangor
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Financial Highlights
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Financial Highlights
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Chasen started FY2013 with early warning indicators from our 
customers to expect a slowdown in orders during the year 
as the worldwide economic slump was affecting primarily the 
electronic market.  This economic sector forms the bulk of our 
customer base for the Relocation business segment.

Despite the general economic slowdown, the momentum of 
the previous financial year when the Group registered a record 
high revenue of just below S$100 million helped  the other 
business segments within the Chasen Group to keep an even 
keel, with some companies in the Technical & Engineering 
business segment registering revenue growth this financial 
year.

fabrication plant to be built in Singapore in the near future.  
However, CLSG was able to sustain its operation through 
recurring job orders with existing semi-conductor customers 
it has been serving since they were set-up more than 10 years 
ago. 

At the same time, CLSG has aggressively and successfully 
penetrated into other manufacturing sectors such as 
pharmaceutical and the oil & gas industries through the 
provision of its relocation and warehousing services.  The two 
pharmaceutical giants, MSD (Merck Sharp & Dohme) Pharma 
and Novartis, count as two of our new job sites in FY2013. 

In the year under review, CLSG also expanded its relocation 
portfolio to include installation services for A&A (Additions & 
Alterations) projects in Singapore. For this, CLSG made steady 
progress in the dis-assembly, move-out and installation of 
escalators and travelators in many commercial developments 
including Plaza Singapura, Shaw Centre, SOTA, Mustafa 
Department Store (new wing), Chinatown Point, The Heeren, 
One Fullerton, Marina Bay Financial Centre, Marina Bay 
Suites, Icon @ Changi Road and The Plaza @ Beach Road.

Over in Vietnam, our fledgling Chasen Transport Logistics 
(“CTL”) had secured its first billion Vietnamese Dong (equivalent 
to S$1.1 million)  relocation (move-in) project for a Japanese 
tyre manufacturer since its inception in 2010.  The six-month 
Bridgestone project is located in the port city of Hai Phong 
in the north, and includes CTL providing technical hook-
up services to the customer to value-add to its relocation 
services.  In its Ho Chi Minh City branch, CTL had also set-up 
a crating manufacturing facility.  Crating is a complementary 
service to relocation where we build customized crates for 
our customers’ machinery and equipment after de-installation 
and packing them for relocation out to another country.  In 
this regard, CTL had secured a sizeable project fabricating 
more than 120 crates (or the volume equivalent to 1850cm3) 
comprising large and odd sizes for a Japanese instant 
noodles manufacturer, Nissin Foods, located in the Vietnam-
Singapore Industrial Park 2.

With the slowdown in the semi-conductor and solar panel 
manufacturing sectors, our relocation subsidiary in Malaysia, 
Penang-based Chasen Logistics Sdn Bhd (“CLSB”) had also 
penetrated into other manufacturing sectors in search of new 
revenue source. As a result, CLSB successfully clinched 
relocation projects for a molding machine manufacturing plant 
in Penang and a rice production factory in Alor Setar in Kedah.  
It also offered complementary engineering and technical 
services in a turnkey solution to its customers.  During the 
year under review, CLSB  secured projects that included 
the installation of electrical panels as an additional service 
to its rigging (move-in) services. These projects involved the 
deployment of its turnkey service team outside of Penang to 
Lumut in Perak and Iskandar region in Johor. 

Operations Overview

specialist Relocation solutions Business 
segment

In the year under review (FY2013), the original business 
of Chasen, that is, the Specialist Relocation Solutions 
experienced a substantial reduction in the number of projects 
as customers withheld the installation of new production 
equipment at existing or expanded manufacturing facilities.  
Our Shanghai-based subsidiary, Chasen (Shanghai) Hi-Tech 
Machinery Services (“Hi-Tech”), which had in recent years 
been a top performer, was not able to continue with its strong 
order book due to its customers slowing down the expansion 
of their manufacturing capacity as a result of the weak demand 
for their products from US and Europe.  The anticipated move 
of the manufacturing plants from the coastal region of China 
to further inland where production costs are lower also did 
not materialize.  Though quiet for the most part of the year, 
Hi-Tech managed to land a major relocation project valued 
at RMB48 million (S$9.6 million) towards the end of FY2013. 

In Singapore, where Chasen Logistics Services (“CLSG”) is 
the leading provider of specialist relocation solutions, this 
subsidiary also experienced a substantial drop in the demand 
for its services due to the weak demand in the semi-conductor 
sector.  Neither does this industry expect any new wafer 
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Technical & Engineering Business segment

In the year under review, the Technical & Engineering business 
segment did well in tandem with the construction industry 
in Singapore. Structural engineering specialist, Hup Lian 
Engineering (“HLE”) entered into a conditional shareholders 
agreement with a Malaysian partner, Sinomedia Sdn Bhd 
to establish a company, HLE Construction & Engineering 
Sdn Bhd (“HLEC&E”) as the major shareholder. Besides 
being successful in their tenders for several smaller scale 
construction projects, HLEC&E secured its major building 
project for a government co-operative to build terrace houses 
in Shah Alam. They are on track to secure another major 
project for a private developer building three-storey terrace 
and semi-detached houses in Klang, which would commence 
only in the new financial year (FY2014). Both projects have a 
total value of RM54.6 million (S$21.9 million). In Singapore, HLE 
and another technical subsidiary, REI Technologies (“REI”) had 
clinched several projects in commercial developments and a 
few government infrastructure projects with a combined total 
of approximately S$4 million.

The Group’s other Technical & Engineering subsidiaries 
also had their fair share of project wins. Global Technology 
Synergy (“GTS”) wholly-owned investment holding company, 
Eons Global Holdings Pte Ltd (“EGH”), secured an operating 
concession for a Transfer-Operate-Transfer (“T-O-T”) project 
to manage a city government-owned purified water treatment 
plant and a waste water treatment plant for a 30-year period 
in Jilin City, PRC. GTS had also secured another S$4.8 
million project to design and build Class 100K and Class 10K 
cleanrooms with related ancillary facilities.

REI Promax Technologies (“Promax”), another operating 
subsidiary under this business segment also secured a 
series of fabrication orders for ordnance, semi-conductor and 
camera components valued at S$0.9 million with a Singapore-
based ordnance manufacturer.

Chasen Sinology (Beijing) Logistics Co. Ltd (“Sinology”) used 
to be grouped under the Specialist Relocation Solutions 

segment until 2010 when it decided to specialize in digital 
3D-image documentation of historical artifacts for China’s 
voluminous collection of ancient artifacts and historical relics.  
Now operating under Chasen Sino-Sin (Beijing) Hi-Tech 
Services Pte Ltd (“SINO-SIN”) following an internal corporate 
restructuring, this subsidiary also developed the capability to 
special-pack the priceless relics with laser cutting technology 
on the packing materials. 

Since its inception, this business has been developing its 
new “green” capability and taken on several relics digitization 
projects for the Inner Mongolia provincial government in 
the image documentation of the  relics showcasing their 
rich Mongolian heritage.  Sino-Sin was involved in a relics-
exhibition project jointly organized by Business China, 
Singapore’s National Library and the Inner Mongolian 
government in October 2012 in Singapore. Through this 
exhibition, Sino-Sin was able to showcase its 3D digitisation 
software capabilities.  Through publicity and participation 
in such culture-related seminars and exhibitions, Sino-Sin 
gained greater credibility with China’s Ministry of Culture.  For 
its patience and relentless efforts in venturing into this new 
field, Sino-Sin was rewarded when it won two projects in the 
digital documentation of precious ornaments/artifacts for 
Ordos  and Hubei museums with a combined project value 
of RMB16.5 million (S$3.3 million) in the last quarter of the 
financial year under review. 

In another significant development under this business 
segment, REI broke new ground with its venture into a new 
market in Timor-Leste, a newly emerging economy recovering 
from war that gained them their independence from Indonesia 
some 11 years ago. A massive rebuilding of its destroyed 
infrastructure is underway financed by its new found oil 
wealth and development aid from developed economies and 
international financial institutions such as the World Bank and 
Asian Development Bank. A representative office, REI (TL) 
Construction & Engineering Pty, Lda (“REI-TL”), was set-up to 
source for business to provide construction and engineering 
services in Timor-Leste and after due diligence, the Company 
embarked on an equipment rental and a construction project 
financing scheme as its initial business in this new market.   
REI-TL’s first projects in Timor-Leste are civil engineering 
projects in forest clearing cum road construction. 

Operations Overview
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Operations Overview

Third Party Logistics Business segment

Of the Group’s three divisions, Third Party Logistics or 3PL 
performance was relatively consistent as the operating 
subsidiaries in this business segment thrived in line with the 
national economic trend in Singapore.  Both 3PL subsidiaries, 
DNKH Logistics (“DNKH”) and Penang-based City Zone 
Express Sdn Bhd (“CZE”) in fact increased their revenue 
derived from rental of warehousing space in Singapore and 
Malaysia respectively to offset declining revenue from the 
trucking operations. DNKH operated a larger warehouse in 
the Tuas vicinity increasing their capacity from 20,000 square 
feet to 120,000 square feet. Both operations reported a 90%  
capacity utilization by their long term customers, assuring the 
Group substantial recurring revenue for the year.  

CZE managed to maintain its sure footing in their 3PL business 
in Malaysia despite strong competition from other industry 
players fighting for market share in a reducing market. It’s 
main forte is in the provision of long haul cross-country and 
cross-border transportation for its customers’ goods with 
its large fleet of 85 differently configured transport vehicles.  
CZE ranks among the largest cross-border trucking service 
provider in Malaysia. As a value-add service to its customers, 
CZE has added on a satellite warehouse facility in Shah Alam 
in Selangor (apart from its existing facility in Penang), to serve 
as a transiting cum distribution location for goods coming via 
the Subang Airport and Port Klang. 

CZE shall be complementing its present service portfolio 
with the inclusion of ferrying of dangerous cargo (DG) in 
the new financial year.  This is a niche service, which only 
a few transport operators are able to get a license from the 
authorities in Malaysia.  Fleet-wise, CZE is also looking at 
expanding its fleet with new hauliers and prime movers so 
that its long-haul and cross-border operations would increase 
its operational efficiency and not be adversely affected by 
breakdowns.

Conclusion

Overall, in FY2013, the operating subsidiaries reported  a 
substantial decrease in revenue by 20% to S$79.4 million 
from nearly S$100 million in FY2012. This was mainly due to 
the 58% reduction in revenue contribution from the Specialist 
Relocation division as compared to last financial year.  In 

the last three quarters, there were only a few projects in 
the relocation of machinery and equipment into new and 
expanded plant capacities in the PRC and Singapore. 

Revenue from the Third Party Logistics business segment 
recorded a  marginal drop to S$21.4 million from S$21.9 million 
in the last financial year due to slower economic activities.

However, revenue from the Technical & Engineering business 
segment increased by S$7.9 million to $40.5 million in FY2013 
from S$32.6 million in FY2012 due to their success in securing 
projects in Malaysia and Singapore.

Fy2012 Fy2013

40.5

32.6

21.9

21.4

17.5

44.5

S$99.0m

S$79.4m

Despite the drop in the overall performance as a result of 
the slowdown in the economies of the developed world, the 
Chasen Group will face the challenges ahead with proactive 
business development plans to sharpen the competitive 
edge of its current portfolio of services in our three business 
segments. As announced publicly since the start of the new 
financial year the Specialist Relocation business segment 
has the brightest prospects to record greater success in 
securing new business as projects in which commencement 
were delayed last year come on stream, and other projects 
scheduled for the new financial year are executed.  

In the pipeline is a cleanroom equipment refurbishment facility 
for a key global original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”), 
in which the success we believe could provide us with the 
advantage in offering other OEMs in Singapore such a  similar 
facility to service the equipment and machine tools  used 
by the semi-conductor and wafer fabrication manufacturing 
plants in Singapore and the region. In a related development, 
our Shanghai subsidiary, Hi-Tech has also been appointed as 
the agent for a Korean manufacturer of cleanroom equipment 
and related tools for the China market.

CLSG is spearheading a potential venture together with 
Promax and DNKH to tap the new emerging Myanmar 
economy. The team has made a fact-finding cum business 
networking visit to this new market and we are anticipating 
follow-ups  in the new financial year. 

Moving forward, we remain hopeful in the growth of the local 
and global economies and the Chasen Group will advance 
with optimism in staying competitive and unleashing the 
potential of our operating subsidiaries to achieve our targeted 
growth in the coming years. 
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Corporate Structure
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Mr Low Weng Fatt, the Managing Director and CEO of the Group, was appointed to the Board 
of Chasen Holdings Limited since 2007. He was instrumental in ensuring the success of the 
reverse acquisition of China Entertainment Sports Ltd, which led to the listing of the Chasen Group 
on SESDAQ (now known as Catalist) and transferred to the Mainboard in February 2013.  As 
Managing Director and CEO, Mr Low is responsible for establishing the strategic growth direction 
for the Group, providing leadership to ensure success of the Group’s operation in the region and 
continues to identify new business opportunities for the Group.

Mr Low joined Chasen Logistics Services as a Project Manager in 1996. He was responsible 
for project management, operational and technical support, service consultation and after-sales 
support. He recognized and identified the growth potential of the specialist relocation business in 
his early years with the Company and focused on the development and growth of this niche logistics 
business. He gradually built up the Group’s operational capability, strengthened its efficiency 
and management in Third Party Logistics services and complementary Technical & Engineering 
businesses.

Mr Low successfully replicated the business success of the Singapore operations when in late 
2003, the Group commenced operations in PRC; in Malaysia in 2005 and in Vietnam in 2009.  
PRC and Malaysia now contribute substantial revenue to be classified as a distinct geographical 
segment.  The regional success resulted in the Group achieving a historical high revenue of almost 
S$100 million in the financial year ended 31 March 2012. This is an impressive accomplishment 
when compared to the S$16 million revenue the Group recorded when it listed in 2007.

Mr Low intends to continue extending the Group’s services to other geographical markets as 
well as the scope of the business segments and to grow the Group’s bottom line through greater 
operational efficiency.

Low Weng Fatt
Managing Director and CEO

Mr Siah Boon Hock, the Executive Director of the Group, was appointed to the Board of Chasen 
Holdings Limited since 2007. Besides assisting the Managing Director and CEO in strategic planning 
and following up new business opportunities, he was also appointed the Managing Director for Hup 
Lian Engineering Pte Ltd and Global Technology Synergy Pte Ltd.

Mr Siah as Executive Director has direct responsibility for the business success and growth of the 
abovenamed operating subsidiaries with the head of these subsidiaries reporting directly to him. He 
is also responsible for evaluating and securing Board approval, establishment of legal framework 
and successful execution of major projects in the Technical & Engineering business segment that 
require specific project funding and resources procured through the parent company that is over 
and above the normal working capital of the subsidiary involved in the project.

Mr Siah brings with him over 15 years of experience in sales and marketing, which include being 
a regional sales manager responsible for the sales and market development of supply chain 
management solutions to personal computer OEMs with internationally recognized brands such as 
Apple, IBM, Compaq (now known as Hewlett Packard) in Asia.  Prior to joining Chasen, Mr Siah was 
a director with Ascomp Cyberware International Pte Ltd from 2000 to 2001, where he managed the 
sales development of the trading company.

Siah Boon Hock
Executive Director 

Board of Directors
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Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap, a Non-Executive Director of the Group, was appointed to the 
Board of Chasen Holdings Limited since 2007. He founded the business in 1995 and managed the 
Group’s business until 2001 when he retired from active business management but remains a Non-
Executive Director of the Group. His involvement in the industry since the early 60s brings along 
with him substantial experiences especially in the business of labour supply, transportation as well 
as warehousing operations.  As a Non-Executive Director, Mr Yap acts as an advisor to the Group 
and continues to provide business network and market contacts to the Group and its subsidiaries.

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap
Non-Executive Director

Mr Tan Sin Huat Dennis was appointed as an Independent Director of Chasen Holdings Limited 
on 31 July 2009.  He holds directorship in a few listed companies in Singapore and he possesses 
experience in listed companies that have businesses in manufacturing, oil and gas, logistics and 
supply chain, hotel services, and wind and solar renewable energy. 

Mr Tan holds a MBA degree from the Nanyang Technological University, Singapore; a Bachelor 
of Arts degree from the National University of Singapore; and postgraduate certificates in 
Organizational Leadership from the Civil Service Institute, Singapore and Executive Coaching from 
Lancaster University Management School, United Kingdom, respectively.

tan Sin Huat Dennis
Independent Director

Mr Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) was appointed as a Lead Independent Director of Chasen 
Holdings Limited on 6 February 2007. He has been the Principal Consultant of Chadway Management 
Service Pte Ltd since 1982. He is responsible for providing operational management, planning and 
executing growth strategies, merger and acquisitions activities and corporate finance services to 
companies in Singapore and the region, including the PRC. He also advises on business growth 
and globalization strategies, capital market and corporate governance issues and is an active 
capital market intermediary matching capital (from institutions, public and private equity funds) with 
business (including publicly listed companies).  He also provides advisory services for companies in 
their public listing via an IPO or RTO on regional stock exchanges.

 Mr Ng is also active in various societies and institutions, being a member of the Singapore Institute 
of Directors and a Fellow of the Singapore Human Resource Institute. He had served as District 
Governor for Singapore of Lions Clubs International from 2002 to 2003.

Mr Ng is also sitting on the Boards of Greater Bendigo Gold Mines Limited, WAG Limited and 
Richfield International Limited, all listed on ASX (Australian Securities Exchange).

Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (eric)
Lead Independent Director

Board of Directors
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chew choy Seng
Chief Financial Officer

Mr Chew Choy Seng was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of Chasen Holdings Limited on 
5 April 2010. He is responsible for the Group’s overall financial management, internal controls and 
compliance requirements of the Group. He is also responsible for developing and improving the 
efficiency of the Group’s financial reporting system and financial resources to fund the Group’s 
expanding business operations. Mr Chew has over 30 years of experience in diversified industries 
and has held various senior positions in German MNCs like Siemens, Peiniger and Westfalia. He is 
an Associate Member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, UK and the Institute 
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, UK and Institute of Certified Public Accountants of 
Singapore.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr Chew was the Group General Manager, Chief Financial Officer and 
Company Secretary of Compact Metal, a company listed on the SGX.

Yap Beng Geok Dorothy
Administration Manager

Ms Yap Beng Geok Dorothy is the Administration Manager of Chasen Holdings Limited and an 
Alternate Director to Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap, Non-Executive Director. She is responsible 
for the day-to-day administrative workflow, human resource management and the general 
administration of the Group businesses in Singapore and Malaysia. She also provides support 
to other regional operations whenever required. She provided invaluable assistance during the 
reverse listing of the Chasen Group and continues to be the main liaison with professional advisors 
in corporate activities of the Company in its continuing listing obligations. Ms Yap joined Chasen 
Logistics Services in 1995 and over the past 18 years she has been with the Group, she has 
acquired indepth knowledge of many aspects of the Group’s business, including its operation 
and administration. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Yap worked as an Administrative Officer with 
a Japanese multinational in Singapore. She is the daughter of Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap, a 
Controlling Shareholder of the Group.

Executive Officers
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DixzyQuo Nurman
General Manager (Regional)
Chasen Logistics Services Limited (“CLSG”)
Chasen Logistics Sdn Bhd (“CLSB”)
Chasen Transport Logistics Co., Ltd (“CTL”)

Mr DixzyQuo Nurman is the General Manager (Regional) in charge 
of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Specialist Relocation Solution 
business segment in Singapore, Malaysia and Vietnam. He was 
appointed as a director in several subsidiaries in Singapore and 
Malaysia.

Mr DixzyQuo joined Chasen Logistics Singapore in 2000 as 
a Business Planning Manager, responsible for planning and 
coordinating the business processes, preparing sales reports and 
market analysis. He was promoted as General Manager of Singapore 
in 2004 to his current position in 2009 to oversee operation, sales 
and marketing for the Specialist Relocation business, warehousing 
management services and after-sales support for local and MNC 
companies in Singapore, Malaysia and Vietnam.  Mr DixzyQuo 
was responsible for the execution of turnkey relocation projects for 
major international manufacturing companies where machinery and 
equipment from plants in Singapore and Malaysia were relocated to 
the Czech Republic, and those from USA and Europe to PRC and 
Malaysia.

Mr DixzyQuo assist the Managing Director and CEO to source and 
assess opportunities to expand the Relocation and 3PL business 
for the Group. He is a suma cum laude graduate from the Bandung 
Institute of Technology, Indonesia where he graduated with a 
Bachelor of Science (Industrial Engineering) degree, majoring in 
Economics Engineering.

Cheong Tuck Nang
General Manager
Chasen (Shanghai) Hi-Tech Machinery Services Pte Ltd (“HTS”)
Chasen Logistics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (“CLSJ”)

Mr Cheong Tuck Nang is the General Manager and the legal 
representative of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries in the Specialist 
Relocation business segment. He is responsible for the overall 
management, sales and marketing, and project execution in 
the People’s Republic of China, specializing in the relocation of 
sophisticated equipment into the PRC for MNC and local companies.

Mr Cheong has been with the Chasen Group since the partnership 
days of Chasen Logistics Services and he brings with him more than 
20 years of experience in the logistics, warehousing management 
and Specialist Relocation business. He was a pioneer in the setting 
up of the Group’s PRC operation and is responsible for securing and 
execution of major large-scale relocation projects that resulted in the 
Group’s record revenue of RMB100 million in FY2012.

yeo seck Cheong
General Manager
Chasen Sino-Sin (Beijing) Hi Tech Services Pte Ltd (“SINO-SIN”)
Chasen Sinology (Beijing) Co., Ltd (“SINOLOGY”)

Mr Yeo Seck Cheong is the General Manager and the legal 
representative of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries in the relics digitization 
business. He is responsible for the general management, sales and 
marketing of the artefact digitization, packaging and transportation 
for both domestic and international art exhibitions and cultural 
exchanges in the PRC market.  Mr Yeo joined Chasen Logistics in 
2000 as a Project Manager responsible for executing relocation 
projects. Having been in the logistics and relocation industry for 
more than 15 years, Mr Yeo successfully transferred this experience 
to the PRC when he set up the relocation business operations for the 
Group in the PRC. He currently assists the Group Managing Director 
and CEO in identifying and developing growth opportunities for the 
Group in the PRC.

Chiang Mun Hoe Alvin
General Manager
REI (TL) Construction & Engineering Pty, Lda (“REI-TL”)

Mr Chiang Mun Hoe Alvin is currently the General Manager of 
the Group’s subsidiary in Timor Leste.  He is responsible for the 
establishment, operation and growth of the business in this newly 
emerging economy. The Group’s initial investment in Timor-Leste 
is in rental of construction equipment to companies involved in 
infrastructural projects and in financing the construction of roads.

Mr Chiang joined the Group in May 2006 to set up REI Technologies 
Pte Ltd (“REI”) to provide equipment repair, maintenance and related 
technical services to complement the Group’s specialist relocation 
solution business. Subsequently, facility management was included 
as a business of REI when Mr Chiang secured a facility management 
contract with a MNC in Singapore where REI was granted Certified 
Vendor status.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr Chiang was with a SGX-listed technology 
company, Ellipsiz Ltd, where he oversaw operations, regional 
market growth, business development as well as co-ordinated 
public and investor relations for the company. He was also with 
TECH Semiconductor (S) Pte Ltd where his responsibilities covered 
production / material planning and control, equipment maintenance, 
special device / technology conversion projects and procurement.

Mr Chiang holds a Diploma in Mechanical Engineering from the 
Singapore Polytechnic and a graduate of the University of Oklahoma, 
USA with a Bachelor of Science (Mechanical Engineering) degree.

Liew yit shin
General Manager
REI Technologies Pte Ltd (“REI”)
REI Hitech Sdn Bhd (“REI Hitech”)

Mr Liew Yit Shin is the General Manager of the Group’s subsidiaries, 
REI and REI Hitech. He is responsible for steering the growth of the 
business, successful execution of its service operations and strategic 
planning for the Singapore and Malaysian business units under his 
charge.

Mr Liew joined the Group in 2006.  He was part of the team that set 
up REI Hitech to provide equipment repair, maintenance and related 
technical services to complement the Group’s relocation logistics 
business.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr Liew worked with a SGX-listed 
technology company, Ellipsiz Ltd, where he was in charge of sales 
and support for semiconductor (used) equipment and parts. He was 
also formerly with TECH Semiconductor (S) Pte Ltd and First Silicon 
in Kuching where he served as Senior Engineer and a Principle 
Engineer respectively.

Mr Liew holds a Bachelor of Technology (Electronics Engineering),  
from National University of Singapore.

Lim Wui Liat
Executive Director
Liten Logistics Services Pte Ltd (“LLS”)
Liten Holdings Pte Ltd (“LH”)

Mr Lim Wui Liat is the Executive Director of the Group’s subsidiaries, 
Liten Logistics Services and Liten Holdings since April 2011. He is 
responsible for overall management, sales & operations for the 
entities under his charge.

Mr Lim brings with him more than 20 years of experience in 
general logistics such as transportation, moving services for heavy 
machineries, general warehousing, freight forwarding and packing 
and crating of machineries for the manufacturing and construction 
industries. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Lim was a major shareholder 
of the Liten companies.

Mr Lim continues to facilitate complementary capabilities to extend 
the scope of logistics services for the Group in the region.

Head of Business Units
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Lim Jit sing Jackson
General Manager
Goh Kwang Heng Pte Ltd (“GKH”)
Goh Kwang Heng Scaffolding Pte Ltd (“GKHS”)

Mr Lim Jit Sing Jackson is the General Manager of the Group’s 
subsidiaries in the scaffolding business, the Goh Kwang Heng 
companies. He is responsible for the overall management, sales 
and operations and growth of both companies under his charge. Mr 
Lim joined Liten soon after completing his National Service, where 
he was responsible for sales, operations and administration in the 
(Liten) companies. He has more than 10 years of experience in the 
specialist relocation solutions, general logistics, freight forwarding, 
packing and crating of machineries for MNC customers. With his 
good project management skills, he continues to lead and grow the 
specialist scaffolding business for the Group in the region.

Mr Lim holds a Diploma in Manufacturing Engineering from the 
Singapore Polytechnic.

Cheng Chee Chai
Executive Director
Hup Lian Engineering Pte Ltd (“HLE”)
HLE International Pte Ltd (“HLEI”)

Mr Cheng Chee Chai is the Executive Director of the Group’s 
subsidiaries in the engineering business segment in the region. 
He is also a minority shareholder of HLE. Mr Cheng is responsible 
for engineering, design, project management and operational 
capability of the group of companies under his charge. He assists 
the Managing Director of HLE Group in strategic planning, marketing 
and development, and the company’s expansion into the regional 
markets.

Mr Cheng has over 20 years of experience in the construction 
industry. Prior to joining HLE, he was a Project Manager with Kay Lim 
Construction & Trading Pte Ltd. He was also an Engineer with Jurong 
Town Corporation, Tuffi Coatings Pte Ltd and CH & Associates 
Consulting Engineers from 1988-1994 where he planned, supervised, 
coordinated and managed design of various construction works.

Mr Cheng graduated with a Bachelor of Civil Engineering and attained 
his Masters of Science (Civil Engineering) from the National University 
of Singapore in 1993.  Mr Cheng is a certified Professional Engineer, a 
Member of the Institute of Engineers Singapore (MIES) and a Member 
of American Society of Civil Engineers (MASCE).

Hein ke Long
Executive Director
REI Promax Technologies Pte Ltd (“PROMAX”)
Suzhou Promax Communication Technology Co., Ltd (“SZPMX”)

Mr Hein Ke Long is the Executive Director of the Group’s subsidiaries 
in the contract manufacturing business in Singapore and the PRC. 
He is also a minority shareholder of PROMAX where he is responsible 
for the operational success and growth of the precision machining 
business. PROMAX is in the business of providing solutions such 
as prototype, machining, precision engineering and machining for 
components such as moulds, jigs and fixtures, mechanical sub-
assemblies, design and fabrication of special purpose machines and 
reverse engineering.

Mr Hein oversees the sales and marketing of the Group’s service 
capability for both factories in Singapore and Suzhou.  He has 
more than 20 years of experience in the precision engineering 
manufacturing industry.

Lim Chor Ghee
Executive Director
Global Technology Synergy Pte Ltd (“GTS”)
Towards Green Sdn Bhd (“TG”)

Mr Lim Chor Ghee is the Executive Director of the Group’s 
subsidiaries, GTS and TG. He is responsible for strategic planning, 
overall management, operations and profitability of the entities under 
his charge. Mr Lim has more than 15 years of experience in project 
management in the construction industry. He is also familiar with 
the operations, design and system start-up for ultrapure deionize 
water, acid/caustic scrubber, VOC abatement system, wastewater 
reclamation, wastewater treatment facilities and system. Mr Lim 
has managed projects, design, lead, production and quality control, 
establishing and executing work plans and construction management 
for MNCs both in Singapore and Malaysia. He also oversee the 
marketing and development of the entities business, extending the 
Group’s presence in new markets for the technical and engineering 
business segment.

Mr Lim holds a Bachelor in Chemical Engineering degree from the 
National Taiwan University, Taiwan.

Heng khim soon
General Manager
DNKH Logistics Pte Ltd (“DNKH”)

Mr Heng Khim Soon is the General Manager of the Group’s Singapore 
subsidiary in Third Party Logistics, DNKH. He is also its minority 
shareholder.
 
He is responsible for management and growth of the business of the 
entity under his charge. He brings with him a wealth of experience 
accumulated over the past 20 years in the freight forwarding and third 
party logistics business in overseeing marketing and operations of the 
business. Mr Heng is tasked with the challenges to ensure the Group 
logistics services, such are freight, warehousing, transportation and 
distribution are competitive particularly, the air and sea shipment 
rates to/fro Singapore and within the region. He also provides the 
other business units within the Group with value-added services to 
complement their services to customers who require supply chain 
services in third party logistics. Under the helm of Mr Heng, DNKH 
currently operate a fleet of more than 20 trucks of varying capacities 
and more than a hundred field operation personnel in the distribution 
and warehousing business. This capability assists the Group to 
strengthen its global network in the freight industry.

s. Pirithivaraj selvarajoo
Executive Director
City Zone Express Sdn Bhd (“CZE”)

Mr S. Pirithivaraj Selvarajoo is the Executive Director of the Group’s 
Malaysian 3PL subsidiary, CZE. He is also a minority shareholder of 
CZE.  He is responsible for the overall management and growth of the 
entity under his charge. CZE provides freight forwarding, warehousing, 
transportation, customs brokerage and other logistics supply chain 
services, operating out of Penang. He oversees the operation of a 
sizeable truck fleet comprising some 85 units, which are deployed for 
daily interstate long and short haul overland transportation between 
Singapore, Peninsular Malaysia and Thailand.

Mr Raj continues to work on strengthening CZE’s cross-border 
logistics service to enhance the Group’s revenue base. He also 
assists the Group in identifying business opportunities to grow the 
Group’s business in Malaysia.

Head of Business Units
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The Board of Directors of Chasen Holdings Limited (the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, 

the “Group”) is committed to setting in place corporate governance practices which are in line with the 

recommendations of the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (the “Code”) to provide the structure 

through which protection of the interests of its shareholders, stakeholders and investing public is met. This 

report sets out the Company’s corporate governance practices for the year ended 31 March 2013 with specifi c 

reference made to each principle of the Code.

Note: The Code continues to apply to annual reports relating to fi nancial years commencing before 1 November 

2012.

BOARD MATTERS

Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Principle 1: Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. 
The Board is collectively responsible for the success of the company. The Board works with 
Management to achieve this and the Management remains accountable to the Board.

The Board’s primary role is to protect and enhance long-term shareholders’ values and returns. The Board meets 

quarterly and as warranted by particular circumstances, as deemed appropriate by the members of the Board. 

The principal functions of the Board include, amongst other things, the following:-

– providing entrepreneurial leadership, setting strategic directions, overseeing management effectiveness and 

ensuring proper conduct of the Group’s business;

– providing the overall strategy of the Group;

– establishing a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and 

managed;

– reviewing management performance;

– sets the Company’s values and standards, and ensures that obligations to shareholders and other 

stakeholders are understood and met; and

– assumes the responsibilities of corporate governance framework of the Group. 

To assist the Board in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board is supported by three Board committees, 

namely the Nominating Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee. Each Board 

committee has its own defi ned terms of reference. All Board committees are headed by Independent Directors.

As an added control mechanism, the Company has identifi ed the following areas for which the Board’s approval 

must be sought:-

– Approval of quarterly and full-year results announcements for release to the Singapore Exchange Securities 

Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”);

– Approval of the annual reports and audited fi nancial statements;

– Convening of shareholders’ meetings;

– Approval of corporate strategies;

– Approval of material acquisitions and disposal of assets; and

– Approval of major investment and funding decisions.
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Formal Board meetings are held at least four times a year to approve the quarterly results announcement 

and to oversee the business affairs of the Group. The Board is free to seek clarifi cation and information from 

Management on all matters within their purview. Ad-hoc meetings are convened when the circumstances require. 

In the course of the fi nancial year under review, as at the date of this report, the number of Board and Board 

committee meetings held and attended by each Board member is set out as follows:

Names of Directors Board
Audit

Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

Low Weng Fatt 4 4 4* 4* 1 1 1* 1

Siah Boon Hock 4 4 4* 4* 1* 1* 1* 1

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap 4 4 4 4 1* 1* 1 1

Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1

Tan Sin Huat Dennis 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1

Yap Beng Geok Dorothy(1) 4 4 4 4 1* 1* 1 1

(1) Alternate Director to Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap

* By Invitation

The Company’s Articles of Association provide for the Directors to participate in Board and Board committee 

meetings by means of telephonic conference or in such manner as the Board may determine. 

The Board has in place an orientation and training programme for newly appointed Directors in order to familiarize 

them with the Group’s business operations, strategic directions, directors’ duties and responsibilities and 

corporate governance practices. Upon appointment of a new Director, a formal letter setting out his duties and 

responsibilities will be provided. The Directors are encouraged to attend seminars and receive training to improve 

themselves in the discharge of directors’ duties and responsibilities. The Directors are also kept abreast of any 

developments which are relevant to the Group and any developments of relevant new laws and regulations.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise 
objective judgement on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual 
or small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

The Board consists of six members, the majority of whom are non-executive including two who are Independent 

Directors:-

Executive Directors
Low Weng Fatt (Managing Director and CEO)

Siah Boon Hock

Non-Executive Director
Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap

Yap Beng Geok Dorothy, Alternate Director to Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap

Independent Directors
Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric)

Tan Sin Huat Dennis
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The Board considers a Director independent if he has no relationship with the Company, its related companies 

or its offi cers that could interfere or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s 

independent business judgement in the best interest of the Company. 

The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee in accordance with the 

Code’s defi nition of independence.  Each Director is required to complete a ‘Confi rmation of Independence’ 

form to confi rm his independence. The said form, which was drawn up based on the defi nitions and guidelines 

set forth in Guideline 2.1 in the Code and the Guidebook for Audit Committees in Singapore issued by Audit 

Committee Guidance Committee (“Guidebook”) in October 2008, requires each Director to assess whether he 

considers himself independent despite not having any of the relationships identifi ed in the Code. 

The Nominating Committee has reviewed the forms completed by each Director and is satisfi ed that at least one-

third of the Board comprises Independent Directors. 

The composition of the Board is reviewed at least annually by the Nominating Committee. The Nominating 

Committee is of the view that the Board comprises Directors who have the appropriate mix of diversity, expertise 

and experience, and collectively possess the necessary core competencies for effective functioning and informed 

decision-making.

The Board takes into account the scope and nature of the Company’s operations and is of the opinion that the 

size is ideal to facilitate effective deliberations and decision making of the Board. The Non-Executive Directors 

would constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy and would review performance of 

Management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitoring the reporting of performance. The Company 

will continue to review its Board composition with a view to enhance corporate governance practices taking into 

account the Code of Corporate Governance 2012.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the working 
of the Board and the executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will ensure a balance 
of power and authority, such that no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.

During the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013, Low Weng Fatt being the Managing Director and CEO of the 

Company, has executive responsibilities for the Group’s businesses. Responsibilities for the workings of the Board 

are jointly held by Low Weng Fatt and the Lead Independent Director Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) to ensure 

that procedures are introduced to comply with the Code.

In line with corporate governance best practices, the Board has appointed Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) as 

the Lead Independent Director to lead and co-ordinate the activities of the Independent Directors, to act as the 

principal liaison between the Independent Directors and the Managing Director and CEO on sensitive issues and 

to hold meetings with Independent Directors when required.

The Board has set clear guidelines in respect of decisions that are to be made by the Board, decisions that are 

to be made by the Managing Director and CEO in consultation with the Board while leaving it to the judgement 

of Management as to other matters that ought to be referred to the Board. The Board is of the opinion that the 

decision making process by the Board has been independent and has been based on collective decisions without 

any individual exercising any considerable concentration of power or infl uence.

The Board has to date not appointed a Chairman. The Lead Independent Director is elected to chair each 

Board meeting while the Chairman’s role to ensure the effectiveness of the Board in all aspects, set its agenda; 

ensure that the directors receive accurate, timely and clear information; ensure effective communication with 

shareholders; encourage constructive relations between the Board and Management; facilitate the effective 

contribution of Non-Executive Directors in particular; encourage constructive relations between Executive 

Directors and Non-Executive Directors; and promote high standards of corporate governance, is jointly assumed 

by Low Weng Fatt and Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric).
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BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to 
the Board. 

The Nominating Committee currently comprises the following three members, of whom two are Independent 

Directors:

Tan Sin Huat Dennis (Chairman)

Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric)

Low Weng Fatt

The Nominating Committee is governed by its written terms of reference. In accordance with the requirements of 

the Code, the Chairman of the Nominating Committee is not directly associated with a substantial shareholder 

of the Company. The Nominating Committee makes recommendations to the Board on all nominations for 

appointments and re-appointments to the Board, and Board committees. It ascertains the independence of 

Directors and evaluates the Board’s performance. The Nominating Committee assesses the independence of 

Directors, based on the guidelines set out in the Code, the Guidebook and any other salient factors.

Following its annual review, the Nominating Committee has endorsed the independent status of Ng Jwee Phuan 

@ Frederick (Eric) and Tan Sin Huat Dennis. The Nominating Committee, in recommending the nomination of 

any Director for re-election, considers the contribution of the Director, based on, inter alia his attendance record, 

overall participation, expertise, strategic vision, business judgement and sense of accountability.

The Nominating Committee is satisfi ed that suffi cient time and attention are being given by the Directors to the 

affairs of the Group, notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple board representations, and there is 

presently no need to implement internal guidelines to address the competing time commitments. This matter is 

reviewed on an annual basis by the Nominating Committee.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director (except the Managing Director and CEO, who 

may be appointed for a term of up to fi ve years) must retire from offi ce at least once every three years by rotation. 

Directors who retire are eligible to offer themselves for re-election.  New Directors are appointed by way of Board 

resolution following which they are subject to re-election by shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting.

Each member of the Nominating Committee shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect to his re-

nomination as a Director.

The Nominating Committee has recommended the re-election of Tan Sin Huat Dennis and re-appointment of Yap 

Koon Bee @ Louis Yap who are retiring at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to be held on 26 July 2013 

(the “forthcoming AGM”). The Board has accepted the recommendations and the retiring Directors would be 

offering themselves for re-election.
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Key information regarding the Directors is set out below:

Name of Director
Date of First 
Appointment

Date of Last 
Re-election

Directorship and Chairmanship in 
Other Listed Companies and Major 
Appointments (Present and held over 
preceding 3 years)

Low Weng Fatt 6 February 2007 Not Applicable Nil

Siah Boon Hock 6 February 2007 26 July 2012 Nil

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap 6 February 2007 26 July 2012* Nil

Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) 6 February 2007 8 August 2011 Listed Companies - Present
1. Greater Bendigo Gold Mines Limited

2. Richfi eld International Limited

3. Wag Limited

Listed Companies – Preceding 3 Years
Nil

Major Appointments
Nil

Tan Sin Huat Dennis 31 July 2009 30 July 2010 Listed Companies - Present
1. Renewable Energy Asia Group Ltd

2. P99 Holdings Limited

3. Hartawan Holdings Ltd

Listed Companies – Preceding 3 Years
1. Swing Media Technology Group Ltd

Major Appointments
Nil

Yap Beng Geok Dorothy (1) 29 May 2008 Nil Nil

(1) Alternate Director to Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap

* Re-appointment as a Director pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50

BOARD PERFORMANCE

Principle 5: There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the 
contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

In line with the principles of good corporate governance, the Nominating Committee had implemented and 

continued with an annual performance evaluation for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and has 

completed the assessment. The purpose of the evaluation process is to increase the overall effectiveness of the 

Board. The Nominating Committee had decided unanimously, that the Directors will not be evaluated individually. 

The Nominating Committee, in considering the re-nomination of any Director, had considered but not limited to 

the extent of their attendance, participation and contribution in the proceedings of the meetings.

Each Director was requested to complete evaluation forms to assess the overall effectiveness of the Board as a 

whole. The appraisal process focused on the evaluation of factors such as the size and composition of the Board, 

the Board’s access to information, Board processes and accountability, communication with Senior Management 

and Directors’ standard of conduct. 
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The Board and the Nominating Committee have endeavoured to ensure that Directors appointed to the Board 

possess the necessary experience, knowledge and expertise critical to the Group’s business.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Principle 6: In order to fulfi ll their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, 
adequate and timely information prior to Board meetings and on an on-going basis.

To enable the Board to fulfi ll its responsibilities, Management strives to provide Board members with adequate 

and timely information for Board and Board committee meetings on an on-going basis. Board and Board 

committee papers are prepared for each meeting and are disseminated to the Board members before the 

meetings. Board and Board committee papers include suffi cient information from Management on fi nancial, 

business and corporate matters of the Group so as to enable Directors to be properly briefed on matters to be 

considered at the Board and Board committee meetings. Directors are given separate and independent access to 

the Group’s key executives and Company Secretary to address any enquiries. 

The Company Secretary and/or his representatives administer, attend and prepare minutes of Board and Board 

committee meetings, and assist the Chairmen in ensuring that proper procedures at such meetings are followed 

and reviewed so that the Board and Board committees function effectively. The Company Secretary also attends 

all Board and Board committee meetings and assists the Chairmen in ensuring that the Company complies with 

the requirements of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST (“Listing Manual”) and other 

relevant rules and regulations that are applicable to the Company. The appointment and removal of the Company 

Secretary are subject to the approval of the Board. 

Directors may seek professional advice in furtherance of their duties and the costs will be borne by the Company.

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive 
remuneration and for fi xing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be 
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises the following three members, of whom two are Independent 

Directors:

 Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) (Chairman)

 Tan Sin Huat Dennis

 Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap

The Remuneration Committee is governed by its written terms of reference. The principal functions of the 

Remuneration Committee are, inter alia:

(1) To review and submit its recommendations for endorsement by the Board, a framework of remuneration 

and the specifi c remuneration packages and terms of employment (where applicable) for each director, 

CEO (or executive of equivalent rank) if the CEO is not a Director and senior management, including but 

not limited to senior executives who report directly to the CEO of the Group and employees related to 

the Executive Directors and Controlling Shareholders of the Group. The Independent Directors on the 

Remuneration Committee shall review and approve annually the total remuneration of the Directors, 

Executive Offi cers and other employees who are related to the Substantial Shareholders of the Company.
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(2) To review and submit its recommendations for endorsement by the Board, the awards granted under the 

Chasen Performance Share Plan or any long term incentive schemes which may be set up from time to 

time and to do all acts necessary in connection therewith.

(3) To cover all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, 

bonuses, share options, share-based incentives and awards and benefi ts-in-kind in its review and 

recommendations.

Each member of the Remuneration Committee refrains from voting on any resolutions in respect of the 

assessment of his remuneration. No Director was involved in determining his own remuneration. 

In structuring and reviewing the remuneration packages, the Remuneration Committee seeks to align interests 

of Directors with those of shareholders and link rewards to corporate and individual performance as well as 

roles and responsibilities of each Director. All Independent Directors are paid Directors’ fees that are subject to 

shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting. 

The Remuneration Committee has full authority to engage any external professional advice on matters relating to 

remuneration as and when the need arises.

LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION

Principle 8: The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the 
directors needed to run the company successfully but companies should avoid paying more than is 
necessary for this purpose. A signifi cant proportion of executive directors’ remuneration should be 
structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance.

The Remuneration Committee will take into account the industry norms, the Group’s performance as well as the 

contribution and performance of each Director when determining remuneration packages.

The Independent Directors receive Directors’ fees and share awards under the Chasen Performance Share Plan, 

in accordance with their contributions, taking into account factors such as efforts and time spent, responsibilities 

of the Directors and the need to pay competitive fees to attract, retain and motivate the Directors. The 

Independent Directors shall not be over-compensated to the extent their independence may be compromised.

The remuneration for the Executive Directors and Management comprise a basic salary component and a variable 

component, namely, the annual bonus and share awards under the Chasen Performance Share Plan. The latter is 

based on the performance of the Group as a whole and their individual performances. 

The Company entered into a service agreement with our Managing Director and CEO, Low Weng Fatt for a fi xed 

appointment period and it does not contain onerous removal clauses. The service agreement allows termination 

by either party giving not less than six months’ notice in writing to the other. The Remuneration Committee is 

responsible for the review of compensation commitments the service agreement, if any, entails in the event of 

early termination.

The Board is of the view that the remuneration offered to the Directors and Management is fair and competitive. 

The Remuneration Committee will carry out annual reviews of the remuneration packages of the Directors and 

Management, having due regard to their contributions as well as the fi nancial and commercial needs of the 

Group.
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DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION

Principle 9: Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of 
remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration in the company’s annual report. It should 
provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link 
between remuneration paid to directors and key executives, and performance.

The Company’s Directors receiving remuneration from the Group for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013 are 

as follows:

Remuneration Band Number of Directors
2013 2012

$500,000 and above 1 1

$250,000 to below $500,000 1 1

Below $250,000 3 3

Total 5 5

A breakdown of each individual director’s and key executive’s remuneration, in percentage terms showing the 

level and mix for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013, is as follows:

Fees Salary Bonus
Other

Benefi ts Total

% % % % %

Directors

$500,000 and above

Low Weng Fatt 13 52 35 – 100

$250,000 to below $500,000

Siah Boon Hock 20 65 15 – 100

Below $250,000

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap 98 – – 2 100

Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) 99 – – 1 100

Tan Sin Huat Dennis 97 – – 3 100

Yap Beng Geok Dorothy – 79 11 10 100

Key Management

$250,000 to below $500,000

Below $250,000

Chew Choy Seng – 79 16 5 100

DixzyQuo Nurman – 65 35 – 100

Cheong Tuck Nang – 85 15 – 100

Yeo Seck Cheong – 99 1 – 100

Chiang Mun Hoe Alvin – 81 7 12 100

Yap Beng Geok Dorothy – 79 11 10 100
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The remuneration of one of the employees related to Yap Beng Geok Dorothy, an Alternate Director of the 

Company, exceeds S$150,000 for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the Directors and key 

management, having due regard to their contributions as well as the fi nancial and commercial needs of the Group 

and has ensured that the Directors are adequately but not excessively remunerated.

ACCOUNTABILITY

Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s 
performance, position and prospects.

The Board understands its accountability to the shareholders on the Group’s position, performance and progress. 

This accountability to our shareholders is demonstrated through the presentation of our periodic fi nancial 

statements as well as announcements and news releases of signifi cant corporate developments and activities so 

that the shareholders can have a detailed explanation and balanced assessment of the Group’s fi nancial position 

and prospects.

The Management maintains close contact and communication with the Board by various means including the 

preparation and circulation to all Board members quarterly fi nancial statements of the Group. This allows the 

Directors to monitor the Group’s performance as well as Management’s achievements of the goals and objectives 

determined and set by the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Principle 11: The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which 
clearly set out its authority and duties.

The Audit Committee currently comprises the following three members, of whom two are Independent Directors:

 Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) (Chairman)

 Tan Sin Huat Dennis

 Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap

The Company has adopted and has complied with the principles of corporate governance under the Code in 

relation to the roles and responsibilities of the Audit Committee. 

The Board is of the view that the members of the Audit Committee are appropriately qualifi ed, having the 

necessary accounting or related fi nancial management expertise or experience to discharge their responsibilities.

The Audit Committee will focus principally on assisting the Board in fulfi lling its duties by providing an independent 

and objective review of the fi nancial management process, internal controls and the audit function. The Audit 

Committee will meet at least four times a year to perform, inter alia, the following functions: 

(a) Financial Reporting

 The Audit Committee reviews the quarterly and annual results announcements, as well as any formal 

announcements relating to the company’s fi nancial performance, with the Management and external 

auditors before submission to the Board for approval, focusing in particular on signifi cant fi nancial reporting 

issues and judgements; changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas; signifi cant 

adjustments resulting from the audit, compliance with accounting standards and compliance with the 

Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and any other relevant statutory or regulatory requirements.
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(b)  External Audit

 The Audit Committee reviews, with the external auditors, the audit plans, the audit report and 

Management’s response and actions to correct any noted defi ciencies; to discuss problems and concerns, 

if any, arising from the review and audits; to review the independence of the external auditors annually; 

and to recommend to the Board the appointment, re-appointment or removal of the external auditors. In 

addition, the Audit Committee meets with the external auditors without the presence of Management at 

least once a year to discuss any matter that the external auditors may raise during such a meeting.

(c)  Internal Audit

 The Audit Committee reviews, with the internal auditors, the internal audit plan, the scope and results of 

the internal audit including the effectiveness of the internal audit process. It ensures that the internal audit 

function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group. It also reviews annually 

to ensure the adequacy of the internal audit process and monitors the implementation of Management’s 

response to the internal audit fi ndings to ensure that appropriate follow-up measures are taken.

(d)  Interested Person Transactions

 The Audit Committee regularly reviews if the Group will be entering into any interested person transactions 

and if it does, to ensure that the Group complies with the requisite rules under Chapter 9 of the Listing 

Manual of the SGX-ST.

(e)  Whistle-blowing

 The Audit Committee reviews arrangements by which staff of the Company and of the Group may in 

confi dence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of fi nancial reporting or other matters 

and ensure that arrangements are in place for the independent investigation of such matters and for 

appropriate follow up action.

        

The Company has implemented a whistle blowing policy whereby accessible channels are provided for employees 

to raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of fi nancial reporting or other matters which they 

become aware and to ensure that:

(i) independent investigations are carried out in an appropriate and timely manner; 

(ii) appropriate action is taken to correct the weaknesses in internal controls and policies which allowed the 

perpetration of fraud and/or misconduct and to prevent a recurrence; and 

(iii) administrative, disciplinary, civil and/or criminal actions that are initiated following the completion of 

investigations are appropriate balanced and fair, while providing reassurance that they will be protected 

from reprisals or victimization for whistle-blowing in good faith and without malice.

The Audit Committee has full access to the Management and also full discretion to invite any Director or key 

management to attend its meetings, and has been given reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its 

function. 

In July 2010, the Singapore Exchange Limited and Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority had launched 

the “Guidance to Audit Committees on Evaluation of Quality of Work performed by External Auditors” which 

aims to facilitate the Audit Committee in evaluating the external auditors. Accordingly, the Audit Committee had 

evaluated the performance of the external auditors based on the key indicators of audit quality set out in the said 

Guidance.
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The Company has paid the following aggregate amount of fees to Mazars LLP, the external auditors, for the 

fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013:-

Services Amount (S$)

Audit service 240,000

Non-audit service     2,500

Total 242,500

The Company has complied with Rules 715 and 716 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST as all signifi cant 

Singapore based subsidiaries of the Company are audited by Mazars LLP for the purposes of the consolidated 

fi nancial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Board and the Audit Committee are satisfi ed that 

the appointment of different auditing fi rms for the Company’s other subsidiaries would not compromise the 

standard and effectiveness of the audit of the Company.

During the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013, the Audit Committee met with the external auditors and internal 

auditors without the presence of the Management.

The Audit Committee has also undertaken a review of the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. 

The Audit Committee is of the view that the external auditors are independent and the external auditors had 

also provided a confi rmation of their independence to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee had assessed 

the external auditors based on factors such as performance, adequacy of resources, experience of their audit 

engagement partner and audit team assigned to the Group’s audit as well as the size and complexity of the 

Group. Accordingly, the Audit Committee is satisfi ed that Rules 712, 715 and 716 of the Listing Manual are 

complied with and has recommended to the Board of Directors, the nomination of the external auditors for re-

appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

As there has been no Interested Person Transactions during the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013, the Audit 

Committee is of the opinion that Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual has been complied with. The Audit Committee 

has nevertheless established the necessary review procedures should Interested Person Transactions arise.

In the event that a member of our Audit Committee is interested in any matter being considered by our Audit 

Committee, he will abstain from reviewing that particular transaction or voting on that particular resolution.

The Audit Committee has, within its terms of reference, the authority to obtain independent professional advice at 

the Company’s expense as and when the need arises.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

Principle 12: The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal 
controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.

Although the Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the Group’s overall system of internal controls, the 

Board also recognises that no internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities. The Group’s system 

is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide 

only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The internal controls in place 

will address the fi nancial, operational and compliance risks, and the objectives of these controls are to provide 

reasonable assurance that there are no material fi nancial misstatements or material loss and that assets are 

safeguarded.
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Relying on the reports from the internal auditors and external auditors and the representation letters from the 

Management, the Audit Committee carried out assessments of the effectiveness of key internal controls during 

the year. Any material non-compliance or weaknesses in internal controls or recommendations from the internal 

auditors and external auditors to further improve the internal controls were reported to the Audit Committee. The 

Audit Committee will follow up on the actions taken by the Management and on the recommendations made by 

both the internal auditors and external auditors. 

Material associates and joint ventures which the Company does not control are not dealt with for the purposes of 

this Board opinion.

The Directors have received the management representation letters from the Executive Directors and the Chief 

Financial Offi cer of the Company and from the Executive Directors, General Managers and Heads of Finance, 

Operations and Sales of the key subsidiaries as well as Heads of Group functions in relation to the fi nancial 

information for the year.

Based on the various management controls put in place, the reports from the internal auditors and external 

auditors (to the extent as required by them to form an audit opinion on the statutory fi nancial statements), 

representation letters from the Management, periodic reviews by the Management, the Board with the 

concurrence of the Audit Committee is of the opinion that the system of internal controls addressing fi nancial, 

operational and compliance risks maintained by the Company during the year are adequate.

The Board also notes that all internal control systems and risk management systems contain inherent limitations 

and no system of internal controls or risk management could provide absolute assurance against the occurrence 

of material errors, poor judgment in decision making, human error, losses, and/or other irregularities.

As the Group continues to grow its business, the Board will continue to review and take appropriate steps to 

strengthen the Group’s overall system of internal controls and risk management.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Principle 13: The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the 
activities it audits.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for maintaining an internal audit function that is independent of the 

activities it audits and has appointed Messrs Baker Tilly TWF LLP to perform an internal audit. The main objective 

is to identify signifi cant internal control weaknesses in the key business processes of the Group that require the 

attention of the Audit Committee and Management. 

An Enterprise Risk Assessment is conducted by the appointed internal auditors on all operating subsidiaries of 

the Group to enable the Board and Management to understand the inherent industry and operational risks of 

each business entity. In conducting the internal audit of each subsidiary, the appointed internal auditors would pay 

particular attention to the identifi ed inherent and operational risk of that business entity as well as the content of 

any management letter issued by the external auditors for that particular subsidiary to ensure that the committed 

rectifi cation measures have been implemented.

In the discharge of its function, the internal auditors report directly to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and 

perform its internal audit in accordance with the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by 

the Institute of Internal Auditors.

The Audit Committee reviews the internal audit plan annually.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14: Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

Principle 15: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and allow 
shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

The Company is committed to regular and proactive communication with its shareholders in line with continuous 

disclosure obligations of the Company according to the SGX-ST Listing Manual and the Companies Act. Pertinent 

information will be disclosed to shareholders in a timely, fair and equitable manner.

Communications are made through:

– annual reports that are prepared and issued to all shareholders;

– periodic results announcements;

– media meetings;

– circulars and notices to the shareholders;

– press releases;

– corporate website at http://www.chasen.com.sg; and 

– disclosures to the SGX-ST via SGXNET

In addition, shareholders are encouraged to attend the Annual General Meeting to ensure a high level of 

accountability by the Board and Management and to stay informed of the Group’s strategies and growth. The 

participation of shareholders is encouraged at the Company’s Annual General Meeting. The Chairmen of the 

Audit, Remuneration and Nominating Committees will be available at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to 

answer questions relating to the work of these Board committees. The external auditors will also be present to 

assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries from the shareholders. The Group fully supports the Code’s 

principle to encourage active shareholders’ participation.

If any shareholder is unable to attend, he is allowed to appoint up to two proxies to vote on his behalf at the 

meeting through proxy forms sent in advance.

Each item of special business included in the notice of the general meetings will be accompanied by full 

explanation of the effects of a proposed resolution. Separate resolutions are proposed for substantially separate 

issues at general meetings.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Company has complied with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual in relation to the best practices on dealings 

in the securities:-

(a) The Company had devised and adopted its own internal compliance code to provide guidance to its 

offi cers with regards to dealings by the Company and its offi cers in its securities;

(b) Offi cers of the Company did not deal in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations; and

(c) The Company and its offi cers did not deal in the Company’s shares (i) during the periods commencing two 

weeks before the announcement of the Company’s fi nancial results for each of the fi rst three quarters of 
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its fi nancial year and one month before the announcement of the Company’s full year fi nancial statements, 

ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant results, and (ii) if they are in possession of 

unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group.

In addition, the Directors and Management are expected to observe the insider trading laws at all times even 

when dealing in securities within permitted trading period. 

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Details of Interested Person Transactions, if any, for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013 are disclosed in 

the audited fi nancial statements. To ensure compliance with the relevant rules under Chapter 9 of the Listing 

Manual on interested person transactions, the Board and Audit Committee regularly reviews if the Company will 

be entering into any interested person transaction and if it does, to ensure that the Company complies with the 

requisite rules under Chapter 9. When a potential confl ict of interest arises, the Director concerned does not 

participate in discussions and refrains from exercising any infl uence over other members of the Board.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Other than disclosed in the audited fi nancial statements, there are no material contracts of the Company or its 

subsidiaries involving the interest of any Director or controlling shareholder subsisting as at the end of the fi nancial 

year ended 31 March 2013.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Management regularly reviews the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of signifi cant 

business risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks within the Group’s policies and 

strategies. The Company will consider the need to establish a risk management committee to assist the Board 

in carrying out its responsibility of overseeing the Company’s risk management framework and policies when the 

need arises.

Management regularly review the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk. In addition, the Management will 

(a) seek the approval from the Board of Directors before entering into any foreign exchange hedging transactions 

and (b) put in place adequate procedures which must be reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee and (c) 

all foreign exchange hedging contracts will be approved and reviewed by the Board of Directors at their quarterly 

meetings.
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The directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated fi nancial 

statements of Chasen Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), and the 

statement of fi nancial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the fi nancial year ended 31 

March 2013.

1. Directors

 The directors of the Company in offi ce at the date of this report are:-

 Low Weng Fatt 

 Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) 

 Siah Boon Hock 

 Tan Sin Huat Dennis  

 Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap

 Yap Beng Geok Dorothy (Alternate director to Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap)

2. Listing on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the”SGX-ST”) 

 The Company’s shares were listed on Stock Exchange of Singapore Dealing and Automated Quotation 

(the “SESDAQ”) via a reverse takeover of China Entertainment Sports Ltd on 12 February 2007. SESDAQ 

subsequently became known as Catalist Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 

(the”SGX-ST”) on 28 October 2008.

 On 26 February 2013, the Company has obtained approval and transferred from the Catalist Board to the 

Main Board of the SGX-ST. 

3. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares or debentures

 Neither at the end of the fi nancial year nor at any time during the fi nancial year was the Company a party to 

any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to 

acquire benefi ts by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body 

corporate.

4. Directors’ interests in shares, warrants or debentures

 According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 164 of the 

Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), the directors of the Company holding offi ce at the 

end of the fi nancial year had no interests in the shares or debentures of the Company and its related 

corporations except as stated below:-

Direct Interest Deemed Interest
Name of the directors and
respective companies in 
which interests are held

At beginning
of the

fi nancial year

At end 
of the

fi nancial year

At beginning
of the

fi nancial year

At end
of the 

fi nancial year

The Company Number of ordinary shares
Low Weng Fatt (1) 50,635,708 50,659,708 265,000 265,000

Siah Boon Hock (2) 10,465,901 10,483,901 – –

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap (3) 34,940,583 34,946,583 – –

Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) (4) 373,750 439,750 – –

Yap Beng Geok Dorothy (5) 117,250 123,250 7,839,912 7,851,912

Tan Sin Huat Dennis 28,000 34,000 – –
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4. Directors’ interests in shares, warrants or debentures (Continued)

 The directors’ interests as at 21 April 2013 in the shares or debentures of the Company have not changed 

from those disclosed as at 31 March 2013.

 Notes:-

 (1) Low Weng Fatt holds 7,281,509 warrants, pursuant to Rights Shares cum Warrants Issue, entitling him to subscribe for an 

equivalent number of shares at the exercise price of S$0.30 each. He is deemed to be interested in the 265,000 shares and 

27,500 warrants held by his spouse. 

 (2) Siah Boon Hock holds 2,832,675 warrants, pursuant to Rights Shares cum Warrants Issue, entitling him to subscribe for 

an equivalent number of shares at the exercise price of S$0.30 each. 2,000,000 shares are held by Hong Leong Finance 

Nominees Pte Ltd. 

 (3) Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap holds 6,407,207 warrants, pursuant to Rights Shares cum Warrants Issue, entitling him to 

subscribe for an equivalent number of shares at the exercise price of S$0.30 each.

 (4) Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) holds 42,375 warrants, pursuant to Rights Shares cum Warrants Issue, entitling him to 

subscribe for an equivalent number of shares at the exercise price of S$0.30 each.

 (5) Yap Beng Geok Dorothy holds 9,625 warrants, pursuant to Rights Shares cum Warrants Issue, entitling her to subscribe for an 

equivalent number of shares at the exercise price of S$0.30 each. She is deemed to be interested in the 7,851,912 shares and 

1,288,818 warrants held by her spouse, Cheong Tuck Nang. 

5. Directors’ contractual benefi ts

 Except as disclosed in the fi nancial statements, since the end of the previous fi nancial year, no director 

of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefi t which is required to be disclosed 

under Section 201(8) of the Act, by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation 

with the director or with a fi rm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial 

fi nancial interest, except for salaries, bonuses and other benefi ts, as disclosed in the fi nancial statements. 

Certain directors have received remuneration from related corporations in their capacity as directors and/or 

executives of those related corporations.

6. Chasen Performance Share Plan

 The Chasen Performance Share Plan (the “Plan”) was approved and adopted by the members of the 

Company at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 16 May 2007.

 The Plan is administered by the Remuneration Committee which comprises Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick 

(Eric), Tan Sin Huat Dennis and Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap.

 Under the Plan, eligible participants are conferred rights by the Company on shares to be issued or 

transferred (“Awards”). The Plan contemplates the award of fully paid shares free of charge when and after 

pre-determined performance or service conditions are accomplished and/or due recognition is given to any 

good work performance and/or any signifi cant contribution to the Company.

 The rationale of the Plan is to provide an opportunity for the Directors and full-time employees of the Group 

to participate in the equity of the Company so as to align their interest with that of the shareholders. It 

would also give recognition to employees of the Group who have contributed to its success and to 

motivate them to greater dedication, loyalty and higher standard of performance. The participants are not 

required to pay for the grant of Awards or for the shares allocated pursuant to an Award.
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6. Chasen Performance Share Plan (Continued)

 From the commencement of the Plan to 31 March 2013, awards comprising an aggregate of 5,314,562 

shares have been granted.

 

 As at 31 March 2013, details of performance shares awarded under the Plan are set out as below:-

Date of grant

Share Awards 
granted since 

commencement 
of Plan to end 

of fi nancial year 
under review

Share Awards 
vested since 

commencement 
of Plan to end 

of fi nancial year 
under review

Share Awards 
cancelled since 
commencement 
of Plan to end 

of fi nancial year 
under review

Share Awards 
outstanding 
as at end of 

fi nancial year 
under review

23 August 2007 476,000 (476,000) Nil Nil

1 September 2008 970,000 (864,500) (105,500) Nil

27 July 2009 189,000 (189,000) Nil Nil

22 February 2010 1,346,912 (1,307,282) (39,630) Nil

31 March 2011 1,069,200 (378,160) (123,800) 567,240

30 March 2012 1,263,450 Nil Nil 1,263,450

 Note:   As at 31 March 2013, the total number of share awards granted to the Directors and employees of the Company and its 

subsidiaries since the commencement of the Plan to the end of the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013 is 5,314,562. 

 The performance shares awarded to Directors and controlling shareholders and their associates are as 

follows:-

Name of participant

Awards 
granted during 
fi nancial year 
under review

Aggregate
Awards 

granted since 
commencement 
of Plan to end 

of fi nancial year 
under review

Aggregate
Awards 

vested since 
commencement 
of Plan to end 

of fi nancial year 
under review

Aggregate
Awards 

outstanding 
as at end of 

fi nancial year 
under review

Low Weng Fatt *      Nil 640,000 (416,000)   224,000

Siah Boon Hock      Nil 480,000 (312,000) 168,000

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap *    Nil 160,000 (104,000)  56,000

Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) Nil 160,000    (104,000)   56,000

Yap Beng Geok Dorothy Nil 160,000 (104,000) 56,000

Tan Sin Huat Dennis Nil 90,000 (34,000) 56,000

 * Low Weng Fatt and Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap are the only controlling shareholders.

7. Warrants

 On 6 May 2010, the Company issued 36,373,444 warrants, each warrant carrying the right to subscribe 

for one new ordinary share at the exercise price of S$0.30 during the period commencing on and including 

the date of issue of the warrants and expiring on the date immediately preceding the fi fth (5th) anniversary 

of such date of issue.
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7. Warrants (Continued)

 As at the date of this report, details of the warrants issued by the Company are set out as below:-

Date of grant of warrants
Warrants 

issued
Warrants
exercised

Warrants 
outstanding

6 May 2010 36,373,444 (4,617,200) 31,756,244

8. Share options

 There were no share options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries during the fi nancial year. 

 There were no shares issued during the fi nancial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up 

unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries.

 There were no unissued shares under option in the Company or its subsidiaries as at the end of the 

fi nancial year.

9. Audit committee

 The Audit Committee (“AC”) of the Company comprises three non-executive directors and at the date of 
this report is:-

 Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) – Chairman
 Tan Sin Huat Dennis
 Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap

 The AC has convened 4 meetings during the fi nancial year with key management and the internal and 
external auditors of the Company. 

 The AC carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act, 
Chapter 50, including the review of the following:-

 a. The scope and the results of internal audit procedures with the internal auditors;

 b. The audit plan of the Company’s independent external auditors and its report on the weaknesses of 
internal accounting controls arising from the statutory audit;

 c. The assistance given by the Company’s management to the independent external auditors; and
 
 d. The statement of fi nancial position and the statement of changes in equity of the Company as at 31 

March 2013 and the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group as at 31 March 2013 before 
their submission to the Board of Directors, as well as the Report of the Independent Auditors on 
the statement of fi nancial position and the statement of changes in equity of the Company and the 
consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group.

 e. Review of the Group’s quarterly and annual fi nancial statements and the auditor’s report on the  
annual fi nancial statements of the Group and of the Company before their submission to the Board 
of Directors; 

 f. Review of the quarterly, half-yearly and annual announcements as well as the related press releases 
on the results and fi nancial position of the Group and of the Company; 
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9. Audit committee (Continued)

 g. Review of the adequacy of the Group’s risk management processes; 

 h. Review of the Group’s compliance with legal requirements and regulations, including the related 
compliance policies and programmes and reports received from regulators, if any; 

 i. Review of interested person transactions in accordance with SGX listing rules; 

 j. Nomination of independent external auditors; and 

 k. Submission of report of actions and minutes of the AC to the Board of Directors with any 
recommendations as the AC deems appropriate.

 The AC has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been given the resources 

required for it to discharge its functions properly. It also has full discretion to invite any director and 

executive offi cer to attend its meetings. The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the 

AC.  

 The AC is satisfi ed with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended 

to the Board of Directors that the auditors, Mazars LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the 

forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

10. Auditors

 Mazars LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors

 

Low Weng Fatt Siah Boon Hock
Director Director

Singapore: 28 June 2013
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In the opinion of the directors,

(a) the fi nancial statements of the Group, and the statement of fi nancial position and statement of changes in 

equity of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 

and of the Company as at 31 March 2013, and of the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the 

Group and changes in equity of the Company for the fi nancial year then ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay 

its debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

 

Low Weng Fatt Siah Boon Hock
Director Director

Singapore: 28 June 2013
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Independent Auditors’ Report To the Members of Chasen Holdings Limited

For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of Chasen Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the statements of fi nancial position and changes in equity 
of the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2013, and the statements of comprehensive income and cash 
fl ows of the Group for the fi nancial year then ended, and a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information as set out on pages 43 to 123.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls suffi cient to provide a 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition; and 
transactions are properly authorized and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and 
fair profi t and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
fi nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditors consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation of fi nancial statements that 
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the fi nancial statements of the Group and statement of fi nancial position and statement of changes 
in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the 
Company as at 31 March 2013 and the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group and the changes 
in equity of the Company for the fi nancial year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors, have been properly kept in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act.

MAZARS LLP
Public Accountants and
Certifi ed Public Accountants

Singapore: 28 June 2013
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For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013

The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these fi nancial statements.

Group
Note 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Revenue 4 79,417 98,968

Cost of sales (63,108) (71,657)

Gross profi t 16,309 27,311

Other operating income 5 4,169 2,581

Distribution and selling expenses (5,540) (6,158)

Administrative expenses (12,188) (13,065)

Other operating expenses (8,716) (1,087)

Finance expenses 6 (991) (1,074)

(Loss)/Profi t before income tax 7 (6,957) 8,508

Income tax expense 9 (355) (2,050)

(Loss)/Profi t for the fi nancial year (7,312) 6,458

Other comprehensive income:
Net loss on fair value changes of available-for-sale fi nancial assets 19 (127) (1,575)

Currency translation differences arising from consolidation (105) 700

Other comprehensive loss for the fi nancial year, net of tax (232) (875)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the fi nancial year (7,544) 5,583

(Loss)/Profi t for the fi nancial year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (5,355) 7,262

Non-controlling interests (1,957) (804)

(Loss)/Profi t for the fi nancial year (7,312) 6,458

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the fi nancial year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (5,574) 6,403

Non-controlling interests (1,970) (820)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the fi nancial year (7,544) 5,583

(Loss)/Earnings per share for (loss)/profi t attributable to owners of 
 the Company (cents per share)
Basic 10 (2.14) 3.07

Diluted 10 (2.13) 3.05



Chasen Holdings Limited     Annual Report 201344

Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2013

The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these fi nancial statements.

Group Company
Note 2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment property 11 4,080 3,060 – –

Property, plant and equipment 12 17,511 19,352 – –

Investments in subsidiaries 13 – – 38,075 38,075

Investment in an associate 14 1,000 1,000 200 200

Goodwill on consolidation 16 10,649 10,649 – –

Intangible assets 17 912 1,105 – –

Club membership 18 10 20 – 9

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets 19 1,008 1,135 1,008 1,135

Trade receivables 22 – 201 – –

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 23 496 496 214 214

Total non-current assets 35,666 37,018 39,497 39,633

Current assets
Inventories 20 2,348 1,244 – –

Gross amount due from customers on contract 

 work-in-progress 21 589 1,203 – –

Trade receivables 22 31,774 38,245 – –

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 23 14,426 9,428 1,585 2,707

Amount due from subsidiaries 24 – – 28,767 28,876

Cash and cash equivalents 25 7,706 10,700 916 200

56,843 60,820 31,268 31,783

Non-current asset, held-for-sale 26 5,075 5,075 – –

Total current assets 61,918 65,895 31,268 31,783

Total assets 97,584 102,913 70,765 71,416

EQUITY AND LIABILITIIES 
Equity 
Share capital 27 42,037 42,037 71,565 71,565

Treasury shares 28 (7) (32) (7) (32)

Other reserves 29 (4,193) (4,142) (3,602) (3,643)

Retained profi ts 12,810 20,293 1,180 1,488

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 50,647 58,156 69,136 69,378

Non-controlling interests 4,201 5,488 – –

Total equity    54,848 63,644 69,136 69,378
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these fi nancial statements.

Group Company
Note 2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans 30 1,415 915 – –

Finance lease payables 31 2,420 2,032 – –

Deferred tax liabilities 32 1,386 1,533 – –

Total non-current liabilities 5,221 4,480 – –

Current liabilities
Bank overdrafts 30 1,425 499 – –

Bank loans 30 15,206 9,296 1,000 1,500

Finance lease payables 31 1,936 1,399 – –

Trade payables 33 9,289 10,652 – –

Other payables and accruals 34 9,568 12,160 629 538

Derivative fi nancial instruments 35 – 170 – –

Income tax payable 91 613 – –

Total current liabilities 37,515 34,789 1,629 2,038

Total liabilities 42,736 39,269 1,629 2,038

Total equity and liabilities 97,584 102,913 70,765 71,416
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Statements of Changes in Equity
For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013
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Statements of Changes in Equity
For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these fi nancial statements.

Group
Note 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Operating activities
(Loss)/Profi t before income tax (6,957) 8,508

Adjustments for:

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables, net 22 593 192

Allowance for doubtful other receivables 23 2,264 –

Amortization of club membership 7, 18 10 18

Amortization of deferred income 5, 36 – (1)

Amortization of intangible assets 17 192 236

Bad debts written off 7 5,804 143

Cost of share-based payments 200 199

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 4,836 4,658

Dividend income 5 – (3)

Fair value adjustments on derivative fi nancial instruments 35 (170) 170

Gain on disposal of non-current assets, held-for-sale 5 – (262)

Gain on fair value adjustments of investment property 5, 11 (1,020) (1,370)

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5, 7 (277) 67

Interest income 5 (198) (15)

Interest expense 6 991 1,074

Inventory written off 7 – 25

Property, plant and equipment written-off 7 1 97

Written off of investment in joint venture 15 * – –

Written back of provision for contract costs 5 (650) –

Operating cash fl ows before movements in working capital 5,619 13,736

Movement in working capital:

Inventories (1,104) 172

Gross amount due from customers on contract work-in-progress 614 (658)

Trade and other receivables (6,987) (5,080)

Trade and other payables (3,305) 1,428

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (5,163) 9,598

Income taxes paid (1,020) (1,474)

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (6,183) 8,124

Investing activities
Acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary 13(e) – (195)

Divestment of a subsidiary to non-controlling interests 13(a) 16 –

Dividends received – 3

Interest received 198 15

Incorporation of a subsidiary paid by non-controlling interests 13(c) 19 –

Net cash infl ow on acquisition of subsidiaries 13(d) – 63

Net cash outfl ow on acquisition of a joint venture 15 – (42)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 (951) (3,943)

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets, held-for-sale – 621

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 368 259

Effect of foreign currency re-alignment on investing activities (190) 414

Net cash used in investing activities (540) (2,805)
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these fi nancial statements.

Group
Note 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Financing activities
Dividend paid to equity holders of the Company 45 (1,480) (1,400)

Interest paid (991) (1,074)

Proceeds from warrant issue * – 1,361

Proceeds from bank loans 29,000 11,347

Purchase of treasury shares 28 (7) (215)

Repayment of bank loans (22,356) (11,960)

Repayment of fi nance lease payables (1,236) (1,520)

Released of pledged fi xed deposits with banks 28 16

Net cash generated from/(used in) fi nancing activities 2,958 (3,445)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,765) 1,874

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (126) 51

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of fi nancial year 8,797 6,872

Cash and cash equivalents at end of fi nancial year 25 4,906 8,797

* Denotes amount less than S$1,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying fi nancial 

statements.

1. General

 Chasen Holdings Limited (the “Company”) (Registration Number 199906814G) is a limited liability company 

incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Singapore and is listed on the Singapore Exchange 

Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”).

 The registered offi ce and principal place of business of the Company is located at 18 Jalan Besut 

Singapore 619571.

 The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the respective 

subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 13 to the fi nancial statements.

 The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group, and the statement of fi nancial position and the 

statement of changes in equity of the Company for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013 were 

authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2013.

2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies 

2.1 Basis of preparation 

 The fi nancial statements have been drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore 

Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”) including 

related Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) and are prepared on the historical cost basis, except as 

disclosed in the accounting policies below.

 The individual fi nancial statements of each Group entity are measured and presented in the currency of 

the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated 

fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of fi nancial position and the statement of changes 

in equity of the Company are presented in Singapore dollar (“S$” or “SGD”) which is also the functional 

currency of the Company, and all values presented are rounded to the nearest thousand (“S$’000”), unless 

otherwise indicated.

 In the current fi nancial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised FRS and INT FRS that are 

relevant to its operations and effective for the current fi nancial year, except for FRS 12 Amendments to FRS 

12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets which has been early adopted in the prior fi nancial year 

ended 31 March 2012. The adoption of these new or revised FRS and INT FRS does not result in changes 

to the Group’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or 

prior fi nancial years.   
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 

 FRSs and INT FRSs issued but not yet effective 

 At the date of authorization of these fi nancial statements, the following FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments 
to FRS that are relevant to the Group and the Company were issued but not effective:-

Description

Effective date 
(annual periods 
beginning on or 

after)
FRS 1 Amendments to FRS 1 – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 1 July 2012

FRS 19 Employee Benefi ts 1 January 2013

FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2014

FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2014

FRS 32 Amendments to FRS 32 – Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 1 January 2014

FRS 107 Amendments to FRS 107 – Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 1 January 2013

FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2014

FRS 111 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2014

FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2014

FRS 113 Fair Value Measurements 1 January 2013

Improvements to FRSs 2012

FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2013

FRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 1 January 2013

FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 1 January 2013
 
 Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised 

standards.

 The management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRS and INT FRS in future periods will not 
have a material impact on the fi nancial statements, and in particular, to the fi nancial position and fi nancial 
performance, of the Group in the period of their initial adoption, except as disclosed below:-

 FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements and Revised FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements

 FRS 110 establishes a single control model that applies to all entities including special purpose entities 
and replaces all guidance on control and consolidation in FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements and INT FRS 112 Special Purpose Entities. For the purpose of determining which of 
its investee entities are subsidiaries and are hence to be consolidated, the management is required to 
exercise signifi cant judgement in (re)assessing the investee entities that the Company has, directly or 
indirectly through subsidiaries, control over through the consideration of three elements of control, being 
the Company’s power over the investee, the Company’s exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and the ability to use this power over the investee to affect the amount of 
the Company’s returns. This is as opposed to FRS 27 which includes a rebuttable presumption that control 
exists when the Company owns, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, more than half of the voting 
power of an investee. The revised FRS 27 now addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled 
entities and associates in separate fi nancial statements. 

 Management is in the process of determining the impact of the changes to the defi nition of control and 
expects that the adoption of FRS 110 in 2014 may lead to more entities being consolidated as a Group. 
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 

 FRS 111 Joint Arrangements

 FRS 111 supersedes FRS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and INT FRS 13 Jointly Controlled Entities – 

Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. FRS 111 requires the Group to classify its joint arrangements 

as either joint operations or joint ventures based on its rights and obligations in the arrangement rather 

than the legal structure of the arrangement. In a joint operation, the Group and the other joint operators 

have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities to the operation and the Group is required to 

account for its assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses in relation to the joint operation, as well as its share 

of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. In a joint venture, the Group and the 

other joint venturers have rights to the net assets of the venture and the Group is required to recognize 

its interest in the joint venture as an investment and account for it using the equity method of accounting 

under the revised FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. This is as opposed to FRS 31 

which allows the Group to apply proportionate consolidation method to account for its interest in its 

joint venture. The revised FRS 28 now describes the application of equity method to investments in joint 

ventures in addition to investments in associates.

 Management will apply FRS 111 in 2014 which will result in the Group changing its accounting policy for its 

investments in joint ventures. The Group has been accounting for its investment in joint ventures using the 

proportionate consolidation method. 

 FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

 FRS 112 is a new standard on disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in entities, including joint 

arranges, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off-balance sheet vehicles. Under FRS 112, the 

Group is required to disclose information to enable the users of its fi nancial statements to better evaluate 

the nature and risks associated with its interests in other entities and the effects of such interests on 

its fi nancial statements. The adoption of FRS 112 will not have any impact to the fi nancial position and 

fi nancial performance of the Group. 

 FRS 113 Fair Value Measurements

 FRS 113 provides a single source of guidance for all fair value measurements when fair value is required or 

permitted by FRS and does not change when an entity is required to use fair value. The adoption of FRS 

113 will not have any impact to the fi nancial position and fi nancial performance of the Group. 

 The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the Group’s application of accounting policies and reported amounts 

of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses.  Although these estimates are based on management’s best 

knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ from those estimates. 

2.2 Basis of consolidation

 The fi nancial statements of the Group comprise the fi nancial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities (including special purposes entities) over which the Group has the 

power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies, generally accompanied by a shareholding of more 

than one half of the voting rights.

 Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group up to the effective 

date on which control ceases, as appropriate.

 Intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

 The fi nancial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the fi nancial statements are prepared 

for the same reporting date as that of the Company. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries 

have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

 Non-controlling interests are identifi ed separately from the Group’s equity therein. On an acquisition-

by-acquisition basis, non-controlling interests may be initially measured either at fair value or at their 

proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able net assets. Subsequent to acquisition, the 

carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the 

non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Losses in the subsidiary are attributed to 

non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a defi cit balance.

 Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 

as equity transactions. Any differences between the amount by which the non-controlling interests 

are adjusted to refl ect the changes in the relative interests in the subsidiary and the fair value of the 

consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

 When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, the profi t or loss on disposal is calculated as the 

difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any 

retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of 

the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive 

income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassifi ed to profi t or loss or transferred directly 

to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were 

disposed of. The fair value of any investments retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control 

is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under FRS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an 

investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity. 

 Investments in subsidiaries and associates are carried at cost less any impairment loss that has been 

recognized in profi t or loss.

2.3 Business combinations

 Business combinations from 1 January 2010

 The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of the acquisition is 

measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or 

assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-

related costs are recognized in profi t or loss as incurred. 

 The acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition 

under FRS 103 are recognized at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or 

disposal groups) that are classifi ed as held-for-sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-Current Assets Held 

for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognized and measured at the lower of cost and fair 

value less costs to sell.

 Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired 

entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the 

resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in profi t or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree 

prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized in other comprehensive income are 

reclassifi ed to profi t or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

 Business combinations from 1 January 2010 (Continued)

 The acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition 

under FRS 103 are recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:-

  deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefi t arrangements are 

recognized and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 19 Employee Benefi ts 

respectively;

  liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based 

payment awards are measured in accordance with FRS 102 Share-Based Payment; and

  assets (or disposal groups) that are classifi ed as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-

Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that 

Standard.

 If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which 

the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting 

is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), 

or additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to refl ect new information obtained about facts and 

circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts 

recognized as of that date.

 The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete 

information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, and is subject to a 

maximum of one year.

 Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognized as an asset at the acquisition date and initially measured 

at cost, being the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 

interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity 

over net acquisition-date fair value amounts of the identifi able assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

 If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able net assets 

exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 

acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the 

excess is recognized immediately in profi t or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

 Business combinations before 1 January 2010 

 In comparison to the above mentioned requirements, the following differences applied:-

 Business combinations were accounted for by applying the purchase method. Transaction costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest (formerly 

known as minority interest) was measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifi able net 

assets.

 Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as step acquisitions. Adjustments to those 

fair values relating to previously held interests were treated as a revaluation and recognized in equity.

 When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the 

acquiree were not reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination resulted in a change in the 

terms of the contract that signifi cantly modifi ed the cash fl ows that would otherwise be required under the 

contract.
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2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

 Business combinations before 1 January 2010 (Continued)

 Contingent consideration was recognized if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the economic 

outfl ow was probable and a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent measurements to the 

contingent consideration affected goodwill.

2.4 Revenue recognition

 Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and 

services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of estimated customer 

returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

 Sale of goods

 

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the Group has transferred to the buyer the signifi cant 

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the 

degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold; is able to reliably 

measure the amount of revenue and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction; and 

assesses that it is probable for the economic benefi ts associated with the transaction to fl ow to the entity.

 Rendering of services

 Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the 

contract. The stage of completion of the contract is determined as follows:-

  installation fees are recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the installation, determined 

as the proportion of the total time expected to install that has elapsed at the end of the reporting 

period;

  servicing fees included in the price of products sold are recognized by reference to the proportion of 

the total cost of providing the servicing for the product sold, taking into account historical trends in 

the number of services actually provided on past goods sold; 

  revenue from charging of time for labour and material contracts are recognized at the contractual 

rates as labour hours are delivered and direct expenses are incurred; and

  Revenue from construction contracts is recognized in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy 

on revenue contracts (see Note 2.21).

 Rental income

 Rental income from investment property and warehouses is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the relevant lease (see Note 2.24).

 Dividend income

 

 Dividend income from investments is recognized when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have 

been established. 

 Interest income

 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 

interest rate applicable.
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2.5 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 

which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 

sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 

intended use or sale. Borrowing costs on general borrowings are capitalized by applying a capitalisation 

rate to construction or development expenditures that are fi nanced by general borrowings. Investment 

income earned on the temporary investment of specifi c borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 

assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

 All other borrowing costs are recognized in profi t or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

 

2.6 Retirement benefi t costs

 Payments to defi ned contribution retirement benefi t plans are charged as an expense as they fall due. 

Payments made to state-managed retirement benefi t schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident 

Fund, are dealt with as payments to defi ned contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the 

plans are equivalent to those arising in a defi ned contribution retirement benefi t plan.

2.7 Employee leave entitlements

 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they accrue to employees. A provision is made 

for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of 

the fi nancial year.

2.8 Share-based payments

 Employee performance share plan allows Group employees to acquire shares of the Company. The fair 

value of shares is recognized as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair 

value is measured based on the market value at grant date and spread over the vesting period during 

which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the shares. At each reporting date, the Group 

revises its estimates of the number of shares under options that are expected to become exercisable 

on the vesting date and recognizes the impact of the revision of the estimates in profi t or loss, with a 

corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve over the remaining vesting period.

2.9 Income tax

 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profi t for the fi nancial year. Taxable profi t differs from profi t 

as reported profi t or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in 

other fi nancial years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability 

for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

in countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate by the end of the fi nancial year.

 Deferred tax is recognized on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

fi nancial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profi t, and are 

accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for 

all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profi ts will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such 

assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 

recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 

neither the taxable profi t nor the accounting profi t.
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2.9 Income tax (Continued)

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognized on taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 

subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the 

reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each fi nancial year and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable profi ts will be available to allow all or part of the 

asset to be recovered.

 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 

settled or the asset realized based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the fi nancial year and based on the tax consequence that will follow from the 

manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the fi nancial year, to recover or settle the carrying 

amounts of its assets and liabilities except for the investment properties where investment properties 

measured at fair value are presented to be recovered entirely through sale. Deferred tax is charged or 

credited to profi t or loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which 

case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 Current and deferred tax are recognized as an expense or income in profi t or loss, except when they 

relate to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the tax is also recognized directly in 

equity, or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business 

combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the 

acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 

over cost.

 Revenue, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of sales tax except:-

  when the sales tax that is incurred on purchases is not recoverable from the tax authorities, in which 

case the sales tax is recognized as part of cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense 

item as applicable; and

  receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

2.10 Dividends

 Equity dividends are recognized when they become legally payable. Interim dividends are recorded in the 

fi nancial year in which they are declared payable. Final dividends are recorded in the fi nancial year in which 

dividends are approved by shareholders.

2.11 Foreign currency transactions and translation

 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the individual entities’ respective functional currencies at 

the exchange rates prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of each fi nancial year, monetary 

items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing as of the end of the fi nancial 

year. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 

at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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2.11 Foreign currency transactions and translation (Continued)

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items 

are included in profi t or loss for the fi nancial year. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-

monetary items carried at fair value are included in profi t or loss for the fi nancial year except for differences 

arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognized 

directly in equity. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also 

recognized directly in equity.

 Exchange differences relating to assets under construction for future productive use, are included in the 

cost of those assets where they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign currency 

borrowings.

 For the purpose of presenting consolidated fi nancial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 

foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange rates 

prevailing at the end of the fi nancial year. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated 

at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fl uctuated signifi cantly during that 

period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences 

arising, if any, are classifi ed as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation 

differences are recognized in profi t or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

 On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities 

(including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of 

borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to the 

foreign currency translation reserve.

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets 

and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 

2.12 Investment property

 Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, is measured 

initially at its cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is 

measured at fair value and changes in the fair value are included in profi t or loss for the fi nancial year in 

which they arise.

 Costs of major renovations and improvements to the investment property to the investment property are 

capitalized as additions and the carrying amounts of the replaced components are written off to profi t 

or loss. The costs of maintenance, repairs and minor improvement are charged to profi t or loss when 

incurred.

 Upon its disposal or retirement, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 

of the investment property is recognized in profi t or loss.

2.13 Property, plant and equipment

 Leasehold buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative 

purposes, are shown at cost less any subsequent accumulated depreciation, and where applicable, 

accumulated impairment losses. 
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2.13 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

 Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 

losses. The cost of plant and equipment includes its purchase price and any costs directly attributable 

to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 

manner intended by management. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of 

the cost of plant and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a 

consequence of acquiring or using the plant and equipment.

 Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, over their estimated useful lives, 

using the straight-line method, on the following bases:-

Leasehold building / Renovation 5 – 21 years

Transportation equipment 5 – 10 years

Tools and equipment 3 – 10 years

Furniture, fi ttings, and offi ce equipment 1 – 10 years

 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

 The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted as 

appropriate, at the end of each fi nancial year.

 Assets held under fi nance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as 

owned assets or, if there is no certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, 

the asset shall be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

 The gain or loss, being the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, 

arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in profi t or loss.

 Fully depreciated plant and equipment are retained in the fi nancial statements until they are no longer in 

use.

2.14 Club membership

 Club membership is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Club membership is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful lives of 5 to 15 years. The 

estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with 

the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 

2.15 Intangible assets

 Goodwill

                

 Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the net fair value of the Group’s interest in 

the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or jointly controlled entity carried 

at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
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2.15 Intangible assets (Continued)

 Goodwill (Continued)

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units 

expected to benefi t from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has 

been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that 

the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying 

amount of the unit (including the goodwill), the impairment loss is allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying 

amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis 

of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed 

in a subsequent period.

 The attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of gain or loss on disposal of the 

subsidiary or jointly controlled entity.

                

 Goodwill on associates is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment 

as part of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the identifi able assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in profi t or 

loss.

 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identifi ed and recognized separately from goodwill 

if the assets and their fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible assets is their fair 

value as at the acquisition date. 

 Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost 

less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets 

acquired separately.

 Intangible assets with fi nite useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 

lives, on the following bases:-

Know-how 8 years

Non-contractual customer relationship 6 – 7.5 years

 The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, 

with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 

2.16 Associate

 An associate is an entity over which the Group has signifi cant infl uence, but not control, and generally 

accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

 

 Signifi cant infl uence is the power to participate in the fi nancial and operating policy decisions of the 

investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.
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2.16 Associate (Continued)

 The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are incorporated in these fi nancial statements using 

the equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classifi ed as held-for-sale, in which 

case it is accounted for under FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 

Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition 

changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment loss of individual 

investments. Losses in an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any 

long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate) are not 

recognized, unless the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of 

the associate.

 Unrealized profi ts and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate. Unrealized 

losses are also eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no 

impairment. 

2.17 Joint venture

 A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic 

activity that is subject to joint control, which is when the strategic fi nancial and operating policy decisions 

relating to the activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

 Where a Group entity undertakes its activities under joint venture arrangements directly, the Group’s share 

of jointly controlled assets and any liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers are recognized in the 

fi nancial statements of the relevant entity and classifi ed according to their nature. Liabilities and expenses 

incurred directly in respect of interests in jointly controlled assets are accounted for on an accrual basis. 

Income from the sale or use of the Group’s share of the output of jointly controlled assets, and its share of 

joint venture expenses, are recognized when it is probable that the economic benefi ts associated with the 

transactions will fl ow to/from the Group and their amount can be measured reliably.

 Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer has 

an interest are referred to as jointly controlled entities. The Group reports its interests in jointly controlled 

entities using proportionate consolidation, except when the investment is classifi ed as held-for-sale, 

in which case it is accounted for under FRS 105 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 

Operations. The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of jointly controlled entities 

are combined with the equivalent items in the consolidated fi nancial statements on a line-by-line basis.

 Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for 

in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary (see 

Note 2.15).

 Unrealized profi ts and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the joint venture. 

Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no 

impairment. 

2.18 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

 The Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets as at each reporting date to 

assess for any indication of impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 

asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible 

to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 

the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
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2.18 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill (Continued)

 Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Group also tests its intangible assets with 

indefi nite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing 

their respective carrying amounts with their corresponding recoverable amounts. 

        

 The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to 

sell and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specifi c to the asset. 

 An impairment loss for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount 

is recognized immediately in profi t or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 

which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) 

is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognized for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior fi nancial years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognized immediately in profi t or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 

case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

2.19 Financial instruments

 Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument.

 Effective interest method

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a fi nancial instrument and 

allocating the interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate exactly 

discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that 

form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 

through the expected life of the fi nancial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net 

carrying amount of the fi nancial instrument. Income and expense are recognized on an effective interest 

basis for debt instruments.

 Financial assets
        

 All fi nancial assets are recognized on a trade date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase 

or sell the asset. They are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those fi nancial 

assets classifi ed as at fair value through profi t or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.

 Financial assets are classifi ed into the following specifi ed categories: loans and receivables and available-

for-sale fi nancial assets. The classifi cation depends on the nature and purpose for which these fi nancial 

assets were acquired and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

 Loans and receivables

 The Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables, gross amount due from 

customers on contract work-in-progress, and cash and cash equivalents.
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2.19 Financial instruments (Continued)

 Financial assets (Continued)

 Loans and receivables (Continued)

 Such loans and receivables are non-derivatives with fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market. They are measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method less 

impairment. Interest is recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables 

when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

 Available-for-sale fi nancial assets (“AFS”)

        

 Certain equity instruments and debt securities held by the Group are classifi ed as AFS if they are not 

classifi ed in any of the other categories. Subsequent to initial recognition, with the exception of unquoted 

equity instruments that are not carried at fair value as the fair value cannot be reliably measured, AFS 

are measured at fair value and changes therein are recognized directly in the available-for-sale reserve 

with the exception of impairment losses, interests calculated using the effective interest method and 

foreign exchange gains and losses arising from monetary items. Where the investment is disposed of or 

is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the available-for-sale 

reserve is included in profi t or loss for the fi nancial year. 

 Impairment of fi nancial assets

 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each fi nancial year. Financial assets 

are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after 

the initial recognition of the fi nancial asset, the estimated future cash fl ows of the investment have been 

impacted.

 For fi nancial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the 

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows, discounted at the original 

effective interest rate.

 The carrying amounts of all fi nancial assets are reduced by the impairment loss directly with the exception 

of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. 

Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized in profi t or loss.

 With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 

impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 

impairment loss was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profi t or 

loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not 

exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized.

 In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment 

loss is recognized directly in equity.
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2.19 Financial instruments (Continued)

 Financial assets (Continued)

 Derecognition of fi nancial assets 

        

 The Group derecognizes a fi nancial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash fl ows from the asset 

expire, or it transfers the fi nancial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 

asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership of the fi nancial asset and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognizes its 

retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred fi nancial asset, the Group continues to 

recognize the fi nancial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds receivables.

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments        

 Classifi cation as debt or equity

        

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by Group are classifi ed according to the substance of the 

contractual arrangements entered into and the defi nitions of a fi nancial liability and an equity instrument.

 Equity instruments

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 

deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 

costs.

 When shares recognized as equity are reacquired, the amount of consideration paid is recognized directly 

in equity. Reacquired shares are classifi ed as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from total 

equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profi t or loss on the purchase, sale issue or cancellation of treasury 

shares. 

        

 When treasury shares are subsequently cancelled, the cost of treasury shares are deducted against the 

share capital account if the shares are purchased out of capital of the Company, or against the retained 

profi ts of the Company if the shares are purchased out of earnings of the Company.

 When treasury shares are subsequently sold or reissued pursuant to the employee share option scheme, 

the cost of treasury shares is reversed from the treasury share account and the realized gain or loss on 

sale or reissue, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and related income tax, is 

recognized in the capital reserve of the Company.

 Financial liabilities 

 Financial liabilities are classifi ed as either fi nancial liabilities at fair value through profi t or loss or other 

fi nancial liabilities.

 Financial liabilities are classifi ed as at fair value through profi t or loss if the fi nancial liability is either held for 

trading or it is designated as such upon initial recognition.
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2.19 Financial instruments (Continued)

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

 Other fi nancial liabilities

        

 Trade and other payables 

 Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently 

measured at amortized cost, where applicable, using the effective interest method, with interest expense 

recognized on an effective yield basis.

 Borrowings

 Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently 

measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net 

of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognized over the term of the 

borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see Note 2.5).

 Financial guarantee contracts

 The Company has issued corporate guarantees to banks for borrowings of certain subsidiaries and these 

guarantees qualify as fi nancial guarantees because the Company is required to reimburse the banks if 

these subsidiaries breach any repayment terms.

 Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values plus transaction costs and 

subsequently at the higher of the amount of obligation under the contract recognized as a provision in 

accordance with FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially 

recognized less cumulative amortization in accordance with FRS 18 Revenue.

 Derecognition of fi nancial liabilities

 The Group derecognizes fi nancial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or they expire.

 Derivative fi nancial instruments

 The Group enters into derivative fi nancial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign 

exchange rate risk, comprising foreign exchange forward contracts. 

 Derivatives are initially recognized at their fair values at the date the derivative contract is entered into 

and are subsequently re-measured to their fair values at the end of each fi nancial year. The method of 

recognizing the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated and effective as a 

hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 

 Fair value changes on derivatives that are not designated or do not qualify for hedge accounting are 

recognized in profi t or loss when the changes arise. 
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.20 Inventories

 Inventories, comprising mainly machinery components, are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable 

value. Cost is determined on the fi rst-in, fi rst-out basis, comprises direct materials and, where applicable, 

direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 

location and condition. 

 Work in progress is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a weighted 

average basis and includes all attributable production overheads. In arriving at the net realizable value, due 

allowance is made for obsolete, damaged and slow-moving items.

 Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs 

to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

2.21 Revenue contracts

 Where the outcome of a revenue contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognized by 

reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the fi nancial year (percentage-of-

completion method), except where this would not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations 

in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that they have been agreed with 

the customer.

 Where the outcome of a revenue contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognized to 

the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. Contract costs are recognized as 

expenses in the period in which they are incurred. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed 

total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately.

 At the end of the fi nancial year, the aggregated costs incurred plus recognized profi t (less recognized loss) 

on each contract is compared against the progress billings. Where costs incurred plus the recognized 

profi ts (less recognized losses) exceed progress billings, the balance is presented on the face of the 

statements of fi nancial position as “Gross amount due from customers on contract work-in-progress”. 

Where progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognized profi ts (less recognized losses), the balance 

is presented as “Gross amount due to customers on contract work-in-progress”.

 

 Progress billings not yet paid by customers and retentions are included in “Trade and other receivables”.

2.22 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits with fi nancial institutions, bank 

overdrafts, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount 

of cash and are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the consolidated 

statement of cash fl ows, cash and cash equivalents exclude deposits pledged with the fi nancial institutions 

as collateral and are presented net of bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and which form an 

integral part of the Group’s cash management.

2.23 Non-current assets (or disposal groups), held for sale

 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classifi ed as held-for-sale when their carrying amount will be 

recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and the sale is highly 

probable with the asset (or disposal group) being available for immediate sale in its present condition. 

Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to be completed within one year 

from the date of classifi cation.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.23 Non-current assets (or disposal groups), held for sale (Continued)

 They are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment 

loss on initial classifi cation and subsequent measurement is recognized as an expense. Any subsequent 

increase in fair value less costs to sell (not exceeding the accumulated impairment loss that has been 

previously recognized) is recognized in profi t or loss.

2.24 Leases

 Finance leases
        

 Leases are classifi ed as fi nance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 

and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases are classifi ed as 

operating leases.

 Assets held under fi nance leases are recognized as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception 

of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability 

to the lessor is recognized as a fi nance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between 

fi nance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the 

remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profi t or loss, unless they are 

directly attributable to the acquisition, construction of production of qualifying assets, in which case they 

are capitalized in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see Note 2.5). 

 Operating leases

 The Group as lessee

 Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 

of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 

economic benefi ts from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases 

are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

 In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognized 

as a liability. The aggregate benefi t of incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a 

straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 

which economic benefi ts from the leased asset are consumed.

 The Group as lessor 

 Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 

lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which user benefi t 

derived from the leased asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an 

operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term.

2.25 Provisions
        

 Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 

past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 

be made of the amount of the obligation.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.25 Provisions (Continued)

 The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 

the present obligation at the end of the fi nancial year, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 

surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash fl ows estimated to settle the 

present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash fl ows.

 When some or all of the economic benefi ts required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 

from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 

received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

 Changes in the estimated timing or amount of the expenditure or discount rate are recognized in profi t or 

loss as they arise.

2.26 Segment reporting

 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may 

earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenue and expenses that relate to transactions with any 

of the Group’s other components. Management makes decision about resources to be allocated to the 

segment and assess its performance. Segment manages report directly to the management of the Group. 

Additional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 41, including the factors used to 

identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information. 

2.27 Government grants 

 Government grants are recognized at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 

be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Grant related to income is presented as a 

credit in profi t or loss under “Other operating income”. 

2.28 Contingencies

 A contingent liability is:-

 

 (a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confi rmed only by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 

the Group; or

 (b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognized because:-

  (i) it is not probable that an outfl ow of resources embodying economic benefi ts will be required 

to settle the obligation; or

  

  (ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with suffi cient reliability.

 A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confi rmed 

only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the 

control of the Group.

 Contingencies are not recognized on the statements of fi nancial position of the Group, except for 

contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair 

value can be reliably determined.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.29 Related parties

 A related party is defi ned as follows:-

 (a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and Company if that 

person:-

  (i) Has control or joint control over the Company;

  (ii) Has signifi cant infl uence over the Company; or

  (iii) Is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or Company or of a parent of 

the Company.

 (b) An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions applies:-

  (i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

  (ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of 

a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

  (iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

  (iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity;

  (v) The entity is a post-employment benefi t plan for the benefi t of employees of either the 

Company or an entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a plan, the 

sponsoring employers are also related to the Company;

  (vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identifi ed in (a);

  (vii) A person identifi ed in (a)(i) has signifi cant infl uence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

 Associates are related parties and include those that are associates of the holding and/or related 

companies.

 Key management personnel

 Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing 

and controlling the activities of the Group and the Company, directly or indirectly, including any director 

(whether executive or otherwise) of that company. 

 

3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 The Group made judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities that were not readily apparent from other sources in the application of the Group’s accounting 

policies. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 

other factors that are considered to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from 

the estimates.
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3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

3.1 Critical judgements made in applying the Group’s accounting policies

 Determination of functional currency

 The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies of the Company 

and its subsidiaries. In determining the functional currencies of the respective entities in the Group, 

judgement is required to determine the currency that mainly infl uences sales prices of goods and services 

and of the country whose competitive forces and regulations mainly determines the sales prices of 

its goods and services. The functional currencies of the entities in the Group are determined based on 

the local management’s assessment of the economic environment in which the entities operate and the 

respective entities’ process of determining sales prices. 

 Impairment of available-for-sale equity instrument 

 At the end of each fi nancial year, an assessment is made on whether there is objective evidence that an 

available-for-sale equity instrument is impaired. A signifi cant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 

security below its cost is considered in determining whether the asset is impaired. Judgement is used in 

determining what a signifi cant or prolonged decline is. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, 

among other factors, historical share price movements and the duration and extent to which the fair value 

of an investment is less than its cost. Refer to Note 19 to the fi nancial statements. 

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 The estimates and assumptions that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year are discussed below.

 Contracts revenue

 The Group recognizes contract revenue and contract costs using the percentage-of-completion method 

based on management’s judgement. Signifi cant assumptions are required to estimate the total contract 

costs which affect the contract costs recognized to date based on the stage of completion. In making 

these estimates, management has relied on past experience.

 The carrying amount of the construction contract work-in-progress as at the end of the reporting period 

can be subjected to uncertainty in respect of the variation works and estimation of future costs. The 

Group adopts a conservative approach in evaluating these uncertainties. Refer to Note 21 to the fi nancial 

statements.  

 Investment property

 The Group carries its investment property at fair value, with changes in fair values being recognized in profi t 

or loss. The Group engaged independent valuation specialist to determine fair value as at reporting date. 

 The fair value of investment property is determined by independent real estate valuation expert using 

recognized valuation techniques, i.e. Direct Market Comparison Method. Refer to Note 11 to the fi nancial 

statements.  
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3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

 The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives after taking into 

account of their estimated residual values. The estimated useful life refl ects management’s estimate of the 

period that the Group intends to derive future economic benefi ts from the use of the Group’s property, plant 

and equipment. The residual value refl ects management’s estimated amount that the Group would currently 

obtain from the disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal, as if the asset were 

already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. Changes in the expected level 

of usage and technological developments could affect the economics, useful lives and the residual values 

of these assets which could then consequentially impact future depreciation charges. Refer to Note 12 to 

the fi nancial statements.

 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries 

 At the end of each fi nancial year, an assessment is made on whether there is objective evidence that the 

Company’s investments in subsidiaries are impaired. The management’s assessment is based on the 

estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) by forecasting the expected future cash 

fl ows for a period up to 5 years, using a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of 

those cash fl ows. Refer to Note 13 to the fi nancial statements.

 Impairment of goodwill

 Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating 

units (“CGU”) to which goodwill has been allocated. The value-in-use calculation requires the entity to 

estimate the future cash fl ows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to 

calculate present value. No impairment loss was recognized during the fi nancial year. Refer to Note 16 to 

the fi nancial statements.

 Inventory valuation method

 Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Management reviews the Group’s inventory 

levels in order to identify slow-moving and obsolete merchandise and identifi es items of inventory which 

have a market price, being the merchandise’s selling price quoted from the market of similar items, that is 

lower than its carrying amount. Management then estimates the amount of inventory loss as an allowance 

on inventory. Changes in demand levels, technological developments and pricing competition could affect 

the salability and values of the inventory which could then consequentially impact the Group’s results, cash 

fl ows and fi nancial position.  Refer to Note 20 to the fi nancial statements.

 Allowance for trade and other receivables

 The provision policy for doubtful receivables of the Group is based on the ageing analysis and 

management’s continuous evaluation of the recoverability of the outstanding receivables. In assessing the 

ultimate realization of these receivables, management considers, among other factors, the creditworthiness 

and the past collection history of each customer. If the fi nancial conditions of these customers were to 

deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be 

required. Refer to Notes 22 and 23 to the fi nancial statements.
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3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

 Provision for income taxes

 The Group has exposure to income taxes in several jurisdictions of which a portion of these taxes arose 

from certain transactions and computations for which ultimate tax determination is uncertain during 

the ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes liabilities of expected tax issues based on their 

best estimates of the likely taxes due. Where the fi nal tax outcome of these matters is different from 

the amounts that were initially recognized, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 

positions in the period in which such determination is made. Refer to Notes 9, 32 and statements of 

fi nancial position.

4. Revenue

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Sales of goods 9,056 9,090

Rendering of services 61,166 82,587

Contract revenue 9,195 7,291

79,417 98,968

5.  Other operating income

Group
Note 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Amortization of deferred income 36 – 1

Dividend income – 3

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 277 –

Gain on disposal of non-current asset held-for-sale – 262

Gain on foreign exchange differences, net 225 –

Gain on fair value adjustments of investment property 11 1,020 1,370

Grant received from government 555 –

Interest income from banks 51 15

Interest income from third party 147 –

Rental income from investment property 11 105 331

Rental income from leasing of working tools  243 67

Reimbursement of costs 50 35

Sale of scrap materials 183 –

Written back of allowance for doubtful trade receivables 22 55 90

Written back of provision for contract costs 34 650 –

Miscellaneous income 608 407

4,169 2,581
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6. Finance expenses

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Bank loans interest 642 889

Bank overdrafts interest 66 42

Factoring interest and charge 57 26

Finance lease interest 226 117

991 1,074

7. (Loss)/Profi t before income tax

 In addition to the charges and credits disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the statement of comprehensive 

income, the following charges/(credit) were included in the determination of (loss)/profi t before income tax:-

Group
Note 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Audit fees paid to auditors:

 - Auditors of the Company 240 200

 - Other auditors 95 76

Non-audit fees paid to auditors of the Company 2 8

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables 22 648 282

Allowance for doubtful other receivables 23 2,264 –

Amortization of club membership 18 10 18

Amortization of intangible assets 17 192 236

Bad debts written off (trade) 5,804 143

Depreciation of property, plant and  equipment 12 4,836 4,658

Directors’ fees 40 400 400

Inventories recognized as an expense in cost of sales 3,725 7,149

Inventories written off – 25

Key management personnel compensation 40 2,027 2,103

Loss on foreign exchange differences, net – 501

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 67

Operating lease expense

 - land and building 4,525 3,418

 - equipment 463 2,215

 - motor vehicles 1,055 915

Property, plant and equipment written off 1 97

Staff costs (including key management personnel compensation) 8 25,949 25,547

 

 There is no non-audit fee paid to the auditors of its subsidiaries.
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8. Staff costs (including key management personnel compensation)

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Salaries and bonuses 21,156 21,073

Employers’ contribution to defi ned contribution plan 3,080 2,786

Other related staff costs 1,713 1,688

25,949 25,547

9. Income tax expense

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Current income tax 

- Current 510 1,338

- Over-provision in prior fi nancial years (13) (111)

497 1,227

Deferred income tax (Note 32)

- Current (157) 868

- Under/(Over)-provision in prior fi nancial years 15 (45)

Total tax expense 355 2,050

 Domestic income tax is calculated at 17% (2012: 17%) of the estimated assessable (loss)/profi t for the 

fi nancial year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

 The income tax expenses varied from the amount of income tax expense determined by applying the 

Singapore income tax rate of 17% (2012: 17%) to (loss)/profi t before income tax as a result of the following 

differences:- 

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

(Loss)/Profi t before income tax (6,957) 8,508

Income tax at statutory rate (1,183) 1,446

Add/(Less):-

Effect of non-allowable items 1,764 476

Effect of income not subject to tax (559) (356)

Effect of tax exemptions (221) (107)

Effect of different tax rates of overseas operations (464) 483

Unrecognized deferred tax benefi ts 605 64

Utilization of tax losses and capital allowances brought forward (43) –

Under/(Over)-provision in prior fi nancial years 2 (156)

Others 454 200

Total tax expense 355 2,050
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9. Income tax expense (Continued)

 The subsidiary, Chasen Sino-Sin (Beijing) Hi-Tech Services Pte Ltd, has received the approval from the 

relevant authority in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) for some tax incentives from years 2006 to 

2012; 15% enterprise tax for year 2006, full exemption from years 2007 to 2009 and 50% tax on normal 

enterprise tax rate from years 2010 to 2012. The enterprise tax rate in China is 25% (2012: 25%).  

 Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law which was promulgated on 22 February 2008, dividends 

distributed by PRC entities for profi ts generated before 1 January 2008 are exempt from withholding tax. 

Dividend paid in respect of profi ts generated on or after 1 January 2008 will be subject to a withholding tax 

of 5%.

 At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with the 

undistributed earnings of the subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognized is 

approximately S$804,000 (RMB4,059,000) [2012: S$387,000 (2012: RMB2,180,000)]. No liability has 

been recognized in respect of these differences because the Group is in a position to control the timing 

of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future.

 Unrecognized deferred income tax assets

 The following deferred income tax assets are not recognized in the statements of fi nancial position as it 

is presently uncertain the extent timing and quantum of future taxable profi t that will be available against 

which the Group and the Company can utilize the benefi ts as follows:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Unabsorbed tax losses 6,123 2,991

Unutilized capital allowances 902 485

7,025 3,476

Unrecognized deferred tax benefi ts 1,195 590

 Tax losses do not expire under current legislation and are available for set-off against future taxable profi ts 

subject to meeting certain statutory requirements by those companies with unrecognized tax losses in their 

respective country of incorporation. No deferred tax asset has been recognized due to the unpredictability 

of future profi t streams of certain subsidiaries. These losses may be carried indefi nitely subject to the 

conditions imposed by law.



Chasen Holdings Limited     Annual Report 201380

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013

10. Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share 

 Basic (loss)/earnings per share

 Basic (loss)/earnings per share are calculated by dividing (loss)/profi t for the fi nancial year attributable 

to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 

fi nancial year.

 The following table refl ects the (loss)/profi t and share date used in the computation of basic (loss)/earnings 

per share:-

Group
2013 2012

(Loss)/Profi t for the fi nancial year attributable to owners of the Company

 (S$’000) (5,355) 7,262

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for basic earnings

 per share (‘000) 249,818 236,928

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (cents) (2.14) 3.07

 Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

 Diluted (loss)/earnings per share are calculated by dividing (loss)/profi t for the fi nancial year attributable 

to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 

fi nancial year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion 

of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. 

 The weighted average number of shares on issue has been adjusted as if all dilutive shares were exercised. 

The number of shares that could have been issued upon the exercise of all dilutive shares less the number 

of shares that could have been issued at fair value (determined as the Company’s average share price for 

the fi nancial year) for the same total proceeds is added to the denominator as the number of shares issued 

for consideration. No adjustment is made to the (loss)/profi t for the fi nancial year.

 The effect of the exercise of share awards on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is 

as follows:-

Group
2013 2012

(Loss)/Profi t for the fi nancial year attributable to owners of the Company

 (S$’000) (5,355) 7,262

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in calculation of basic (loss)/

 earnings per share (‘000) 249,818 236,928

Adjusted for – weighted average number of unissued ordinary shares from

 shares under Performance Share Plan (‘000) 2,073 810

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (diluted) (‘000) 251,891 237,738

Fully diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents) (2.13) 3.05
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11. Investment property

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

At beginning of fi nancial year 3,060 6,765

Gain on fair value adjustments included in profi t or loss (Note 5) 1,020 1,370

Reclassifi ed to non-current asset, held-for-sale (Note 26) – (5,075)

At end of fi nancial year 4,080 3,060

 Investment property is stated at fair value, which has been determined based on valuations performed 

as at 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012. The valuation was performed by Premas Valuers & Property 

Consultants Pte. Ltd., an independent valuer with a recognized and relevant professional qualifi cation and 

with recent experience in the location and category of properties being valued. The valuation is based on 

the property’s highest-and-best-use using the Direct Market Comparison Method.

 The investment property amounting to S$4,080,000 (2012: S$3,060,000) is mortgaged to secure bank 

loans (Note 30).

 The following amounts are recognized in profi t or loss:- 

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Rental income from investment property (Note 5) 105 331

Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from 

 rental-generating investment property 441 362

 

 The investment property held by the Group at the reporting date is as follows:- 

Description and location Tenure
Unexpired 
lease term

Factories located at 6 Tuas Avenue 20 Singapore 638820 60 years 40 years
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12. Property, plant and equipment

 

Group

Leasehold 
building / 

Renovation
Transportation 

equipment
Tools and 
equipment

Furniture,
fi ttings, 

and offi ce 
equipment Total

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Cost 
At 31 March 2011 4,350 12,011 15,966 1,897 34,224

Acquisition of subsidiaries 

 (Note 13(d)) 77 501 775 117 1,470

Acquisition of a joint venture 

 (Note 15) – 28 2 – 30

Additions 212 2,201 3,445 175 6,033

Disposals / Written-off (121) (266) (258) (7) (652)

Exchange translation differences 18 143 187 17 365

At 31 March 2012 4,536 14,618 20,117 2,199 41,470

Additions 41 1,601 1,264 229 3,135

Disposals / Written-off (603) (1,750) (1,267) (278) (3,898)

Exchange translation differences (3) (52) (17) (6) (78)

At 31 March 2013 3,971 14,417 20,097 2,144 40,629

Accumulated depreciation
At 31 March 2011 1,918 5,820 7,663 1,185 16,586

Acquisition of subsidiaries 

 (Note 13(d)) 78 296 483 96 953

Acquisition of a joint venture 

 (Note 15) – 9 – – 9

Depreciation 311 1,629 2,421 297 4,658

Disposals / Written-off (39) (109) (75) (6) (229)

Exchange translation differences 11 42 77 11 141

At 31 March 2012 2,279 7,687 10,569 1,583 22,118

Depreciation 211 1,756 2,620 249 4,836

Disposals / Written-off (521) (1,745) (1,266) (274) (3,806)

Exchange translation differences (1) (22) (4) (3) (30)

At 31 March 2013 1,968 7,676 11,919 1,555 23,118

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2012 2,257 6,931 9,548 616 19,352

At 31 March 2013 2,003 6,741 8,178 589 17,511

 Property, plant and equipment of the Group with carrying amount of S$5,094,000 (2012: S$4,400,000) 

were acquired under fi nancial lease arrangements (Note 31).

 During the fi nancial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of 

S$3,135,000 (2012: S$6,033,000) of which S$2,184,000 (2012: S$2,090,000) were acquired by means of 

fi nance leases. Cash payments of S$951,000 (2012: S$3,943,000) were made to purchase property, plant 

and equipment.
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12. Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

 In addition, the Group’s leasehold building with a carrying amount of S$1,711,000 (2012: S$2,257,000) are 

mortgaged to secure the Company’s bank loans (Note 30) and certain credit facilities granted from banks. 

 Details of the leasehold buildings held by the Group as at 31 March 2013 are set out below:-

Company Description and location Tenure 
Unexpired 
lease term

Chasen Logistics 

   Services Limited

Factory cum offi ce building located at 18 Jalan 

Besut Singapore 619571

21 years 11 years

Global Technology 

   Synergy Pte Ltd

Warehouse cum office building located at 7030 

Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5 #04-46 Northstar Builing 

Singapore 569880

60 years 54 years & 9 

months

Hup Lian Engineering 

   Pte Ltd

Factory cum offi ce located at 56 Senoko Road 

Woodlands East Industrial Estate Singapore 758120

11 years 2 years & 7 

months

13. Investment in subsidiaries

Company
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Unquoted equity share, at cost 38,075 38,075

 The details of the subsidiaries are as follows:-

Name of subsidiary

Place of business 
/ Country of 

incorporation Principal activities

Effective equity 
interest held

by the Company
2013 2012

% %

Held by the Company
Chasen Logistics Services Limited (i) Singapore Relocation services, 

industrial packing, 

warehousing, 

transportation, freight 

forwarding and shipping

100 100

Chasen Logistics & Engineering Services 

 Pte Ltd (i)

Singapore Investment holding 100 100

Ruiheng International Pte Ltd (i) Singapore Investment holding 100 100

REI Technologies Pte Ltd (i) Singapore Engineering services 100 100

CLE Engineering Services Pte Ltd (i) Singapore Investment holding 100 100

Chasen Leasing Pte Ltd (i) Singapore Leasing 100 100
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place of business 
/ Country of 

incorporation Principal activities

Effective equity 
interest held

by the Company
2013 2012

% %

Held by Chasen Logistics Services Limited

DNKH Logistics Pte Ltd (i) Singapore Provider of freight 

forwarding, logistics, 

transportation and general 

warehousing services

60

(Note a)

100

Held by Chasen Logistics & Engineering Services Pte Ltd

Chasen (Shanghai) Hi Tech Machinery 

 Services Pte Ltd (ii)

People’s Republic 

of China (“PRC”)

General activities relating 

to high value machinery 

and equipment

100 100

Chasen Sino-Sin (Beijing) Hi Tech 

 Services Pte Ltd (iv) 

PRC General activities relating 

to high tech machinery 

and equipment, and 

relocation services

100 100

Chasen Logistics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (ii) PRC Provision of relocation, 

packaging and 

warehousing services

100 100

Chasen Sinology (Beijing) Logistics 

 Co., Ltd (iv) 

PRC Provision of artifact 

packaging and 

transportation services

100 100

EONS Global Holdings Pte Ltd (formerly 

 known as Lelecai Pte Ltd) (i) 
Singapore Provision of management 

consultancy services

–

(Note b)

100

Held by Ruiheng International Pte Ltd

Chasen Logistics Sdn Bhd (iii) Malaysia Provider of logistics and 

transportation services

100 100

City Zone Express Sdn Bhd (iii) Malaysia Provider of third party 

logistics services, 

transporting and 

warehousing service

73.2 73.2

Liten Logistics Services Pte Ltd (viii) Singapore Machinery and equipment 

moving, general 

warehouse and logistics 

management

100 100
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place of business 
/ Country of 

incorporation Principal activities

Effective equity 
interest held

by the Company
2013 2012

% %

Held by REI Technologies Pte Ltd

REI Hitech Sdn Bhd (iii) Malaysia Providing services on 

cryogenic pump

100 100

REI Promax Technologies Pte Ltd (i) Singapore Precision manufacturing 

of machine tool 

accessories

32 32

Held by CLE Engineering Services Pte Ltd

Goh Kwang Heng Pte Ltd (i) Singapore Scaffolding service 

provider to marine and 

construction industries

100 100

Goh Kwang Heng Scaffolding Pte Ltd (i) Singapore Scaffolding equipment 

services

100 100

Global Technology Synergy Pte 

 Ltd (i) 

Singapore General building 

engineering service, 

process engineering and 

construction

100 100

Hup Lian Engineering Pte Ltd (i) Singapore Engineering and structural 

steel fabrication supplier 

and installer

51 51

REI Promax Technologies Pte Ltd (i) Singapore Precision manufacturing 

of machine tool 

accessories

23 23

Held by Hup Lian Engineering Pte Ltd

HLE International Pte Ltd (i) Singapore Investment holding 100 100

HLE Construction & Engineering Sdn 

 Bhd (iii) #

Malaysia Construction and 

engineering, projects and 

general trading

53

(Note c)

–

Shanghai FengChuang Enterprise 

 Management Consultant Co., Ltd (vi) 

PRC Management consultancy 100 100

Shanghai ZhuangHe Construction Co., 

 Ltd (vii) 

PRC Construction and 

engineering works

100 100

Shanghai FengChuang M & E Equipment 

 Co., Ltd (vi) 

PRC Design, engineering, 

installation of machinery 

and equipment

100 100
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place of business 
/ Country of 

incorporation Principal activities

Effective equity 
interest held

by the Company
2013 2012

% %

Held by REI Promax Technologies Pte Ltd

Suzhou Promax Communication

 Technology Co., Ltd (v) 

PRC Contract manufacturing 100 100

Held by Global Technology Synergy Pte Ltd

Towards Green Sdn Bhd (iii) Malaysia Engineering and 

contracting work

100 100

EONS Global Holdings Pte Ltd (formerly 

 known as Lelecai Pte Ltd) (i) 
Singapore Provision of management 

consultancy services

100

(Note b)

–

EONS Global Water (JL) Co., Ltd (ix) PRC Operate the purifi ed water 

treatment plant and waste 

water treatment plant

100

(Note b)

–

Held by Liten Logistics Services Pte Ltd

Liten Holdings Pte Ltd (viii) Singapore Investment holding 100 100

 (i) Audited by Mazars LLP, Singapore.

 (ii) Audited by Shanghai Hai Ming Certifi ed Public Accountants Co., Ltd, PRC for local statutory audit and audited by ShineWing 

Certifi ed Public Accountants PRC, for consolidation purposes.

 (iii) Audited by Grant Thornton, Malaysia. 

 (iv) Audited by Beijing HengChengYongXin Certifi ed Public Accountants, PRC for local statutory audit and audited by ShineWing 

Certifi ed Public Accountants, PRC for consolidation purposes.

 (v) Audited by Suzhou Jianxin Certifi ed Public Accountants Co., Ltd, PRC for local statutory audit and audited by ShineWing 

Certifi ed Public Accountants, PRC for consolidation purposes.

 (vi) Audited by Shanghai Hua Cheng Certifi ed Public Accountants Co., Ltd, PRC. 

 (vii) Audited by Shanghai Zhi Yuan Certifi ed Public Accountants Co., Ltd, PRC.

 (viii) Audited by ShineWing LLP, Singapore. 

 (ix) No auditor has been appointed yet.

 #  HLE Construction & Engineering Sdn Bhd is considered to be a subsidiary as it is 53% held by Hup Lian Engineering Pte Ltd 

who in turn is 51% directly owned by the Company. 

 For the purpose of Rule 716(1) of the Listing Manual, the Directors and the Audit Committee of the 

Company are satisfi ed that the appointment of different auditors for its subsidiaries would not compromise 

the standard and effi ciency of the audit of the Company, having regard to the size and experience of the 

audit fi rms.
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (Continued) 

 Financial year ended 31 March 2013

 (a) Divestment of a subsidiary to non-controlling interests – DNKH Logistics Pte Ltd 

  On 4 May 2012, DNKH Logistics Pte Ltd (“DNKH”), the wholly-owned subsidiary of Chasen Logistics 

Services Limited (“CLSG”) (the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary), has increased its issued and 

paid-up capital from S$100,000 to S$1,000,000 as part of its corporate restructuring as follows:-

  (i) Capitalization of the CLSG’s loan of S$500,000 to DNKH by way of issue and allotment of 

500,000 ordinary shares in the share capital of DNKH.

  (ii) Capitalization of S$384,057 retained profi ts of DNKH by way of issue and allotment of 

384,057 ordinary shares to a General Manager (“GM”) of DNKH. 

  (iii) Issue and allotment of 15,943 new ordinary shares to GM which had been fully paid by GM. 

  Following the above transactions, CLSG holds 60% and GM holds 40% equity interest in the share 

capital of DNKH. As a result, the Group has diluted of 40% equity interest in DNKH.

 (b) Transfer of its subsidiary – EONS Global Holdings Pte Ltd (formerly known as Lelecai Pte 
Ltd)

  On 28 August 2012, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Chasen Logistics & Engineering 

Services Pte. Ltd., has transferred 100% of its ownership in EONS Global Holdings Pte Ltd 

(formerly known as Lelecai Pte Ltd) to Global Technology Synergy Pte Ltd as part of its corporate 

restructuring exercise.

  On 28 September 2012, EONS Global Holdings Pte Ltd has incorporated a wholly-owned 

subsidiary, namely EONS Global Water (JL) Co. Ltd, in Jilin City, PRC, to operate the purifi ed water 

treatment plant and a waste water treatment plant respectively. 

 (c) Incorporation of a subsidiary – HLE Construction & Engineering Sdn. Bhd. 

  On 19 June 2012, the Company’s 51% owned subsidiary, Hup Lian Engineering Pte Ltd (“HLE”), 

had entered into a conditional shareholders agreement with Sinomedia Sdn. Bhd. (“Sinomedia”) 

to establish a company, HLE Construction & Engineering Sdn. Bhd. (“HLEC&E”) which was 

incorporated on 18 May 2012 with a paid-up share capital of RM2. Pursuant to the shareholders 

agreement, HLE holds 53% equity interest in HLEC&E on 21 June 2012. As at 31 March 2013, this 

has been recorded as an investment in a subsidiary in the Group’s fi nancial statements.

 Financial year ended 31 March 2012

 (d) Acquisition of subsidiaries – Liten Logistics Services Pte Ltd and Liten Holdings Pte Ltd

  On 13 April 2011, Ruiheng International Pte Ltd acquired 100% equity interest in Liten Logistics 

Services Pte Ltd and Liten Holdings Pte Ltd (collectively known as “Liten Group”), both companies 

are incorporated in Singapore, for a purchase consideration of S$3,882,292. The provisional fair 

value of the net identifi able liabilities of Liten Group was S$303,824.
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)

 Financial year ended 31 March 2012 (Continued)

 (d) Acquisition of subsidiaries – Liten Logistics Services Pte Ltd and Liten Holdings Pte Ltd 
(Continued)

  The fair value of the identifi able assets and liabilities of Liten Group as at acquisition date was:-

Fair value 
recognized on 

acquisition
S$’000

Property, plant and equipment 517

Intangible assets 312

Trade and other receivables 1,116

Deferred tax assets 172

Trade and other payables (2,637)

Cash and cash equivalents 216

Total identifi able net liabilities at fair value (304)

Goodwill arising from acquisition (Note 16) 4,186

Total consideration 3,882

Consideration transferred for the acquisition of Liten Group 

Cash paid 153

Equity instruments issued (11,907,534 ordinary shares of Chasen Holdings Limited) 3,729

Total consideration transferred 3,882

Effect of the acquisition of Liten Group on cash fl ows

Total consideration for 100% of equity interest acquired 3,882

Less: Non-cash consideration (3,729)

153

Less: Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries acquired (216)

Net cash infl ow on acquisition (63)

  Equity instruments issued as part of consideration transferred

  In connection with the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Liten Group, the Group issued 

11,907,534 ordinary shares with a fair value of S$0.3132 each. The fair value of these shares was 

based on the volume weighted average closing price per share for the 5 trading days prior to the 

signing of the agreement.

  Transaction costs

  Transaction costs related to the acquisition of S$48,000 had been recognized in the “Administrative 

expenses” line item in the Group’s profi t or loss for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2012. 
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)

 Financial year ended 31 March 2012 (Continued)

 (d) Acquisition of subsidiaries – Liten Logistics Services Pte Ltd and Liten Holdings Pte Ltd
  (Continued)

  Goodwill arising from acquisition

  The goodwill of S$4,186,000 arising from acquisition was attributable to the expected synergies 

arising from the combination of complementary capabilities to extend the scope of logistics services 

available from the Company’s Group to the regional market covering Singapore, Malaysia, Vietnam, 

PRC and elsewhere.

  Intangible assets 

  Intangible assets identifi ed related to non-contractual customer relationships which were attributable 

to long-term relationships with its major customers since incorporation. The remaining useful life was 

estimated at 6 years. 

  Impact of the acquisition on profi t or loss

  Liten Group was acquired at the beginning of the fi nancial year and full year results had been 

consolidated into the Group’s fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2012. 

 (e) Acquisition of non-controlling interests – City Zone Express Sdn Bhd

  On 6 February 2012, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary company, Ruiheng International Pte 

Ltd, acquired an additional 13.2% equity interest in City Zone Express Sdn Bhd (“CZE”) from its non-

controlling interests for a cash consideration of S$195,106 (including the contingent consideration of 

S$60,081). As a result of this acquisition, CZE is 73.2% owned subsidiary of the Group. The carrying 

value of the net assets of CZE as at 6 February 2012 was S$1,767,545 and the carrying value of the 

additional interest acquired was S$233,316. The difference of S$38,210 between the consideration 

and the carrying value of the additional interest acquired had been recognized in “Retained Profi ts” 

within equity.

  The following summarized the effect of the change in the Group’s ownership interest in CZE on the 

equity attributable to owners of the Company:-

S$’000

Consideration paid for acquisition of non-controlling interests 195

Decrease in equity attributable to non-controlling interests (233)

Increase in equity attributable to owners of the Company (38)
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14. Investment in an associate

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Unquoted equity share, at cost 1,000 1,000 200 200

Share of profi ts/(losses) of an associate – – – –

1,000 1,000 200 200

 

 The details of the associate are as follows:-

Name of associate

Place of business 
/Country of 

incorporation Principal activities

Effective equity 
interest held

by the Company
2013 2012

% %

Held by the Company
Caitong Investments Pte Ltd * Singapore Investment holding 6 6

Held by HLE International Pte Ltd
Caitong Investments Pte Ltd * Singapore Investment holding 24 24

 

 * Audited by Kit Yee & C., Singapore.

 The summarized fi nancial information of the associate, not adjusted for the proportion of ownership interest 

held by the Group, is as follows:- 

2013 2012
S$’000 S$’000

Assets and liabilities:
Total assets 1 1

Total liabilities (5) (5)

Results:
Revenue – –

Profi t/(Loss) for the fi nancial year – –
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15. Investment in joint ventures

 The Group has the following signifi cant interests in joint ventures:-

Name of joint venture

Place of business 
/Country of 

incorporation Principal activities

Effective equity 
interest held

by the Company
2013 2012

% %

Held by Chasen Logistics Services Limited 
Chasen Globus Logistics Pte Ltd (i) Singapore Provider of third party 

logistics services
# - 50

Held by Ruiheng International Pte Ltd
Chasen Transport Logistics Company
 Limited (ii)

Vietnam Provider of third party 
logistics services and 
warehousing

49 49

 (i) Audited by ShineWing LLP, Singapore.

 (ii) No auditor has been appointed yet.

 # On 8 April 2013, the indirect 50% joint venture company, Chasen Globus Logistics Pte Ltd, has been struck off from the 

Register of Companies pursuant to Section 344(2) of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50.

 The following amounts are included in the Group’s fi nancial statements as a result of the proportionate 

consolidation of its jointly-controlled entities is as follows:-

2013 2012
S$’000 S$’000

Assets and liabilities:
Total assets 251 51

Total liabilities (135) (23)

Results:
Income 437 41

Expenses (237) (82)

 Acquisition of a joint venture – Chasen Transport Logistics Company Limited

 On 29 September 2011, Ruiheng International Pte Ltd acquired 49% equity interest in Chasen Transport 

Logistics Company Limited (“CTL”), a company incorporated in Vietnam, for a purchase consideration 

of S$57,000 as a form of joint venture. The fair value of the net identifi able liabilities acquired of CTL as 

at acquisition date was S$26,000. The difference of S$83,000 between the consideration and the net 

identifi able liabilities acquired has been recognized as goodwill (Note 16). Net cash outfl ow on acquisition 

was S$42,000 excluding the cash and cash equivalents in joint venture acquired.  
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16. Goodwill on consolidation

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

At cost
At beginning of fi nancial year 10,649 6,380

Arising from acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 13(d)) – 4,186

Arising from acquisition of a joint venture (Note 15) – 83

At end of fi nancial year 10,649 10,649

 Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating units 
(“CGU”) that are expected to benefi t from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill had 
been allocated as follows:-

Relocation 
services

Technical & 
engineering 

services Total 
S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

2013
Singapore 4,186 6,224 10,410

People’s Republic of China 66 90 156

Vietnam 83 – 83

4,335 6,314 10,649

2012
Singapore 4,186 6,224 10,410

People’s Republic of China 66 90 156

Vietnam 83 – 83

4,335 6,314 10,649

 Impairment testing of goodwill

 The Group tests CGU annually for impairment or more frequent if there are indications that goodwill might 
be impaired. 

 The recoverable amounts of the CGU are determined from value-in-use calculations. Cash fl ow projections 
used in the value-in-use calculations were based on fi nancial budgets approved by management covering 
a fi ve-year period. The key assumptions for these value-in-use calculations are those regarding the 
discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period. 
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that refl ect current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specifi cs to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry growth 
forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of 
future changes in the market.

 Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations

Group
2013 2012

Gross margin (i) 11% - 28% 10% - 34.5%

Growth rate (ii) 1%  10%

Discount rate (iii) 8% - 9% 11% - 15%
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16. Goodwill on consolidation (Continued)

 Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)  

 Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations (Continued)

 (i) Budgeted gross margins are based on average values achieved in the three to six years preceding 

the start of the budget period.

 (ii) The forecasted growth rates are based on published industry research relevant to the CGUs.

 (iii) Pre-tax discount rate applied to the pre-tax cash fl ows projections.

 The directors of the Company believe that any reasonable possible changes in the above key assumptions 

applied are not likely to materially cause the recoverable amount to be lower than its carrying amount.

 No impairment loss was recognized during the fi nancial year (2012: Nil).

17. Intangible assets

Group Know–how*

Non–
contractual 
customer

relationship** Total
S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2011 417 654 1,071

Exchange translation differences 11 – 11

Additions (Note 13(d)) – 312 312

At 31 March 2012 428 966 1,394

Exchange translation differences (1) – (1)

At 31 March 2013 427 966 1,393

Accumulated amortization
At 1 April 2011 53 – 53

Amortization charge for the fi nancial year 53 183 236

At 31 March 2012 106 183 289

Amortization charge for the fi nancial year 53 139 192

At 31 March 2013 159 322 481

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2012 322 783 1,105

At 31 March 2013 268 644 912

 * Cost on Know-how is attributable to the skills and technical talent in relation to the artifact packaging and transportation 

business.

 **   Cost on Non-contractual customer relationships is attributable to long-term relationship with its major customers since 

incorporation.
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17. Intangible assets (Continued)

 Impairment testing of know-how 

 The recoverable amount of the know-how was determined based on value in use calculation. This 

calculation uses cash fl ow projections based on fi nancial budgets approved by management covering a 

fi ve-year period. Cash fl ows beyond the fi ve-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate 

of 1% (2012: 52%) per annum. The growth rate used is based on management expectation of growth in 

the marine, construction and logistics industry in which the subsidiary companies operate. The discount 

rate is 12% (2012: 16%) and has been applied to the cash fl ow projections. 

18. Club membership

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Carrying amount
At beginning of fi nancial year 20 38 9 25

Less: Amortization charge for the fi nancial year (10) (18) (9) (16)

At end of fi nancial year 10 20 – 9

 The club membership of S$75,000 was paid for by the Group for the benefi t of directors in accordance 

with their Service Agreement (“Agreement”). Accordingly, the directors held the membership in trust for the 

Group. Pursuant to the Agreement, the directors are entitled to benefi t from the membership as long as 

they maintain their role as an Executive Director of the Group up to 1 April 2012 for 5 years’ term and up to 

1 April 2023 for 15 years’ term. Upon completion of the specifi ed term (5 and 15 years), the benefi t of the 

club will be entirely vested in the director. Consequently, the membership will be deemed disposed.

 The amortization of club membership is included in the “Other operating expenses” line items in profi t or 

loss. 

19. Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

Group and Company
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

At beginning of fi nancial year 1,135 2,710

Loss on fair value changes recognized in other comprehensive income (127) (1,575)

At end of fi nancial year 1,008 1,135

 Details of the available-for-sale fi nancial assets are as follows:-

Group and Company
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Equity shares 
Quoted at fair value 632 711

Unquoted at cost 376 424

Total 1,008 1,135
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19. Available-for-sale fi nancial assets (Continued)

 On 3 August 2009, the Company had announced that it had invested in Greater Bendigo Gold Mines Ltd 
(“GBM”), a company listed on Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”), held through its subsidiary Far Pacifi c 
Capital Ltd (“FPC”). Through a private placement, the Company acquired 13,500,000 shares representing 
approximately 12.18% of the enlarged shareholding in GBM for a cash consideration of AU$405,000 
(equivalent to S$475,000).  

 On 16 April 2010, the Company had announced that it subscribed 16,875,000 new shares in GBM for 
a cash consideration of AU$422,000 (equivalent to S$545,000). The subscription was made pursuant to 
a non-renounceable rights issue (“GBM Rights Issue”) on the basis of 5 new shares for every 4 existing 
shares together with 1 free option, which expires on 31 March 2012, for each 3 new shares subscribed.

 Following the subscription, the Company’s shareholding in GBM increased from 13,500,000 shares to 
30,375,000 shares. After the GBM Rights Issue, the Company’s shareholding is 9.06% of the enlarged 
share capital of GBM. 

 As at 31 March 2013, the Company’s shareholding is 4.55% (2012: 5.89%).

 The Company has classifi ed this investment since fi nancial year ended 31 March 2009 as available-for-sale 
fi nancial assets in accordance to FRS 39. Fair value changes in this fi nancial asset will be recognized and 
charged to other comprehensive income accordingly. 

 *  AU$: Australian dollars

20.  Inventories

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Raw materials 689 641

Work-in-progress 841 –

Finished goods 787 563

Consumables 31 40

2,348 1,244
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21.  Gross amount due from customers on contract work-in-progress

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Aggregate costs incurred and recognized profi ts (less recognized losses) to 

 date on uncompleted construction contract 4,523 4,734

Less: Progress billings (3,934) (3,531)

Gross amount due from customers on contract work-in-progress 589 1,203

Retention sums on construction contracts included in trade receivables 621 1,150

 The currency profi les of the Group’s gross amount due from customers on contract work-in-progress as at 
31 March are as follows:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Singapore dollars (2) 734

Chinese Renminbi – 469

Malaysian Ringgit 591 –

589 1,203

22. Trade receivables

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Non-current
Third parties – 201

Current 
Third parties 32,000 37,433

Retention receivables 621 1,150

Less: Allowance for doubtful trade receivables (847) (338)

31,774 38,245

Total 31,774 38,446

 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and the average credit period on sale of goods is range from 

30 to 90 (2012: 30 to 90) days according to the terms agreed with the customers. They are recognized at 

their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition. 

 The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-current trade receivables approximate their fair values.
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22. Trade receivables (Continued)

 Allowances made in respect of estimated irrecoverable amounts are determined by reference to past 

default experience. The carrying amount of trade receivables individually determined to be impaired is as 

follows:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Past due more than 90 days  847 338

 Movements in the allowance for doubtful receivables are as follows:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

At beginning of fi nancial year 338 225

Allowance charged to profi t or loss 648 282

Allowance written back to profi t or loss (55) (90)

Allowance written off during the fi nancial year (84) (79)

At end of fi nancial year 847 338

 The currency profi les of the Group’s trade receivables as at 31 March are as follows:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Singapore dollars 17,434 21,139

Chinese Renminbi 9,868 13,243

Euro 40 26

Malaysian Ringgit 2,595 2,324

United States dollars 1,837 1,712

Thai Baht – 2

31,774 38,446
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23. Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Non-current
Loan to an associate 496 496 214 214

Current
Advances to suppliers 1,431 – – –

Deposits paid 1,339 2,034 4 1,000

Dividend receivables – – 1,000 1,000

Other receivables 3,020 4,729 701 559

Less: Allowance for doubtful other receivables (296) – (172) –

2,724 4,729 529 559

Prepayments for concession rights 2,480 – – –

Prepayments for assets 5,107 – – –

Prepayments for marketing expenses 1,282 – – –

Other prepayments 2,031 2,665 52 148

Less: Allowance for doubtful prepayments for 

 assets (1,968) – – –

8,932 2,665 52 148

14,426 9,428 1,585 2,707

Total 14,922 9,924 1,799 2,921

 The loan to an associate is unsecured, interest-free, and not expected to be repaid within the next twelve 

months. The loan is considered to be part of the Group’s and the Company’s net investment in the 

associate.

 Other receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting date relates to 

receivables that are in signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties, facing signifi cant uncertainties in prepayments or have 

defaulted in payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements. 

 Movements in the allowance for doubtful other receivables are as follows:-

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

At beginning of fi nancial year – – – –

Allowance charged to profi t or loss 2,264 – 172 –

At end of fi nancial year 2,264 – 172 –
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23. Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (Continued)

 The currency profi les of the Group’s and Company’s other receivables, deposits and prepayments as at 31 

March are as follows:-

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Singapore dollars 4,588 4,905 1,459 2,410

Australian dollars 340 511 340 511

Chinese Renminbi 8,726 3,892 – –

Malaysian Ringgit 1,244 411 – –

United States dollars 24 205 – –

14,922 9,924 1,799 2,921

24. Amounts due from subsidiaries

 The amounts due from subsidiaries (net) are non-trade in nature, unsecured and are repayable on demand. 

Except for certain amounts due from subsidiaries bears effective interest rate at 4.25% (2012: 4.25%) per 

annum. 

 The currency profi les of the Company’s amounts due from subsidiaries (net) as at 31 March are as follows:-

Company
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Singapore dollars 28,933 29,045

Malaysian Ringgit (91) (94)

United States dollars (75) (75)

28,767 28,876

25. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Cash and bank balances 6,331 9,296 916 200

Fixed deposits placed with banks 1,375 1,404 – –

7,706 10,700 916 200

 Cash at banks earns interest at fl oating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

 The fi xed deposits were pledged to fi nancial institutions as securities for banking facilities and performance 

guarantees of the Group. 

 Fixed deposits of the Group bear interest rates ranging from 0.05% to 1.35% (2012: 0.10% to 1.35%) per 

annum with average maturity period ranging from one to twelve (2012: one to twelve) months at the end of 

the fi nancial year. 
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25. Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

 The currency profi les of the Group’s and Company’s cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March are as 
follows:-

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Singapore dollars 5,276 5,240 880 176

Chinese Renminbi 1,041 4,137 – –

Japanese Yen 12 15 – –

Malaysian Ringgit 620 597 – –

United States dollars 756 699 36 24

Vietnamese Dong 1 12 – –

7,706 10,700 916 200

 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash fl ows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the 
following at the end of the fi nancial year:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Cash and bank balances 7,706 10,700

Bank overdrafts (Note 30) (1,425) (499)

Fixed deposits pledged (1,375) (1,404)

Cash and cash equivalents 4,906 8,797

26.  Non-current asset, held-for-sale

 In January 2011, Singapore Land Authority has issued Notice of Acquisition of the piece of land along 
36 Tuas West Road, Singapore 638384. The leasehold factories located at 36 Tuas West Road, 
Singapore 638384 with a gross fl oor area of approximately 5,017 square metres, has been reclassifi ed 
from investment property to non-current asset, held-for-sale on the statements of fi nancial position, which 
amounted to S$5,075,000 (2012: S$5,075,000) are mortgaged to secure bank loans (Note 30). The 
transaction is completed in April 2013. 

27. Share capital

Group Company
No. of 
shares

No. of 
shares

‘000 S$’000 ‘000 S$’000

Issued and fully paid, with no par value

At 1 April 2011 230,298 36,947 230,298 66,475

Issued for acquisition of subsidiaries (1) 11,908 3,729 11,908 3,729

Issued for warrants (2) 4,536 1,361 4,536 1,361

At 31 March 2012 246,742 42,037 246,742 71,565

Issued for warrants (3) 1 * - 1 * -

At 31 March 2013 246,743 42,037 246,743 71,565

 * Denotes amount less than S$1,000
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27. Share capital (Continued)

 The equity structure (number and types of equity issued) at the end of the fi nancial year represents that 
of the Company, being the legal parent. However, for the purpose of reverse acquisition, the amount of 
the share capital of the Group represents that of the Acquired Group (legal subsidiary) before the reverse 
acquisition. 

 (1) Issue of 11,907,534 consideration shares at S$0.31 per share for acquisition of Liten Group (refer to 
Note 13). All issued ordinary shares are fully paid.

 (2) Issue of 4,535,834 consideration shares at S$0.30 per share. All issued ordinary shares are fully 
paid.

 (3) Issue of 874 consideration shares at S$0.30 per share. All issued ordinary shares are fully paid.

 Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends as and when declared by 
the Company.

 Chasen Performance Share Plan (The “Plan”)

 Under the Plan, eligible participants are conferred rights by the Company on shares to be issued or 
transferred (“Awards”). The Plan contemplates the award of fully paid shares free of charge when and after 
pre-determined performance or service conditions are accomplished and/or due recognition is given to any 
good work performance and/or any signifi cant contribution to the Company.

 The rationale of the Plan is to provide an opportunity for the Directors and full-time employees of the Group 
to participate in the equity of the Company so as to align their interest with that of the shareholders. It 
would also give recognition to employees of the Group who have contributed to its success and to 
motivate them to greater dedication, loyalty and higher standard of performance. The participants are not 
required to pay for the grant of Awards or for the shares allocated pursuant to an Award.

 From the commencement of the Plan to 31 March 2013, awards comprising an aggregate of 5,314,562 

shares have been granted.

 As at 31 March 2013, details of performance shares awarded under the Plan are set out as below:-

Date of grant

Share Awards 
granted since 

commencement 
of Plan to end 

of fi nancial year 
under review

Share Awards 
vested since 

commencement 
of Plan to end 

of fi nancial year 
under review

Share Awards 
cancelled since 
commencement 
of Plan to end 

of fi nancial year 
under review

Share Awards 
outstanding 
as at end of 

fi nancial year 
under review

23 August 2007 476,000 (476,000) Nil Nil

1 September 2008 970,000 (864,500) (105,500) Nil

27 July 2009 189,000 (189,000) Nil Nil

22 February 2010 1,346,912 (1,307,282) (39,630) Nil

31 March 2011 1,069,200 (378,160) (123,800) 567,240

30 March 2012 1,263,450 Nil Nil 1,263,450

 The Group and the Company recognized total expenses of S$200,000 (2012:S$199,000) and S$28,000 

(2012: S$199,000) respectively related to the transactions for this Plan during the fi nancial year. 
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28. Treasury shares

Group and Company
2013 2012

No. of 
shares

No. of 
shares

’000 S$’000 ’000 S$’000

At beginning of fi nancial year 154 32 35 9

Repurchased during the fi nancial year 31 7 901 215

Transferred during the fi nancial year (152) (32) (782) (192)

At end of fi nancial year 33 7 154 32

 Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that is held by the Company. 

 During the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013, the Company has released 152,070 (2012: 782,230) 

shares pursuant to the vesting of 152,070 (2012: 782,230) out of the 5,314,562 (2012: 5,314,562) 

performance shares awarded by transferring of treasury shares to the eligible participants.

 During the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013, the Company acquired 31,000 (2012: 901,000) of its 

own shares through purchase on the SGX-ST during the fi nancial year. The total amount paid to acquire 

the share was S$7,000 (2012: S$215,000) and this was presented as a component within shareholders’ 

equity.

29. Other reserves 

 Capital reserve

 Capital reserve represents a contingent payment to the former owner of the acquired subsidiary, Shanghai 

FengChuang Enterprise Management Consultant Co., Ltd.. 

 Foreign currency translation reserve 

 Foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of the 

fi nancial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s 

presentation currency.  

 Performance share plan reserve

 Performance share plan reserve represents the conferred rights by the Company on shares to be issued 

or transferred (“Awards”) to the employees whom are not required to pay for the grant of Awards or for the 

shares allocated pursuant to an Award. Refer to Note 27 to the fi nancial statements.

 Fair value adjustment reserve

 Fair value adjustment reserve represents the cumulative fair value changes, net of tax, of available-for-sale 

fi nancial assets until they are disposed of or impaired.
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30. Bank overdrafts and loans 

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Bank overdrafts  1,425 499 – –

Bank loans 16,621 10,211 1,000 1,500

18,046 10,710 1,000 1,500

 Bank loans are repayable over a period of 1 month to 20 years, as follows:-

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Within one year 15,206 9,296 1,000 1,500

After one year but within fi ve years 1,263 715 – –

After fi ve years 152 200 – –

16,621 10,211 1,000 1,500

 The effective interest rates per annum were as follows:-

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Bank overdrafts 5.00% to

6.20%

5.10% to 

13.88%

– –

Bank loans

1.68% to 

10.88%

1.73% to 

11.00%

1.73% to

3.11%

1.73% to 

2.99%

 The banking facilities are secured by the following:-

 (a) legal mortgage of the Group’s investment property and leasehold buildings;

 (b) corporate guarantee by the Company and its subsidiary, Chasen Logistics Services Limited;

 (c) pledge of fi xed deposits amounting to about S$1,375,000 (2012: S$1,404,000) (Note 25);

 (d) personal guarantee from certain directors of the Group; and

 (e) assignment of contract proceeds from specifi c projects undertaken by a subsidiary. 

 The carrying amounts of the Group’s and Company’s bank overdrafts and loans approximate their fair 

values. 
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30. Bank overdrafts and loans (Continued)

 The currency profi les of the Group’s and Company’s bank overdrafts and loans as at 31 March are as 

follows:-

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Singapore dollars 12,802 6,012 1,000 1,500

Chinese Renminbi 3,356 3,065 – –

Malaysia Ringgit 24 – – –

United States dollars 1,864 1,633 – –

18,046 10,710 1,000 1,500

31. Finance lease payables

 The Group has fi nance leases for certain transportation equipment and tools and equipment. These leases 

do not have renewal clauses but provide the Group with options to purchase the leased assets at nominal 

values at the end of the lease term.

 Future minimum lease payments under fi nance leases together with the present value of the net minimum 

lease payments are as follows:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Minimum 
lease 

payments

Present 
value of 

minimum 
lease 

payments

Minimum 
lease 

payments

Present 
value of 

minimum 
lease 

payments

Within one year 2,135 1,936 1,557 1,399

After one year but within fi ve years 2,543 2,384 2,190 2,032

After fi ve years 40 36 – –

Total minimum lease payments 4,718 4,356 3,747 3,431

Less: Future fi nance charges (362) – (316) –

Present value of minimum lease payments 4,356 4,356 3,431 3,431

 The fi nance lease terms range from 2 to 10 years. 

 The effective interest rates charged during the fi nancial year range from 1.88 % to 7.57 % (2012: 2.20% to 

7.54%) per annum. Interest rates are fi xed at the contract dates, and thus expose the Group to fair value 

interest rate risk (Note 43). As at the end of the fi nancial year, the fair values of the Group’s fi nance lease 

obligations approximate their carrying amounts.   

 All leases are on a fi xed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental 

payments.



105Chasen Holdings Limited     Annual Report 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013

31. Finance lease payables (Continued)

 The Group’s fi nance lease payables are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets, which will revert 

to the lessors in the event of default by the Group. 

 The currency profi les of the Group’s fi nance lease payables as at 31 March are as follows:-

  

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Singapore dollars 3,106 2,649

Malaysian Ringgit 810 782

United States dollars 440 –

4,356 3,431

32. Deferred tax liabilities

 The movements for the fi nancial year in deferred tax position are as follows:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

At beginning of fi nancial year 1,533 870

Charged to profi t or loss (157) 868

Under/(Over)-provision in prior fi nancial years 15 (45)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 13(d)) – (172)

Exchange translation differences (5) 12

At end of fi nancial year 1,386 1,533

 Principally arises as a result of excess of carrying amount over tax written down value of property, plant and 

equipment.

33. Trade payables 

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Third parties 9,289 10,652

 Trade payables are non-interest bearing and the average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 (2012: 

30) days according to the terms agreed with the suppliers.
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33. Trade payables (Continued) 

 The currency profi les of the Group’s trade payables as at 31 March are as follows:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Singapore dollars 5,756 6,230

Chinese Renminbi 2,142 3,877

Malaysian Ringgit 1,261 297

Thai Baht – 22

United States dollars 130 226

9,289 10,652

34. Other payables and accruals 

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Amounts due to directors 192 28 – –

Deposits received 513 328 – –

Accruals 3,839 6,114 590 432

Other payables 5,024 5,690 39 106

9,568 12,160 629 538

 Amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest-free, and are repayable on demand. 

 Accruals mainly consist of accrued operating expenses. Other payables consist of insignifi cant items 

individually. 

 

 In the prior fi nancial year, an amount of S$650,000 included in accruals of the Group being the provision 

for contract costs, which has been fully written back in the current fi nancial year and recorded under “Other 

operating income”. The legal claims are disclosed in Note 39(b) to the fi nancial statements.

 The currency profi les of the Group’s and Company’s other payables and accruals as at 31 March are as 

follows:-

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Singapore dollars 8,062 9,814 629 538

Chinese Renminbi 1,043 2,128 – –

Malaysian Ringgit 352 203 – –

United States dollars 111 15 – –

9,568 12,160 629 538
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35. Derivative fi nancial instruments 

Group
2013 2012

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Foreign currency forward contracts – – – 170

 During the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2012, the Group utilized currency derivatives to hedge signifi cant 

future transactions and cash fl ows. The Group was a party to a variety of forwards foreign exchange 

contracts in the management of its exchange rate exposures. The instruments purchased were primarily 

denominated in the currencies of the Group’s principal markets.

 At the end of the reporting date, the total notional amount of outstanding foreign currency forward 

contracts to which the Group is committed are as follows:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Foreign currency forward contracts – 10,632

 The following table details the foreign currencies forward contracts outstanding as at the end of the 

reporting date. 

Average of forward 
exchange rates

Foreign 
currency Contract value Fair value

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Group
Sell United States

 dollars less than 

 3 months – 1.239 – 8,600 – 10,632 – (170)

36. Deferred income

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

At beginning of fi nancial year – 1

Amortization charged for the fi nancial year (Note 5) – (1)

At end of fi nancial year – –

 Deferred income relates to the unearned fi nance income arising from fi nance leases resulting from 

asset sale and leaseback transactions. The deferred income is being amortized over the lease term and 

denominated in Malaysian Ringgit at the reporting date. 
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37. Operating lease commitments

 The Group as lessee

 At the end of the reporting date, the Group has commitments for future minimum lease payments under 

non-cancellable operating leases in respect of the leasehold buildings, warehouses and offi ce equipment as 

follows:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Future minimum lease payments payable:-

Within one year 4,341 1,972

After one year but within fi ve years 12,805 1,759

After fi ve years 2,650 2,750

19,796 6,481

 The leases have its tenure from 6 months to 30 years, with an option to renew the lease for another 1 to 

30 years subject to certain conditions being met. Lease payments are increased upon renewal to refl ect 

market rentals. There are no restrictions placed upon the Company by entering into these leases. The 

lease expenditure charged to profi t or loss during the fi nancial year is disclosed in Note 7 to the fi nancial 

statements. 

 The Group as lessor

 The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property and warehouses. These 

non-cancellable leases have remaining lease terms from 1 to 3 years. All leases include a clause to enable 

upward revision of the rental charge on an annual basis based on prevailing market conditions. 

 At the end of the fi nancial year, future minimum rental receivables under non-cancellable operating leases 

are as follows:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Future minimum lease payments receivable:-

Within one year 1,607 2,001

After one year but within fi ve years 456 1,312

2,063 3,313
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38. Capital commitments

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Capital commitments contracted but not provided for:-

Property (i) – 32,000

Plant and equipment 402 211

 (i) Subsequent to the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2012, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, 

Chasen Logistics Services Limited had entered into a Put and Call Option Agreement (“PCOA”) on 

1 June 2012 in respect of the purchase of 6 Pioneer Walk, Singapore 627751 for a total purchase 

consideration of S$32 million. On 25 November 2012, the PCAO had lapsed as unsuccessful in 

securing the necessary approval from the government.

39. Contingencies 

 Financial guarantees 

 As at 31 March 2013, the Company has given corporate guarantees up to S$57,674,000 (2012: 

S$33,403,000) to certain banks and fi nancial institutions for credit facilities granted to the subsidiaries, 

mainly for the subsidiaries which have projects in China and required project fi nancing. The Company has 

evaluated the fair value of the corporate guarantee. Consequently, the Company is of the view that the 

fair value of the guarantees to the banks and fi nancial institutions with regard to the subsidiaries is not 

signifi cant. The subsidiaries for which the guarantees were provided are also in favourable equity positions 

and are profi table.

 As the end of the fi nancial year, the Company had also given undertakings to certain subsidiaries (Note 13) 

to provide continued fi nancial support to these subsidiaries to enable them to operate as going concerns 

and to meet their obligations as and when they fall due for at least 12 months from the fi nancial year end.

 Legal claims
 

 (a) Chasen Holdings Limited

  On 25 January 2011, the Company has extended a loan of AU$400,000 to Far Pacifi c Capital 

Limited (“FPC”) which was guaranteed by FPC’s director, Ian Smith. There is no repayment as 

of June 2012 and the Company has engaged a lawyer to send a statement of claim to FPC in 

March 2012. However, FPC argues that the alleged loan is inherently connected to an investment 

agreement between the Company and FPC under which FPC claim that the Company owes FPC 

AU$2.6 million.

  On 3 December 2012, the Company has entered into a settlement agreement with FPC to recover 

the total outstanding loan of AU$500,000 (including AU$100,000 from Ian Smith, the majority 

shareholder of FPC), and conversion of its equity in and convertible notes of FPC, in the form of 

45,247,500 ordinary shares of Greater Bendigo Gold Mines Ltd (“GBM”). The transfer has to be 

completed and effected by 30 June 2013.
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39. Contingencies (Continued)

 Legal claims (Continued)
 

 (a) Chasen Holdings Limited (Continued)

  As this transaction has not been completed as of year-end, the management has performed an 

impairment assessment on the loan amount based on 16,333,333 of GBM ordinary shares 

(represented by the management for loan portion only based on the value of GBM shares as of 

the date which the claims fall due) using the share price of GBM (listed at Australian Securities 

Exchange) as at 31 March 2013, at AU$0.016 per share. The management has made impairment 

accordingly and recorded S$171,622 to profi t or loss (Note 23). The carrying amount of the loan was 

at S$339,577 as at year-end.

  The Group’s lawyer in his report dated 14 May 2013 confi rmed that all issues in the case were 

settled on 3 December 2012. The settlement was full and fi nal, subject to implementation of the 

settlement by 30 June 2013. Accordingly, the management is confi dent that, no provision of any 

liability is required.

 (b) Hup Lian Engineering Pte Ltd

  A claim amount of S$7,497,000 inclusive of 7% GST for work done has been submitted for 

arbitration during the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2010 in accordance with the conditions in the 

contract of award for the Dreamworld project (“Project”) executed by the Group’s subsidiary, Hup 

Lian Engineering Pte Ltd (“HLE”). The total claim submitted for arbitration is S$9 million of which an 

amount of S$5,768,000 has been booked as trade receivables (Note 22) as at 31 March 2012. A 

further sum of S$650,000 has been set aside as provision for contract cost (back claims) for this 

project (Note 34). The other party has counter claimed a sum of S$1,690,000 against the Group for 

alleged overpayment of contract sum.

  On 10 April 2013, HLE had settled its dispute in arbitration with Kingsmen Exhibits Pte Ltd 

(“Kingsmen”) in respect of the Project. HLE had submitted a claim totaling S$12.9 million for the 

Project of which S$7.2 million was paid prior to the commencement of arbitration proceedings. 

Kingsmen submitted a counter-claim of S$1.7 million for arbitration. The Settlement involved 

Kingsmen paying a sum of S$8.15 million to HLE, which was S$954,000 more than what HLE had 

been paid to date for the Project.

  As a result, HLE has booked bad debts written off of S$5.1 million (net off of trade receivables of 

S$5,768,000, retention receivables of S$317,000 and settlement of S$954,000) and written back of 

provision for contract cost of S$650,000 (Note 34). The net effect recorded in profi t or loss is a loss 

of S$4,481,000.

  The terms of the Settlement as stated above were agreed to the Group lawyer’s report dated 30 

April 2013.
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40. Signifi cant related party transactions 
 

 Apart from the disclosures made elsewhere in these fi nancial statements, the following signifi cant 

transactions took place between the Company and its related parties on terms agreed between the parties 

during the fi nancial year:-

Company
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Subsidiaries 
Fund transferred to subsidiaries 22 3,031

 Key management personnel remuneration

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Salaries and bonuses 1,492 1,442

Employers’ contribution defi ned contribution plan 93 79

Share-based payments 21 133

Profi t sharing 335 371

Other allowances 86 78

2,027 2,103

Comprise amounts paid to:

Directors of the Company 767 873

Other key management personnel 1,260 1,230

2,027 2,103

Directors’ fees
Directors of the Company 400 400

 The key management personnel comprise directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, senior 

management of the Company such as Chief Financial Controller, General Managers and others, and their 

compensation is disclosed as above.
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41. Segment information 

 The Group is organized into business units based on their products and services, and has three reportable 

segments as follows:-

 A. Relocation services – being the provision of machinery and equipment moving services through 

projects or maintenance contracts;  

 B. Third party logistics services – being the provision of packing services and the supply of packaging 

and crating materials, the provision of warehousing of customers’ new or replaced machinery and 

equipment in our premises or open yard prior to installation in the customers’ premises or shipping 

out of the country and land transportation services using specialized conveyance vehicles and 

material handling equipment; and

 C. Technical and engineering services – being the provision of turnkey facilities and engineering 

solutions, repair and maintenance services to customers in the high tech electronic industries, 

construction projects of customers in the marine, property development, oil and gas industries and 

contract manufacturing services in the electronic, telecommunications and other high technology 

industries.

 Except as indicated above, no operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable 

operating segments. 

 Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making 

decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated 

based on operating profi t or loss which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured 

differently from operating profi t or loss in the consolidated fi nancial statements. Group fi nancing (including 

fi nance expenses) and income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating 

segments. 

 Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to 

transactions with third parties.  

 Segment revenue and expense are the operating revenue and expense reported in the Group’s 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income that are directly attributable to a segment and the 

relevant portion of such revenue and expense that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment.

 Segment assets consist principally of property, plant and equipment and trade receivables that are directly 

attributable to a segment.

 Unallocated items comprise property, plant and equipment, other receivables, deposits and prepayments, 

fi xed deposits, cash and cash equivalents, bank loans and overdrafts, trade payables, other payables and 

accruals, deferred tax liabilities, income tax payable, fi nance lease payables, other operating income and 

expenses.
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41. Segment information (Continued)

 Analysis by business segment 

Relocation
Services

Thirty Party 
Logistics Services

Technical and 
Engineering 

Services Total
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Revenue:
External sales 17,810 42,722 21,403 23,604 40,204 32,642 79,417 98,968

Results:
Gross profi t 4,664 16,984 5,687 7,025 5,958 3,302 16,309 27,311

Unallocated other 

 operating income 2,951 1,196

Unallocated expenses (12,745) (15,063)

Allowance for doubtful 

 receivables (2,857) (192)

Bad debts written off (5,804) (143)

Interest income 198 15

Interest expense (991) (1,074)

Depreciation and 

 amortization (5,038) (4,912)

Fair value gains on 

 investment property 1,020 1,370

(Loss)/Profi t before 
 income tax (6,957) 8,508

Segment assets:
Trade receivables 7,494 12,585 9,006 6,952 15,274 18,909 31,774 38,446

Property, plant and 

 equipment 7,190 9,679 3,210 2,503 7,111 7,170 17,511 19,352

Non-current asset, 

 held-for-sale 5,075 5,075

Unallocated assets 43,224 40,040

Total assets 97,584 102,913

Segment liabilities:
Trade payables 946 2,348 865 1,019 7,478 7,285 9,289 10,652

Bank loans 7,662 3,138 4,875 1,657 3,084 3,915 15,621 8,710

Unallocated liabilities 17,826 19,907

Total liabilities 42,736 39,269

Other material 
 non-cash items:
Depreciation and 

 amortization 2,366 2,277 491 377 1,923 1,904 4,780 4,558

Unallocated depreciation 

 and amortization 258 354

5,038 4,912

Capital expenditure 336 2,981 1,352 1,017 1,447 2,035 3,135 6,033
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41. Segment information (Continued)

 Analysis by geographical segment 

 Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 

respectively are as follows:-

Revenue Segment assets Capital expenditure
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Singapore 56,632 57,968 64,784 67,451 2,489 2,229

People’s Republic of China 11,415 31,489 25,757 30,252 95 3,211

Malaysia and Vietnam 11,370 9,511 7,043 5,210 551 593

79,417 98,968 97,584 102,913 3,135 6,033

 Information about a major customer

 Revenue from one major customer amounted to S$8,740,124 (2012: S$11,663,842) arising from sales in 

the Technical and Engineering Services segment (2012: Relocation Services segment). 

42. Fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities  

 The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and payables, 

non-current and current bank loans (secured) at fl oating rate (Note 30), non-current and current fi nance 

lease payables at prevailing market rate (Note 31), approximate their respective fair values due to the 

relative short term maturity of these fi nancial instruments. The fair values of other classes of fi nancial assets 

and liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to the fi nancial statements. 

 The fair values of applicable fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities are determined as follows:- 

 (a) the fair values of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and 

which trade in active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices (Level 1 

of  fair value hierarchy);

 (b) in the absence of quoted market prices, the fair values of the other fi nancial assets and fi nancial 

liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined using the other observable inputs such 

as quoted prices for similar assets/liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar 

assets/liabilities in non-active markets or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the 

asset or liability (Level 2 of fair value hierarchy);

 (c) in the absence of observable inputs, the fair values of the remaining fi nancial assets and fi nancial 

liabilities (excluding derivatives instruments) are determined in accordance with generally accepted 

pricing models (Level 3 of fair value hierarchy); and

 (d) the fair value of derivative instruments are calculated using quoted prices (Level 1 of fair value 

hierarchy). Where such prices are unavailable, discounted cash fl ow analysis is used, based on the 

applicable yield curve of the duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives, and option 

pricing models for optional derivatives (Level 3 of fair hierarchy).
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42. Fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities (Continued)

 The Group holds its fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities carried at fair value or at valuation by level of fair 

value hierarchy as follows:-

 

Group

Quoted prices
in active

markets for
identical

instruments
(Level 1)

Signifi cant
other

observable
inputs

(Level 2)

Signifi cant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3) Total

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

2013
Financial assets:

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets (Note 19) 632 – – 632

2012
Financial assets:

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets (Note 19) 711 – – 711

Financial liabilities:

Derivative fi nancial instruments (Note 35) – 170 – 170

 During the fi nancial year, there is no change in the valuation technique of the various classes of fi nancial 

instruments. 

43. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks

 The Group’s activities expose it to credit risks, market risks (including foreign currency risks, interest rate 

risks and equity price risks) and liquidity risks. The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to 

minimize adverse effects from the volatility of fi nancial markets on the Group’s fi nancial performance. 

 The Group uses fi nancial instruments such as foreign currency forward contracts to hedge certain fi nancial 

risk exposures. 

 The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of fi nancial risk 

management for the Group. The management then establishes the detailed policies such as authority 

levels, oversight responsibilities, risk identification and measurement, exposure limits and hedging 

strategies, in accordance with the objectives and underlying principles approved by the Board of Directors. 

The Audit Committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process. 

It is, and has been throughout the current and previous fi nancial year, the Group’s policy that no derivatives 

shall be undertaken except for the use as hedging instruments where appropriate and cost-effi cient. The 

Group and the Company do not apply hedge accounting.  

 There have been no changes to the Group’s exposure to these fi nancial risks or the manner in which it 

manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated 

below.
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43. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Credit risks

 Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding fi nancial instruments should a counterparty 
default on its obligations. The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimizing losses 
incurred due to increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy 
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to 
credit verifi cation procedures and generally do not require a collateral. In addition, receivable balances are 
monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not signifi cant.

 The Group’s and Company’s major classes of fi nancial assets are bank deposits and trade and other 
receivables. 

 Bank deposits are mainly deposits with banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit rating 
agencies. Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are with creditworthy debtors 
with good collection track record with the Group. 

 The age analysis of trade receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:- 

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Not past due 11,881 9,813

Past due 0 – 30 days 3,689 4,371

Past due 31 – 60 days 4,202 5,661

Past due 61 – 90 days 1,387 2,512

Past due more than 90 days 10,615 16,089

Total 31,774 38,446

 The movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the fi nancial year are 
disclosed in Note 22 to the fi nancial statements. 

 Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period relate to 
debtors that are in signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are 
not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements. 

 Based on past experience, except for certain trade receivables balances that impaired, the Group believes 
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of the remaining trade receivables due to the good 
payment track record of its customers.

 
 Credit risk concentration profi le

 The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector profi le 
of its trade receivables on an ongoing basis. The credit risk concentration profi le of the Group’s trade 
receivables at the end of the reporting period is as follows:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

By country:
Singapore 20,432 24,333

People’s Republic of China 8,326 11,583

Malaysia and Vietnam 3,016 2,530

31,774 38,446
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43. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Credit risks (Continued)

 Credit risk concentration profi le (Continued)

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

By industry sectors:
Relocation services 7,494 12,585

Third party logistics services 9,006 6,952

Technical and engineering services 15,274 18,909

31,774 38,446

 At the end of the reporting date, approximately:-

  34% (2012: 22%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from 6 (2012: 2) major customers who 

are providing Technical and Engineering services located in Singapore and China. 

  57% (2012: 51%) of the Group’s trade and other receivables were due from related parties while 

almost all of the Company’s receivables were balances with related parties. 

 Market risks

 The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the fi nancial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange 

rates and interest rates. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 

exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

 The Group enters into a variety of derivative fi nancial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign 

currency risks, including foreign currency forward contracts to hedge against foreign currency risk. 

 Foreign currency risks

 The Group transacts business in various foreign currencies, including, Australian dollar, Chinese Renminbi, 

Euro, Japanese Yen, Malaysian Ringgit and United States dollar, other than the respective functional 

currencies of the Group, and hence is exposed to foreign currency risks. These risks are managed either 

by foreign currency forward contracts in respect of actual or forecast currency exposures through natural 

hedges arising from a matching sale, purchase or a matching of assets and liabilities of the same currency 

and amount.

 Foreign currency forward contracts are used to manage exposure to foreign exchange risk arising from 

operational activities. The measurement and recognition of such contracts are in accordance with FRS 

39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. As at 31 March 2013, the notional value of the 

foreign currency forward contracts amounted to US$Nil (2012: US$8,600,000), which is equivalent to S$Nil 

(2012: S$10,632,000). Refer to Note 35 to the fi nancial statements.



Chasen Holdings Limited     Annual Report 2013118

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013

43. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Market risks (Continued)

 Foreign currency risks (Continued)

 The carrying amounts of the Group’s and Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and 

monetary liabilities as at the end of the fi nancial year are as follows:- 

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Monetary assets
Australian dollar 340 511 340 511

Chinese Renminbi 19,635 21,272 – –

Euro 40 26 – –

Japanese Yen 12 15 – –

Thai Baht – 2 – –

Malaysian Ringgit 4,459 3,332 – –

United States dollar 2,617 2,616 36 24

Vietnamese Dong 1 12 – –

Monetary liabilities
Chinese Renminbi 6,541 9,070 – –

Malaysian Ringgit 2,447 1,282 – –

Thai Baht – 22 – –

United States dollar 2,545 1,874 – –

 The Company has a number of investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are exposed to 

foreign exchange translation risk.

 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

 The Group is mainly exposed to Australian dollar, Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”), Euro, Japanese Yen, 

Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR”) and United States dollar.

 The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% change in various foreign currencies against the 

respective functional currencies of the Group entities. The sensitivity analysis assumes an instantaneous 

10% change in the foreign currency exchange rates from the end of the fi nancial year, with all variables held 

constant. 

Increase/(Decrease) in 
Equity

2013 2012
S$’000 S$’000

Group
Strengthens/weakens against SGD
Chinese Renminbi 1,720 2,110

Malaysian Ringgit 360 340

Vietnamese Dong 12 8
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43. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Market risks (Continued)

 Foreign currency risks (Continued)

 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Increase/(Decrease) in 
Profi t or Loss

2013 2012
S$’000 S$’000

Group
Strengthens/weakens against SGD
Australian dollar 28 42

Chinese Renminbi 189 184

Japanese Yen 1 1

Malaysian Ringgit 6 2

Thai Baht – 2

United States dollar 23 13

Strengthens/weakens against RMB
Singapore dollar – 13

United States dollar 43 32

Euro 3 2

Strengthens/weakens against MYR
Singapore dollar 13 –

United States dollar 7 16

Company
Strengthens/weakens against SGD
United States dollar 3 2

 Interest rate risks

 The Group’s interest rate risks relate to interest-bearing liabilities.

 The Group’s policy is to maintain an effi cient and optimal interest cost structure using a combination of 

fi xed and variable rate debts, and long and short term borrowings. 

 The Group’s and Company’s exposure to interest rate risks are disclosed in the Notes 24, 30 and 31 to the 

fi nancial statements.

 Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

 The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rate risks for both 

derivatives and non-derivative instruments at the end of the fi nancial year. For fl oating rate liabilities, the 

analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the end of the fi nancial year was 

outstanding for the whole year. The sensitivity analysis assumes an instantaneous 1% change in the 

interest rates from the end of the fi nancial year, with all variables held constant. 
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43. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Market risks (Continued)

 Interest rate risks (Continued)

Increase/(Decrease) in Profi t or Loss
Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Bank overdrafts 12 – – –

Bank loans 119 64 10 15

 Equity price risks 

 

 The Group is exposed to equity risks arising from equity investments classifi ed as available-for-sale. 

Available-for-sale equity investments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Group does 

not actively trade in available-for-sale investments.

 Further details of these equity investments can be found in Note 19 to the fi nancial statements.

 Equity price sensitivity analysis 

 The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end 

of the fi nancial year.

 The sensitivity analysis assumes an instantaneous 10% change in the equity prices from the balance sheet 

date, with all variables held constant.

Increase/(Decrease) in 
Profi t or Loss / Equity

2013 2012
S$’000 S$’000

Group and Company
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets 101 113

 Liquidity risks

 Liquidity risks refer to the risks in which the Group encounters diffi culties in meeting its short-term 

obligations. Liquidity risks are managed by matching the payment and receipt cycle. The Group’s and the 

Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of fi nancial assets 

and liabilities. The Group and the Company monitor their liquidity risk and maintain a level of cash and cash 

equivalents deemed adequate by management to fi nance the Group’s and the Company’s operations and 

to mitigate the effects of fl uctuations in cash fl ows. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain 

a balance between continuity of funding and fl exibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.  

 The Group’s operations are fi nanced mainly through equity, retained profi ts and bank borrowings. Adequate 

lines of credits are maintained to ensure the necessary liquidity is available when required. 

 The repayment terms of the fi nance leases, bank loans and overdrafts are disclosed in Notes 30 and 31 to 

these fi nancial statements respectively.
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43. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Liquidity risks (Continued)

 The Group has access to credit facilities as follows:-

Group
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Unutilized credit facilities
Bank overdraft facilities 1,414 1,346

Trade facilities 34,857 26,449

 The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative fi nancial 
instruments. The table has been drawn up based on undiscounted cash fl ows of fi nancial instruments 
based on the earlier of the contractual date or when the Group is expected to receive or (pay). The table 
includes both interest and principal cash fl ows.

1 year or 
less 

1 to 5 
years

Over 
5 years Total

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Group
2013
Financial assets:

Trade and other receivables 37,268 – – 37,268

Cash and cash equivalents 7,706 – – 7,706

44,974 – – 44,974

Financial liabilities: 

Bank overdrafts 1,425 – – 1,425

Bank loans 15,434 1,339 175 16,948

Finance lease payables 2,135 2,543 40 4,718

Trade and other payables 18,857 – – 18,857

37,851 3,882 215 41,948

Total net undiscounted fi nancial assets/(liabilities) 7,123 (3,882) (215) 3,026

2012
Financial assets:

Trade and other receivables 45,008 201 – 45,209

Cash and cash equivalents 10,700 – – 10,700

55,708 201 – 55,909

Financial liabilities: 

Bank overdrafts 499 – – 499

Bank loans 9,433 794 245 10,472

Finance lease payables 1,557 2,190 – 3,747

Trade and other payables 22,812 – – 22,812

34,301 2,984 245 37,530

Derivative: 

Derivative fi nancial instruments 170 – – 170

Total net undiscounted fi nancial assets/(liabilities) 21,237 (2,783) (245) 18,209
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43. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Liquidity risks (Continued)

On demand and 
within 1 year

2013 2012
S$’000 S$’000

Company
Financial assets:

Other receivables 1,533 2,559

Amount due from subsidiaries  28,767 28,876

Cash and cash equivalents 916 200

31,216 31,635

Financial liabilities: 

Bank loans 1,000 1,500

Other payables and accruals 629 538

1,629 2,038

Total net undiscounted fi nancial assets 29,587 29,597

 Financial instruments by category

 The carrying amount of the different categories of fi nancial instruments is as disclosed on the face of the 

statement of fi nancial position and in Notes 19, 26 and 35 to the fi nancial statements, except for the 

following:-

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Loan and receivables 44,974 55,909 31,216 31,635

Financial liabilities at amortized cost 41,259 36,953 1,629 2,038

44. Capital management

 The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group is able to continue as a going concern and 

maintains an optimal capital structure so as to maximize shareholder value. The capital structure of the 

Group consists of equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued capital, reserves 

and retained profi ts as disclosed in Notes 27, 28, 29 and statements of changes in equity.

  

 Management monitors capital based on a gearing ratio of less than one. The Group’s and the Company’s 

strategies, which were unchanged from 31 March 2012, are to maintain a gearing ratio of less than one.  

 The Group and the Company are not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements during the 

fi nancial years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012.

 The gearing ratio is calculated as net debts divided by total equity. Net debts is calculated as total 

borrowings (excluding bank overdrafts, income tax payable and deferred tax liabilities as shown in the 

statements of fi nancial position), less cash and cash equivalents (net of bank overdrafts and fi xed deposits 

pledged). Total capital is calculated as total equity as shown in the statements of fi nancial position, plus net 

debts.
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44 Capital management (Continued)

 The Group’s management reviews the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of this review, 

management considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Upon review, 

the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends to shareholders, return 

capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 31 

March 2012. 

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Total borrowings 39,834 36,624 1,629 2,038

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (4,906) (8,797) (916) (200)

Net debts 34,928 27,827 713 1,838

Total equity 54,848 63,644 69,136 69,378

Total capital 89,776 91,471 69,849 71,216

Gearing ratio 0.39 0.30 0.01 0.03

45. Dividends

Group and Company
2013 2012

S$’000 S$’000

Declared and paid during the fi nancial year
Dividend on ordinary shares:

Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2012: S$0.0060 (2011: S$0.0060) 

 per share 1,480 1,400

46. Events occur after the reporting period 
 

 Apart from the disclosures made elsewhere in these fi nancial statements, the following signifi cant events 

occur after the reporting period.

 Increase in issued and paid-up capital of subsidiaries 

 (a) HLE Construction & Engineering Sdn Bhd

  On 31 May 2013, HLE Construction & Engineering Sdn Bhd (“HLEC&E”), the subsidiary held through 

51% owned subsidiary, Hup Lian Engineering Pte Ltd, has increased its issued and paid-up capital 

from RM100,000 to RM500,000. Following the transaction, there is no change to the equity interest 

in the share capital of HLEC&E holds by its shareholders. 

 (b) EONS Global Water (JL) Co. Ltd

  On 19 June 2013, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, EONS Global Water (JL) Co. Ltd has 

increased its paid-up capital to US$2,033,837. The transaction is not expected to have any material 

impact on the consolidated net tangible assets per share and consolidated earnings per share of the 

Group for the fi nancial year ending 31 March 2014. 
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION 

Class of equity securities Number of equity securities Voting Rights

Ordinary Shares 246,710,108* One vote per share 

(excluding treasury shares)

Treasury Shares 32,502 Nil

* Excludes non-voting treasure shares

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholding
Number of 

Shareholders %
Number of 

Shares %

1 - 999 2,011 36.93 603,549 0.25

1,000 - 10,000 2,747 50.44 9,693,864 3.93

10,001 - 1,000,000 665 12.21 38,104,075 15.44

1,000,001 and above 22 0.40 198,308,620 80.38

5,445 100.00 246,710,108 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name of Shareholders
Number of 

Shares %

1. Low Weng Fatt 50,659,708 20.53

2. Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap 34,946,583 14.17

3. United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 23,212,796 9.41

4. Yeo Seck Cheong 15,122,165 6.13

5. Siah Boon Hock 8,483,901 3.44

6. Cheong Tuck Nang (Zhang Deneng) 7,851,912 3.18

7. Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd 7,102,680 2.88

8. Lim Chin Hock 6,434,691 2.61

9. OCBC Securities Private Ltd 5,366,465 2.17

10. Cho Pei Lin 4,550,000 1.82

11. CIMB Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd 4,197,787 1.70

12. Maybank Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 3,999,000 1.62

13. DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 3,938,495 1.60

14. DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 3,735,454 1.51

15. Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd 3,527,463 1.43

16. Poon Wai Ling 3,131,345 1.27

17. Lim Chor Ghee 3,037,344 1.23

18. Lim Wui Liat 2,958,681 1.20

19. Antonio Francesco Manetto 2,000,000 0.81

20. Lim Tchen Nan 1,800,000 0.73

Total: 196,006,470 79.44
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %

Low Weng Fatt (1) 50,659,708 20.53 265,000 0.11

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap 34,946,583 14.17  –  –

Yeo Seck Cheong 15,122,165 6.13  –  –

Notes:

(1) Mr Low Weng Fatt is deemed to be interested in the 265,000 shares held by his spouse.

(2) Based on the total issued and paid-up ordinary share capital of 246,710,108 Shares excluding treasury shares of 32,502 as at the 

Latest Practicable Date. 
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DISTRIBUTION OF WARRANTHOLDINGS

Size of Warrantholding
Number of 

Warrantholders %
Number of 
Warrants %

1 - 999 1,101 43.50 293,233 0.92

1,000 - 10,000 1,323 52.27 2,682,211 8.45

10,001 - 1,000,000 101 3.99 8,023,409 25.27

1,000,001 and above 6 0.24 20,757,391 65.36

2,531 100.00 31,756,244 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST WARRANTHOLDERS

No. Name of Warrantholders
Number of 
Warrants %

1. Low Weng Fatt 7,281,509 22.93

2. Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap 6,407,207 20.18

3. Siah Boon Hock 2,832,675 8.92

4. Tan See Tee 1,613,410 5.08

5. Yeo Seck Cheong 1,333,772 4.20

6. Cheong Tuck Nang (Zhang Deneng) 1,288,818 4.06

7. United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 762,258 2.40

8. Cheng Wa Sing 740,000 2.33

9. Poh Hock Chye 574,874 1.81

10. Tok Boon Seong 473,389 1.49

11. Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd 454,303 1.43

12. Lim Meng Yoke Jeffrey 372,000 1.17

13. Teoh Yee Leong 300,000 0.94

14. Yeo Loo Eng 220,000 0.69

15. Chew Choon Song 200,000 0.63

16. Chua Seng Heng 200,000 0.63

17. Koh Soy Poon 200,000 0.63

18. Karuppiah Palaniappan 195,500 0.62

19. Mak Yeow Seng 154,000 0.48

20. Tee Ah Kaw 138,000 0.43

Total: 25,741,715 81.05

SHAREHOLDING HELD IN THE HANDS OF PUBLIC

Based on information available to the Company as at 25 June 2013, approximately 51.39% of the Company’s 

total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 

Limited were held in the hands of the public. Accordingly, the Company  has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing 

Manual.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of CHASEN HOLDINGS LIMITED (“the 

Company”) will be held at Raffl es Lounge (Level 2), Raffl es Country Club, 450 Jalan Ahmad Ibrahim, Singapore 

639932, on the 26th day of July 2013 at 11.00 a.m. for the purpose of considering and if thought fi t, passing the 

following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifi cations:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company and of 

the Group for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

  (Resolution 1)

2. To declare a one-tier tax exempt fi nal dividend of $0.002 per share for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 

2013 (2012: $0.006 per share). (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect Tan Sin Huat, Dennis, a Director of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 110 of the Articles 

of Association of the Company.

 [See Explanatory Note (iv)]  (Resolution 3)

4. To re-appoint Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap, a Non-Executive Director of the Company retiring under Section 

153(6) of the Companies Act, Chapter. 50, to hold offi ce from the date of this Annual General Meeting until 

the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

 [See Explanatory Note (v)]  (Resolution 4)

5. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of $350,000 for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013. (2012: 

$400,000). (Resolution 5)

6. To re-appoint Messrs Mazars LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorize the Directors of the 

Company to fi x their remuneration. (Resolution 6)

7. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fi t, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any 

modifi cations:

8. Authority to issue shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to Section 161 of the 
Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”)

 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the 

SGX-ST, the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to: 

 (a) (i) issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

  (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would 

require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as 

adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares,

  at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the 

Directors of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fi t; and
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 (b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue 

shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this 

Resolution was in force,

 (the “Share Issue Mandate”)

 Provided that:

 (1) the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, 

made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) and Instruments to be issued pursuant to this 

Resolution shall not exceed 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in 

the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the 

aggregate number of shares and Instruments to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing 

shareholders of the Company shall not exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares (excluding 

treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) 

below);

 (2) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining 

the aggregate number of shares and Instruments that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) 

above, the number of issued shares and Instruments shall be based on the number of issued 

shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this 

Resolution, after adjusting for: 

  (a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible 

securities;

  (b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or 

subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution; and

  (c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

 (3) in exercising the Share Issue Mandate conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply 

with the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such 

compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association of the Company; and 

 (4) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, the Share Issue Mandate shall 

continue in force (i) until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or 

the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, 

whichever is earlier or (ii) in the case of shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or 

granted pursuant to this Resolution, until the issuance of such shares in accordance with the terms 

of the Instruments. 

  [See Explanatory Note (vi)] (Resolution 7)

9. Renewal of Share Buyback Mandate

 That:-

 (a) for the purposes of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, the exercise by the Directors of the Company 

of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire the Shares not exceeding in 

aggregate the Prescribed Limit (as hereinafter defi ned), at such price(s) as may be determined by the 

Directors from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereinafter defi ned), whether by way of:

  (i) on-market purchases, transacted on the SGX-ST or through one or more duly licensed 

stockbrokers appointed by the Company for the purpose (“Market Purchase”); and/or
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  (ii) off-market purchases (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST) in accordance with an equal 

access scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors as they may consider 

fi t, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies Act and the 

Listing Rules (“Off-Market Purchase”).

  (the “Share Buyback Mandate”)

 (b) unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred on the 

Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate may be exercised by the 

Directors at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from the passing of this 

Resolution and expiring on the earlier of:

  (i) the date on which the next AGM is held or required by law to be held;

  (ii) the date on which the share buybacks are carried out to the full extent mandated; or

  (iii) the date on which the authority contained in the Share Buyback Mandate is varied or revoked;

 (c) In this Resolution:

  “Prescribed Limit” means 10% of the total number of ordinary shares in the Company (excluding 

any treasury shares) as at the date of passing of this Resolution unless the Company has effected 

a reduction of the share capital of the Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of the 

Companies Act, at any time during the Relevant Period, in which event the issued ordinary share 

capital of the Company shall be taken to be the amount of the issued ordinary share capital of the 

Company as altered (excluding any treasury shares that may be held by the Company from time to 

time);

  “Relevant Period” means the period commencing from the date on which the last AGM was held 

and expiring on the date the next AGM is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the 

earlier, after the date of this Resolution; 

  “Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased, means an amount (excluding brokerage, 

stamp duties, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) not exceeding:

  (i) in the case of a Market Purchase : 105% of the Average Closing Price;

  (ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase : 120% of the Highest Last Dealt Price, where:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last 

fi ve market days, on which transactions in the Shares were recorded, preceding the day of the 

Market Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant 

5-day period;

  “Highest Last Dealt Price” means the highest price transacted for a Share as recorded on the 

market day on which there were trades in the Shares immediately preceding the day of the making 

of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase; and

  “day of the making of the offer” means the day on which the Company announces its intention to 

make an offer for the purchase of Shares from Shareholders of the Company stating the purchase 

price (which shall not be more than the Maximum Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for each 

Share and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase; and
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 (d) The Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorized to complete and do all such acts and 

things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or 

necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Resolution.

  [See Explanatory Note (vii) (Resolution 8)

10. That the proposed grant to Low Weng Fatt, an Executive Director and a Controlling Shareholder (as 

defi ned in the SGX-ST Listing Manual), of an award up to a maximum of 200,000 shares for the year 

ending 31 March 2014, in the share capital of the Company, in accordance with the Chasen Performance 

Share Plan (“Plan”) be and is hereby approved.

 [see Explanatory Notes (iii), (viii), (xi) and (xii)] (Resolution 9)

11. That the proposed grant to Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap, a Non-Executive Director and a Controlling 

Shareholder (as defi ned in the SGX-ST Listing Manual), of an award up to a maximum of 50,000 shares for 

the year ending 31 March 2014, in the share capital of the Company, in accordance with the Plan be and is 

hereby approved.

 [see Explanatory Notes (iii), (vx), (xi) and (xii)]  (Resolution 10)

12. That the proposed grant to Yap Beng Geok Dorothy, an Associate of a Controlling Shareholder (as defi ned 

in the SGX-ST Listing Manual), of an award up to a maximum of 50,000 shares for the year ending 31 

March 2014, in the share capital of the Company, in accordance with the Plan be and is hereby approved.

 [See Explanatory Notes (iii), (x), (xi) and (xii)] (Resolution 11)

By Order of the Board

CHEW KOK LIANG
Company Secretary

Singapore, 11 July 2013
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Notes:

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote in his/

her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Registered Offi ce of the Company at 18 Jalan Besut, Singapore 

619571, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding of the Annual General Meeting.

3. The proxy form must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorized in writing.

4. In case of joint shareholders, all holders must sign the proxy form.

Explanatory Notes:

(i) The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the accuracy of any of the statements made or opinions expressed or reports contained in 

Resolutions 9, 10 and 11 of this Notice of AGM.

 

(ii) The Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in Resolutions 9, 10 and 11 

of this Notice of AGM and confi rm after making all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, Resolutions 9, 

10 and 11 in this Notice of AGM constitutes full and true disclosure of all material facts about matters pursuant to the proposed grants, 

the Company and its subsidiaries, and the Directors are not aware of any facts the omission of which would make any statement in 

Resolutions 9, 10 and 11 misleading. Where information in Resolutions 9, 10 and 11 have been extracted from published or otherwise 

publicly available sources or obtained from a named source, the sole responsibility of the Directors has been to ensure that such 

information has been accurately and correctly extracted from those sources and/or reproduced in the Notice of AGM in its proper form 

and context.

 

(iii) All Directors are interested in the Plan by virtue of their eligibility to participate in the Plan. They have accordingly abstained from making 

any recommendation on Ordinary Resolutions 9, 10 and 11 for the proposed grants.

 Each Director and their associates shall also decline to accept appointment as proxies for any Shareholder to vote in respect of 

Ordinary Resolutions 9, 10 and 11 unless the Shareholder concerned shall have given specifi c instructions in his proxy form as to the 

manner in which the votes are to be casted in respect of the said Ordinary Resolutions 9, 10 and 11.

 

(iv) The effect of the Resolution 3 is to re-elect Mr Tan Sin Huat, Dennis as a director of the Company. Mr Tan Sin Huat, Dennis will, upon 

re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Nominating Committee and member of the Remuneration and 

Audit Committees and will be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

 

(v) The effect of the Resolution 4 is to re-appoint a director of the Company who is over 70 years of age. Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis 

Yap will, upon re-appointment as a Non-Executive Director of the Company, remain as a member of the Audit and Remuneration 

Committees and will be considered non-independent.

 

(vi) Resolution 7, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of this Annual General Meeting until the date of the 

next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law 

to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make 

or grant instruments convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, 

50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may be issued 

other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

 For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares in the capital of the Company 

will be calculated based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time 

this Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible 

securities, the exercise of share options or the vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time when this Resolution is 

passed and any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares.

 

(vii) Resolution 8, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of the above Meeting until the earliest of (i) the date 

on which the next AGM of the Company or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is held or required by law to be held; (ii) 

the date on which the share buybacks are carried out to the full extent mandated, or (iii) the date on which the authority contained in 

the Share Buyback Mandate is varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, to repurchase ordinary shares of the Company 

by way of market purchases or off-market purchases of up to ten per centum (10%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding 

treasury shares) in the capital of the Company as at the date of the AGM at which this Ordinary Resolution is passed. The rationale for, 

the authority and limitation on, the sources of the funds to be used for the purchase or acquisition, including the amount of fi nancing 

and fi nancial effects of the purchase or acquisition of the ordinary shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate on 

the audited consolidated fi nancial accounts of the Group for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013 are set out in greater detail in the 

Letter to Shareholders dated 11 July 2013 attached to this Annual Report.
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(viii) Resolution 9, if passed, will empower the Directors to grant to Mr Low Weng Fatt (“Mr Low”), who is an Executive Director and a 

Controlling Shareholder (as defi ned in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST), an award up to a maximum of 200,000 shares in the share 

capital of the Company.  Mr Low Weng Fatt is the Managing Director and CEO of the Company and is responsible for the overall 

management and strategic growth direction of the Group.

 Mr Low took over the helm of the Company’s subsidiary, Chasen Logistics Services Limited, in 2001. He has been with the Company 

since 1996 when it operated as a partnership and has played a pivotal role in steering the growth of the Company since he became 

its Managing Director. He has ably led the Group with his extensive experience in the logistics industry by exploiting its fi rst mover 

advantage in meeting the growing specialist relocation needs of manufacturers and other businesses which use sophisticated and 

expensive machines and equipment in their operations locally and in this region and building up a good track record and reputation for 

the Group.

 

 He has in-depth knowledge of the needs of the business as it evolved over the years. His ability to anticipate business trend and 

demand has enabled the Group to offer the right type of skills, equipment and value added services to meet the total relocation needs 

of customers. The development of this comprehensive range of services to meet the customers’ relocation logistics needs also enabled 

the Group to replicate our services capabilities overseas in particular the People’s Republic of China, Vietnam and Malaysia.

 Since the Company was listed on SGX in February 2007, Mr Low continues to play an instrumental role in charting the Group’s 

business development, growth and expansion into the region. The Directors are of the view that the remuneration package of Mr Low 

which includes awards under the Plan, is fair given his contributions to the Group. The extension of the Plan to Mr Low is consistent 

with the Company’s objectives to motivate its employees to achieve and maintain a high level of performance and contribution which 

is vital to the success of the Company. Although Mr Low already has a shareholding interest in the Company, the extension of the Plan 

to him will ensure that he is equally entitled, with the other employees who are not Controlling Shareholders, to take part in and benefi t 

from this system of remuneration, thereby enhancing his long term commitment to the Group.

 During the year in review Mr Low successfully implemented the strategy to extend the scope of the Group’s capability and to diversify 

its revenue base to other high growth industries such as solar energy, marine and construction in Singapore. He identifi ed the new 

businesses and led in the negotiation to acquire them. 

 The participation of and grant of awards to Mr Low Weng Fatt under the Plan has been approved in principle by shareholders when 

they approved the Plan at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 16 May 2007. This resolution seeks for the above-stated reasons, 

shareholders’ approval for the Directors decision to grant an award up to a maximum of 200,000 shares to Mr Low Weng Fatt in 

accordance with the Plan.

 

(vx) Resolution 10, if passed, will empower the Directors to grant to Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap (“Mr Yap”), who is a Non-Executive 

Director and a Controlling Shareholder, an award up to a maximum of 50,000 shares in the share capital of the Company.

 Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap is a Non-Executive Director of our Company and has been a Director of the Company’s subsidiary, 

Chasen Logistics Services Limited since its incorporation in 1999.

 Mr Yap is the founder of the Company, which started its business in 1995 as a partnership to supply labour for the stuffi ng and 

unstuffi ng of containers, packing and warehousing. He managed the Chasen Logistics Services Limited’s business until 2001 when 

he retired from the day-to-day management. Although he is a Non-Executive Director, Mr Yap possesses substantial experience in the 

business of labour supply as well as transport and warehousing as he has been in this line since the 1960s. Mr Yap still maintains an 

advisory role in the Company and the Company is of the view that he will be able to provide business networks and market contacts 

to the Company and its subsidiaries which will be invaluable in assisting the Company in its objective of achieving a higher level of 

performance.

 The extension of the Plan to Mr Yap is consistent with the Company’s objectives to motivate its employees to achieve and maintain a 

high level of performance and contribution which is vital to the success of the Company. Although Mr Yap already has a shareholding 

interest in the Company, the extension of the Plan to him will ensure that he is equally entitled, with the other employees who are not 

Controlling Shareholders, to take part in and benefi t from this system of remuneration, thereby enhancing his continued commitment to 

the Group.

 The participation of and grant of awards to Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap under the Plan has been approved in principle by 

shareholders when they approved the Plan at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 16 May 2007. For the above-stated reasons, 

the Directors propose to grant an award up to a maximum of 50,000 shares, as the case may be, to Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap in 

accordance with the Plan.

 

(x) Resolution 11 above, if passed, will empower the Directors to grant to Ms Yap Beng Geok Dorothy (“Ms Yap”), who is an Associate of 

a Controlling Shareholder, an award up to a maximum of 50,000 shares in the share capital of the Company.

 Ms Yap Beng Geok Dorothy is the daughter of our Non-Executive Director and Controlling Shareholder of the Company, Mr Yap Koon 

Bee @ Louis Yap. Ms Yap is the Group Administration Manager and is responsible for the day-to-day administrative workfl ow at the 

Company, human resource policy and other general administrative matters of the Group, including coordinating with professional service 

providers in corporate activities of the Company as a public listed company.

 Having been with the Group since 1995, Ms Yap has acquired in-depth knowledge of many aspects of the Group’s business, including 

its operation and administration.
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 The Directors are of the view that the remuneration package of Ms Yap which includes awards under the Plan is fair given her 

contributions to the Group. The extension of the Plan to Ms Yap is consistent with the Company’s objectives to motivate its employees 

to achieve and maintain a high level of performance and contribution which is vital to the success of the Company. As the Plan serves 

as a recognition of the past contributions of those eligible to participate in the Plan, as well as to secure future contributions for the 

Company and the Group from them, the Directors consider it important that Ms Yap should not be excluded from the Plan on account 

of her being an associate of a substantial shareholder. The Directors consider it crucial that the Company compensates its employees 

on the merit of their work performance regardless of their relationship with shareholders.

 The participation of and grant of awards to Ms Yap Beng Geok Dorothy under the Plan has been approved in principle by shareholders 

when they approved the Plan at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 16 May 2007. For the above-stated reasons, the Directors 

propose to grant an award up to a maximum of 50,000 shares, to Ms Yap Beng Geok Dorothy in accordance with the Plan.

 

(xi) Low Weng Fatt, Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap and Yap Beng Geok Dorothy and their Associates shall abstain from voting on Ordinary 

Resolutions 9, 10 and 11 to be proposed at the AGM, and shall decline appointment as proxies for any Shareholder to vote in respect 

of each of the said Ordinary Resolutions 9, 10 and 11 unless specifi c instructions have been given in the proxy instrument by the 

independent Shareholders appointing them on how they wish their votes to be cast for each of the Ordinary Resolutions.

 

(xii) Resolutions 9, 10 and 11 above, if passed, will empower the Directors to grant awards pursuant to the Chasen Performance Share 

Plan (“CPSP”) adopted by shareholders in the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 16 May 2007, provided that Rule 845 of the 

Listing Manual is complied with. The relevant information of the CPSP had been disclosed in pages 11 and 15 of the Circular dated 23 

April 2007.

 The aggregate number of the Company’s shares available under the scheme is 37,006,516, which is 15% of the total issued share 

capital of the Company of 246,710,108 (excluding treasury shares). Assuming the proposed grant of awards is approved and all issued 

and outstanding awards are released, the aggregate number of awards convertible into shares will be 2,310,690, which is less than 

15% of the total issued number of shares. 

 Assuming the proposed grant of awards is approved and all awards granted to Mr Low, Mr Yap and Ms Yap are released, the 

aggregate number of awards convertible into shares will be 636,000, which is less than 9,251,629 being 25% of the shares available 

under CPSP.

 Assuming the proposed grant of awards is approved and all awards granted to Mr Low are released, the aggregate number of awards 

convertible into shares will be 424,000, which is less than 3,700,651 being 10% of the shares available under CPSP.

 Assuming the proposed grant of awards is approved and all awards granted to Mr Yap are released, the aggregate number of awards 

convertible into shares will be 106,000, which is less than 3,700,651 being 10% of the shares available under CPSP.

 Assuming the proposed grant of awards is approved and all awards granted to Ms Yap are released, the aggregate number of awards 

convertible into shares will be 106,000, which is less than 3,700,651 being 10% of the shares available under CPSP.

 The options and awards are only granted to Directors and all confi rmed full-time managers and those listed above them in the 

organisation charts of the Group, who are not less than 21 years old.

 The relevant information of CPSP had been disclosed in pages 15 and 16 of the Circular dated 23 April 2007 which had been approved 

and adopted by shareholders in the EGM held on 16 May 2007. 

Please note that transport arrangement from Lakeside MRT station (taxi stand) to the AGM venue is 
available upon request. Kindly contact the Company at Tel: 62665978 for the necessary arrangement.



BRIEF INFORMATION ON THE CHASEN PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN

The Plan contemplates the award of fully paid shares, free of any payment by the awardee, when and after pre-

determined performance or service-conditions are accomplished and/or due recognition has been given to any 

good work performance and/or contribution to the Company.

The aggregate number of new Shares over which the Committee may grant awards on any date, when added 

to the number of new Shares issued and issuable in respect of all Shares granted under this Plan and any other 

existing share schemes or share option schemes implemented or to be implemented by the Company, shall not 

exceed fi fteen (15) per cent of the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company on the day 

preceding that date (“Plan Limit”).

The total number of Shares to be offered to Controlling Shareholders and their associates shall not during the 

entire operation of the Plan exceed 25 per cent of the Plan Limit and the total number of Shares to be offered 

to a Participant who is a Controlling Shareholder or his associate shall not during the entire operation of the Plan 

exceed 10 per cent of the Plan Limit.

The eligibility of employees to participate in the Plan and the number of Shares which are the subject of each 

award at each date of grant to a participant in accordance with the Plan shall be determined at the absolute 

discretion of the Remuneration Committee which shall take into account the performance of the participant and 

such other general criteria as the Remuneration Committee may consider appropriate, subject to the following 

limits as well as other limitations set forth under the rules of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and these Rules:

(a) Managing Director– up to 200,000 shares per year;

(b) Executive Directors (other than the Managing Director) – up to 150,000 shares each per year;

(c) Non-Executive Directors – up to 50,000 shares each per year;

(d) General Managers/Senior Managers – up to 100,000 shares each per year; and

(e) Managers – up to 50,000 shares each per year.

Subject to the Plan, the awards shall be released, in accordance with any conditions that the Remuneration 

Committee may, in its absolute discretion specify in the letter of offer granting the share awards subject to the 

following proportions and Vesting Periods:

(a) After the fi rst anniversary of Date of Grant: maximum of 40% of share awards granted;

(b) After the second anniversary of Date of Grant: maximum of 70% of share awards granted; and

(c) After the third anniversary of Date of Grant: 100% of share awards granted.

The Company is unable to give an estimate cost of the grant of awards because it will be subject to computation 

on a global basis taking into consideration several factors, e.g. price of shares buyback.

More detailed information on the Plan can be referred to in the Circular dated 23 April 2007, a copy of which can 

be inspected at the registered offi ce at 18 Jalan Besut, Singapore 619571.



CHASEN HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Company Registration No. 199906814G) 

(Incorporated In the Republic of Singapore)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

IMPORTANT:
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy CHASEN HOLDINGS 

LIMITED’s shares, this Report is forwarded to them at the request of the CPF 

Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY. 

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all 

intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

3. CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an observer must submit their 

requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame specifi ed. If 

they also wish to vote, they must submit their voting instructions to the CPF Approved 

Nominees within the time frame specifi ed to enable them to vote on their behalf.

I/We, 

of 

being a member/members of CHASEN HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

Address

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our 

proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company 

to be held at Raffl es Lounge (Level 2), Raffl es Country Club, 450 Jalan Ahmad Ibrahim, Singapore 639932 on 

26th July 2013 at 11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.  I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or 

against the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder.  If no specifi c direction as to voting is 

given or in the event of any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof, the proxy/proxies 

will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. The authority herein includes the right to demand or to join in 

demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [] within the box provided.)

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against
1. Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 

2013

2. Payment of proposed one-tier tax exempt fi nal dividend of $0.002 per share for 

fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013

3. Re-election of Mr Tan Sin Huat, Dennis as a Director

4. Re-appointment of Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap as a Director

5. Approval of Directors’ fees for fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013

6. Re-appointment of Messrs Mazars LLP as Auditors

7. Authority to issue additional shares pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies 

Act Cap. 50

8. Renewal of Share Buyback Mandate

9. Approval of grant of awards made pursuant to Chasen Performance Share Plan 

to Mr Low Weng Fatt 

10. Approval of grant of awards made pursuant to Chasen Performance Share Plan 

to Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap 

11. Approval of grant of awards made pursuant to Chasen Performance Share Plan 

to Ms Yap Beng Geok Dorothy

Dated this  day of  2013

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a)  CDP Register

(b)  Register of Members

Signature of Shareholder(s) 

or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder



Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you.  If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as 

defi ned in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares.  If you have Shares 

registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares.  If you have Shares entered against 

your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate 

number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members.  If no 

number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend 

and vote in his/her stead.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifi es the proportion of his/her shareholding 

(expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy. If the proportion of shareholding is not indicated, the 

second proxy will be deemed as alternate.

4. Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at the Meeting. Any 

appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the meeting in person, and in such event, the 

Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the instrument of proxy to the Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company at 18 Jalan Besut, Singapore 

619571 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting. 

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing.  

Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the 

hand of an offi cer or attorney duly authorised.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an attorney on behalf 

of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certifi ed copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fi t to act 

as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible, or 

where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specifi ed in the instrument appointing a 

proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a 

proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register 

as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certifi ed by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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